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Canllion can

Find out more about what we can do at
www carillionplc comvannualreport10

Carilhon 1s a leading UK integrated support
services company with a substantial portfolio
of Public Private Partnership projects and
extensive construction capabilities.

We have a resilient and well-balanced UK
support services and international business
mix, with a strong track record of earnings
and dividend growth Looking forward we
believe the Group is well positioned for both
the short and medium term to

— make further progress in 2011

— deliver strong international growth with revenues
in Canada and in the Middle East each doubling to
around £1 billion over the next three to five years

— achieve substantial growth in UK support services
from 2012 onwards
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About us

Strength and resilience

2010 Finanaial highlights

Underlying profit before tax®
+7% £188 1m

2010 £188 1m
2009 £175 5m
2008 £160 6m

2007 £100 7m

2006 £85 1m

Reported profit before tax
+24% £167 9m

2010 £167 9m
2009 £1359m

2008 £1183m

2007 £93 3m

2006 £76 5m

Total dividend
+6% 15 5p

2010 155p
2009 14 6p
2008 130p

2007 110p

2006 90p

Total revenue

-9% £5 1bn

2010 £5 1bn
2009 £5 6bn
2008 £5 Shn
2007 £4 Zbn

2006 £3 8bn

Underlying profit before taxation up 7% to £188 1 million
(2009 £175 5 million)® — with growth more than offsetting the
£17 million of underlying profit before taxation contnibuted by the
nen-core businesses and investments in Public Private Partnership
projects sold tn 2009

Total operating margin increased to 4 2% (2009'Y 3 8%)® —
support services margin increased to 5 2% (2009 4 9%),

Middle East construction services margin increased to 5 6%
(2009 8 5%} and construction services (excluding the

Middle East) margmn increased to 1 9% (2009 1 4%)

Reported profrt before taxation up 24% to £167 9 million
(2009 £135 9 million)

Underlying earnings per share® {(eps) up 6% to 39 4 pence
{2009 37 3 pence) — basic eps up 21% to 36 9 pence (2009"
30 5 pence)

Proposed full-year dividend up 6% to 15 5 pence
{2009 14 6 pence)

Underlying earnings per sharet®

+6% 39 4p

2010 394p
2009 37 3p

2008 351p
2007 285p
2006 24 6p

Reported earnings per share

+21% 36 9p

2010 369p

2009 30 5p
2008 290p

2007 26 7p
2006 24 7p

Net cash/{borrowing}

+383% £120 2m

2010 £1202m 2010 £120 Zm
2009 £24 9m
£(226 7)m 2008
f{449m 2007
£(108 O)m 2006

Order book
+2% £18 2bn

2010 £18 2bn

2009 £17 9bn

2008 £20 4bn
2007 £16 Obn

2006 £16 Obn

Strong cash flow and balance sheet - cash flow from
operatons® of £230 2 million well ahead of profit from operations®
of £194 9 million (2009 £268 2 milhion and £190 1 millon,
respectively) and net cash at 31 December 2010 of £120 2 milhon
(2009 £24 9 muilicn)

Total revenue reduced by 9% to £5 1 billion (2009

£5 6 billion) - reflecting the effects of selling non-core businesses
and investments in Public Private Partnership projects in 2009,

the planned re-scaling of UK construction and a focus on

margins through contract selectwvity and finanaial discipline

Forward order book worth some £18 2 billion (2009

£17 9 bilhon) - maintained a very strong order book despite
the sale of a further Public Private Partnership equity investment
that removed £0 5 bilien from the order book

(1) For 2006 to 2009 figures have been restated on adoption of international Financial Reporting Interpretations Commuttee (IFRIC) 12

(2) After Joint Ventures taxation of £4 7 million (2009 £3 9 milhon) and before intangible amorusaton non recurmng operating items and non operating items
{3) Befare Intangible amortisation 2nd iIMpairment ron recusrng operating items and non operatisg items

(4} Before Jont Ventures net financeal expense and taxation intangible amortisation and non recursing operating dems

{5} Befere pension defict recovery payments and non recurring operating items and after dwdends recerved from Jont Ventures

{6) After Joint Ventures net finance expense of £13 9 mition {2009™ £21 8 million) and taxation of £4 7 million (2005 £3 9 million) and before ntangtle

amortsation NoN-fecurhing operating items and non gperatng Items
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About us

Business segments

A well balanced UK support services

and international business.

Group overview

Support
services

In this segment we report the results of our
faciities management, facilities services rail
services Utihity services, road maintenance and
consultancy businesses

Underlying operating profit

2010 20092
fm Em
Revenue £1 1 O-4| I I
- Group 34,2365 4504 2
- Share of Jont Ventures 902 5 11251 2009 £117 7m
51390 -9% 56293
Underlying operating profit Order book
= Group 1579 1414
- Share of Joint Ventures 646 849 £ 1 1 7 bn
2225 226 3 .
Group eliminations and unallocated items (9 0) (10 5)
Profit from operations before Joint Ventures net financial Revenue
expense and taxaton 2135 2158 £m 2010 2008
Share of Joint Ventures net financiat expense (13 9) (21 8) Group 18421 2,108 3
Share of Joint Ventures taxation (a7) 39 Share of
Joint Ventures 266 5 2812
Underlying profit from operations 1949 +3% 1901 Total 21086 -12% 2.3895
Group interest (6 8) (14 6)
n ng operatin fi
Underlying profit before taxation®™ 1881 +7% 1755 Underlying op 9 profit
£m 2010 2009
Intangible amortisation (27 6) (30 8) Group 923 1029
Non-recurring operating items 9 4) {15 2) Share of
Non-operating rtems 168 64 ) v 181 148
Reported profit before taxation 1679 +24% 1355  JontVentures 4
Total 1104 -6% 1177

{1) After Joint Venwres taxation of £4 7 milhen 20092 £3 9 millon)
and before intangible amertisation non recurring operating
tens and non oparating tems

{2) Restated on adoption of Intematenat Financial Reporting
Interpretations Commuttee {IFRIC) 12
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Reported operating profit

£m 2010 2000
Group 721 758
Share of

Joint Ventures 181 148
Total 90 2 ml 906




Public Private
Partnership projects

fn this segment we report the results of our
investing actrvities in Public Private Partnership
projects 1n our chosen sectors of Defence
Health, Educaton, Transport Secure and
other Government accommodation

Undertying operating profit

Middle East
construction services

In this segment, we report the results of our
bulding and cvil engineening activities in the
Middle East

Underlying operating profit

Construction
SEIVICES (excluding the Middle East)

In thus segment, we report the results of our UK
building, ¢vil engineenng and developmenis
businesses and of our construction activities in
Canada and the Canbbean

Underlying operating profit

£23.4m

£47.5m

£41.2m

20092 £30 7m 2009 £47 Om 2009 £309m

Order book Order book Order book

£2.7bn £1.0bn £2.8bn

Revenue Revenue Revenue

£m 2010 20092 fm 2010 2009 £fm 2010 2009
Group 12 11 Group 1909 1302 Group 2,202 3 2,264 6
Share of Share of Share of

Joint Ventures 3107 417 3 Joint Ventures 3021 4234  joint Ventures 232 32
Total 3119 -25% 4184 Total 4930 -11% 5536 Total 2,2255 -2% 2,267 8
Underlying operating profit Underlying operating profit Underlying operating profit

frn 2010 2009 £m 2010 2009 fm 2070 2009
Group 107 - Group 140 68 Group 409 317
Share of Share of Share of

Joint Ventures 127 307 Joint Ventures 335 402  Joint Ventures 03 (0 8)
Total 234 -24% 307 Total 475 1% 470 Total 412 +33% 309
Reported operating profit Reported operating profit Reported operating profit

£m 2010 0000 fm 2010 2009  £m 2010 2008
Group 107 - Group 140 68 Group 270 137
Share of Share of Share of

Joint Ventures 127 307 Joint Ventures 335 402  Joint Ventures 03 (0 8)
Total 234 -24% 307 Total 475 +1% 470 Total 273 +112% 129
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What we do

Our operations

Carillion has an annual revenue of over £5 billion,
employs around 46,000 people and operates
across the UK, in the Middle East and North Africa,

Canada and the Caribbean.

Underlying operating profittV

UK

Support services

Operations

£110.4m

2009 £117 7m

Public Pnvate Parthership projects

Support services

Public Private Partnership projects

Construction services

Market sectors

£23.4m

20092 £30 7m

Middle East construction services

£47.5m

2009 £47 Om

Construction services
{excluding the Middle East)

> We provide all the faalities management, maintenance and other
services needed to keep buildings, in particular large complex
property estates, fully operational, for public and private sector
customers

> We also prowide asset management and maintenance services for
road and ralway infrastructure and for utihties ncluding
telecommunications water electricity and gas

> We deliver Public Private Partnership (PPP) projects for schools,
hospitals, prisons, defence and other government accommodation,
and also for roads and railways

> We have a strong and selective construction services capability,
which plays a key role in providing integrated solutions for PPP
projects and for our support services customers

Revenue®

£41.2m

£3,925.0m

2009 £309m

2009% £4.490 8m

(1) Before Group elimimations and unallpcated items intangible amortsation
non-recurring operating items and share of Joint Ventures net financial expense

and taxatien

(2) Restated on adoption of International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee

{FRIC) 12
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Percentage of total revenue

76%

2009 80%

(3} Includes £76 4 milhan (2009 £79 7 mullon) of revenue generated outside of the UK
Maddle East and North Africa and Canada and the Canbbean



Our operations

UK

Egypt

Qatar

United Arab Emirates
Oman

British Columbia
Alberta

Ontario

Caribbean

WO~ =

Middle East and North Africa

Canada and the Carbbean

Operations

Operations

Support services

Support services

Construction services

Public Private Partnership projects

Market sectors

Construction services :

Market sectors

> We have nearly 40 years expenence of operating (n the Middle East,
with well-established Joint Venture businesses in the United Arab
Emirates, Oman and Egypt providing censtruction services for
builldings and infrastructure

> These businesses have built market-leading reputations for delivering
hegh quality projects for a smal! number of fong-term, financially
robust customers

» Woe also have a Joint Venture business in the Unrted Arab Ermirates
that prowides facilities management services, primarily for the
buildings we construct

> In 2010 we extended our operations into Qatar where we are
bidding for a number of construction projects

> We have operated in Canada and the Caribbean for over 40 years,
delivering a wide range of construction services for public and
private sector customers

> An increasing praportion of our construction work in Canada relates
to Public Private Partnership (PPP) projects for whuch Canllion has
built 8 market-leading reputation, especially in the health sector

> We have also established leading positions in the road maintenance
markets of Ontario angd Alberta where we have long-term contracts
to manage and maitain substantial lengths of the Provincial
highway network

> We provide facilities management and maintenance services for our
PPP hospitals

£504.2m £709.8m

Percentage of total revenue

10%

2009 10%

Percentage of total revenue

14% |

2009 10%
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What we do

Our operations

Underlying operating profit

£110.4m

2009 £117 7m

Percentage of total
underlying operating profit'®

50%

2009 52%

Key

Wl Support services

Public Private Partnership projects

I Middle East construction services.

T3 Construction services (excluding the Middle East)

{1} Before Group elminations and unallocated stems
intangible amortisation non recurnng operating
iterns and share of Jent Ventures net financial
expense and taxaton
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Support services

We are one of the UK’ largest support
services companies with the skills and
resources to provide all the services needed
to manage, maintain and operate buildings

and infrastructure.

Having the ability to combine our services
capabilities and use leading-edge technology
to provide customers with fully integrated,
nationwide solutions 1s a key strength that
helps to differentiate Carllion from our
competitors It s also fundamental to our
success in delivering Public Private Parinership
{PPP) projects

The long-term contracts we have - some of
them for more than 30 years - to delver
services for over 100,000 buildings, over
17,000 km of roads and substantial sections
of the UK rail and utiity networks, provide
good visibility of future revenues and make
a major contnbution to the resihence of our
business mix

Property

We provide an extensive range of support
services for property, notably integrated
faciliies management solutions for pubhc
and private sector customers with large,
complex property estates We have stiong
positions in a number of market sectors,
particularly for customers in the financial
services, commercial, utihties, media and
telecommunications sectors For example
we provide integrated facilities management
services for over 7 000 BT properties in the
UK for Virgin Media Siemens Centrica,
Bank of Ireland and the Nationwide
Bullding Society

In the UK public sector, we are a major
suppler of integrated faclities management
services to central and local government For
example, we are a leading supplier to Defence
Estates and to acute NHS hospitals We also
prowide facilities management services for the
HM Revenue and Customs estate and we have
a growing presence In the education sector

In Canada, we have a growing business,
driven by our success in winning PPP projects
especially in the health sector for which

we provide facihiies management services

As one of the top three supplers of
mechanical and electrical engineering (M&E}
services In the UK, Carnllion provides M&E
services direct to an exiensive customer base
and also uses this capability to support the
delivery of integrated facilities management
solutions for public and private sector
customers

Infrastructure

We have long-term asset management and
maintenance contracts for roads railways and
pubhc vlility services networks In the UK, we
are & key supplier to the Highways Agency,
providing integrated management and
maintenance services for motorways and
trunk roads and we provide similar services
for a number of Local Highway Authorities

In Canada we have leading positions in the
Ontario and Alberta road maintenance
markets In the rail sector, our main customers
are Network Ral and Transport for London

We also provide a wide range of asset
management and maintenance services to the
telecommunications, water, gas and electncity
supply industries We are particularly strong

in the telecommunications sector, where a
Canllion-led Joint Venture has a seven-year
contract, worth over £1 0 bilhon to Canllion
to provide nationwide asset management

and maintenance services for Openreach

BT's local access network business

Our consultancy business provides
engineering and architectural design and
project management services These
capabilities also play an important role in
supperting the delivery of integrated solutions
for buildings and infrastructure particularly
for Public Private Partnership projects

Main image Canllion 1s one of the UK leading
suppliers of mechanical and electncal
engineenng maintenance services




Carillion can deliver support services
solutions that improve quality and reliability,
while reducing customer costs.

1 Openreach

For Openreach, BT's local access network
business, a Canllion-led Joint Venture
provides nationwide asset management
and maintenance services These include
the installation, repawr and maintenance
of cables, joint boxes, street cabinets,
telegraph poles and associated
infrastructure Service delivery is being
transformed through a single nationwide
delivery model, which replaced seven
regional suppliers This has enabled the
Joint Venture to improve service quality
and efficiency at a significantly reduced
cost to Openreach, through conselidating
the supply chain and improving workflow
planning and the management of up to
1,000 jobs a day

2 virgin Media

For Virgin Media, Canillion provides a

wide range of support services, including
mechanical and electrical engineering
services for some 750 properttes,
compnising of offices, call centres, switching
centres and data centres, that involves
managing environments critical to Virgin
Media's own customer service To provide
the wide range of services and skills needed
to meet the exacting requirements of

rmission aritical environments, across a
geographically widespread property
portfolio, Canllion uses a mobile workforce,
backed by our National Operations Centre,
which coordinates our activities 24 hours

a day, 365 days a year

3 Centnca

For Centrica, Carillion manages the
delivery of all the services needed to
operate Centrica’s property portfolio

and also directly delivers many of these
services, particularly facilities management
We use our market-leading technology
platform to support the delivery of these ‘
services and this provides Centrica with

real-time access 1o our performance Ths,

together with the strong partnership that

has been developed between Centrica and

Carillion, has played a key role in enabling

Canlhonto deliver an award winning,

best-mn-class service

Find out more about what we can do at
www carillionplc com/annualreport10
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What we do

Our operations

Underlying operating profit

£23.4m

2009 £30 7m

Percentage of total
underlying operating profit®

10%

2009 13%

Key

I Support services

=23 Public Private Partnership projects

N Middle East construction services

3 Construction services (excluding the Middle Eas?)

(1} Restated on adopuon of international Financial
Reporting Interpretations Commuttee {IFRIC) 12
Before Group eltminations ang unallocated items
ntangible amortisation non recurring operating
items ang share of Joint Ventures net financial
expense and taxation

{2
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Public Private Partnership projects
We are a leader in Public Private Partnership

(PPP) projects, both in the UK and in Canada.

PPP projects use private sector finance to
deliver a wide range of asset-based services
for central and local government.

Our speaialist private finance team arranges
finance for these projects in which we make
equity Investments on which we target a

15 per cent internal rate of return over the hife
of the concession contract which 1s typically
between 25 and 35 years To date, Carnillion
has won concession contracts for over

50 PFP projects

Once the construction phase 1s complete and
the project has moved successfully into the
operational phase we have the option of
seling our egquity invesiments and renvesting
the proceeds in new projects To date we
have sold investments in 30 projects
generating proceeds of some £326 million
and a pre-tax profit of £122 million

As a leader in the development of PPP
projects since their inception in the early
1990s, we delivered the UK's first PPP
hospital the Darent Valley Hospital, in Kent,
the first prison HMP Altcourse in Liverpool
and one of the first road projects, the M40
widening in Buckinghamshire Since then,

we have bullt strong positions in @ number of
sectors of the UK PPP market, together with a
leading position in the PPP market in Canada

Health

In the UK, we are in the process of delvering
our fifteenth PPP healthcare facility the new
Southmead Hospital in Bristol We have sold
our equity Investments in 10 hospital projects
but continue to provide faahties management
services for these projects

Defence

Canllion has three major PPP defence projects
for the UK Ministry of Defence The largest
of these is Allenby Connaught, a 35-year
concession contract that commenced in 2006
to rebuild Army accommodation across the
South of England and to provide suppert
services for the estate over the life of the
concession Durning 2009 and 2010 we sold

a proportion of our equity interest in this
project, reducing 1t from 50 per ¢ent

to 12 5 per cent

Secure accommeodation

In the UK, we have delivered four prisons
and secure training centres and sold our
equity investments in all of these projects
Canlhon also buitt the landmark Government
Communications Headquarters at
Cheltenham, one of the largest techrically
complex and secure accommaodation PPP
projects to be delivered in the UK to date

Education

We have bult a strong track record in the
education sector, where we have delivered

or are in the process of delivering, over

140 new schools and academtes some 50

of which have been funded by private finance
We have sold our equity investments in five
of these schools, for which we continue to
provide support services

Roads

We have delivered a total of six PPP road
projects and sold our equity investments

in three of these, inctuding the M40
widening project We continue to provide
management and mamtenance services for
two of these projects

Canada

The UK PPP procurement model has been
adopted in Canada where Canllion s a
market leader, especially in the health sector
We delivered two of the first PPP hospitals
in Canada, the Royal Ottawa and the new
Wilhiam Osler Hospital in Brampton Ontario
for which we also have long-term facilies
management contracts Currently, we have a
further four PPP projects under construction
in Ontano including three major hospitals

Main image The new Queen Alexandra
Hospital Portsmouth, a Canllion Public Private
Partnershp project completed in 2010




Carillion can deliver fully integrated
solutions for Public Private Partnership (PPP)
projects that minimise whole-life costs.

Having the capabilities to deliver fully
integrated solutions for PPP projects,
including project finance, design,
construction, maintenance and lifetime
asset management services, helps to
differentiate Carilion from its competitors
It enables us to optimise the whole-life
cost of providing, maintaining and
operating bulldings and infrastructure,
and offer customers best value-for-
money solutions

1 Southmead Hospital

In February 2010, a Carillion Joint Venture
achieved financial close on the new
Southmead Hospital project in Bristol,
one of the largest PPP hospital projects

to be undertaken in the UK The new
800-bed acute hospital 1s being built by
Carillion at a capital cost of £430 million
Canilhon wall also invest £50 million of
equity in this project and provide facilities
management and life-cycle maintenance
services worth approximately £170 milhon
over the 30-year life of the contract

Canilhion s also using 1ts sector leading
capabibty for sustainable solutions to
design a state-of-the-art building which
will be the most sustainable major hospital
in the UK, with low energy utilisation and

a carbon footprint well below the UK
Government’s target of 3 43 Tonnes of
CO,eMayear and a BREEAM rating
of excellent

2 Forensic Services and

Coroners’ Complex

In June 2010, a Carilhion Joint Venture
achieved finanagial close on the Forensic
Services and Coroners’ Complex in
Toronto The new complex will include
forensic laboratories, autopsy suntes,
courtrooms and offices Carnillion will
invest £11 B million of equity in this project
as well as providing construction, facilities
management and life-cycle maintenance
services worth some £306 million over the
30-year concession contract

{1) Equwvalent tonnes of CO,
{2) BRE Ervironmental Assessment Method

Find out more about what we can do at
www canllionplc com/annualreport10
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What we do

Our operations

Underlying operating profit

£4/7.5m

2009 £47 Om

Percentage of total
underlying operating profit'?

21%

2009 21%

Key

I Support services

Public Private Partnership projects

I Middle East construction services

3 Construction services (excluding the Middle East)

(1) Before Group ehminations and unallocated items
intzngible amortisation non recurfng operatng
items and share of Joint Ventures ret financial
expense and taxation

10 Canllion plc Annual Report and Accounts 2010

Middle East construction services

We have 40 years experience in the
Middle East and delivered some of the
region’s most prestigious buildings and

infrastructure projects.

Qver the last five years we have increased
our revenue in the Middle East at a compound
annual growth rate of 25 per cent This
growth has been driven by our strategy

of building strong relationships with a
small number of selected, financially robust
customers with long-term mvestment
programmes, for whom quality and value
for money are paramount Geographical
dversification, notably the extension of
our operations into Abu Bhabiin 2008 has
also enabled us to deliver growth over this
penod, despite the downturn in Bubal

Abu Dhabi

Since extending the operations of Al Futtaim
Canlhen to Abu Dhabiin 2008 our business
there has grown substantially and contributed
S5 per cent of our total Middle East
construction services revenue in 2019 Our
first project in Abu Dhabi was the prestigious
500-bedroom Yas Hotel, which forms the
centrepiece of Abu Dhabi s Formula 1 Grand
Prix circuit, which hosted its first F1 race in
November 2009 Current major projects in
Abu Dhabi include a new headquarters for
the Abu Dhabi Investment Counall the

Al Muneera development, New York
University and Stage 3 of the UAE Unwversity,
the latter two having been won in 2010

Oman

Qur business in Cman, Canlion Ataw has a
long history of delivering high-profite projects
to exacting standards, including the Guest
Palace Qas't Al Alam, the Grand Mosque and
currently, the Royal Opera House, the Majhs,
a new parhament buillding the National
Museumn and Muscat Court Complex In 2010
Carillion Alawi grew strongly to contribute
some 31 per cent of our total construction
services revenue in the Middle East A number
of new cantracts were secured in 2010, the
largest of which invoives the construction

of a new control tower and ancillary faclities
at Muscat Airport

Dubai

In Dubai, Al Futtam Canliion has an
outstanding track record for delivering high
quality projects including Dubai Festival
City, Motor City infrastructure works for
the Downtown Dubai development and
infrastructure works for Dubar Aluminium
Activity levels have continued to reduce and
in 2010 Dubasi contributed some five per
cent of our Middle East construction revenue
However, we continue to target new work
selectively and in 2010 Al Futtaim Canilion
was awarded a major contract for two
residential towers which form part of the
Downtown Dubail development, and for
which funding 1s secure

Egypt

Al Futtaim Carllion extended its operations
to Egypt in 2008 specifically to build the

£2 billion Cawo Festival City development for
our Joint Venture partner Al Futtaim In 2010,
this project contributed some nine per cent of
our Middle East construction services revenue
and we expect this to grow steadily over the
next few years as work on the Cairo Festival
City development 1s scheduled 10 increase

Qatar

In 2610 we conunued to diversify
geographically by establishing a new
business in Qatar where we are bidding for
our first projects Qatar has major investment
programmes in @ number of key sectors

for Canllion, including hentage, health,
education and infrastructure

Main image The spectacular Al Bahr Towers
in Abu Dhabr are being built by Al Futtaim
Carlion for the Abu Dhabi Investment Counal




Carillion can deliver projects to the
highest standards of design and quality

of finish.

Our businesses in the Middle East use their
highly skilled people to deliver projects to
exacting quality standards and delivery
times A reputation for quality and
delivery, together with strong customer
relationships, continue to help us win
prestigious projects that require the skills
and resources that very few companies
can offer

The Al Bahr Towers, Abu Dhabt
Construction of the Al Bahr Towers by

Al Futtaim Canllion will deliver a new
£150 million state-of-the-art headquarters
for the Abu Dhabi Investment Counail
and one of 1ts holdings, the Al Hilal Bank
A two-level basement and podium will
suppoert twin 27-storey towers The iconic
design includes a dynamic *‘Mashrabiya’
solar shading system on the exterior of
the building that will open and close
during the day, according to the position
of the sun, making the building highly
efficient in terms of heat gain and cooling

1 Royal Opera House

In Oman, Canllion Alawi 1s nearing
completion of the £120 milhon Royal Opera
House for the Oman Royal Court Affairs

This will have a 1,000 seat concert hall

to accommodate the full range of
performing arts, including music and
drama productions as well as opera With
high-grade internal finishes, together with
landscaped gardens, The Royal Opera
House in Oman will be a wonderful facility
and the first of 1ts kind 1n the Middie East

2 New York University

In Apnil 2010, Al Futtaim Canillion was
awarded a £570 million contract by
Mubadala to design and build the New
York Unwersity campus on Saadiyat Istand
in Abu Dhab1 The campus will include

a wide range of leading-edge facilities
for 2,500 students, including lecture
theatres, information technology facilies,
laboratories, athletic and performance
facilities, together with student, faculty
and staff housing

Find out more about what we can do at
www cardlionplc com/annualreport10
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What we do

Our operations

Underlying operating profit

£41.2m

2009 £309m

Percentage of total
underlying operating profit?

19%

2009 14%

Key

Sl Support services

A Public Private Partnersship projects

I rddle East construction services

[ Construchion services (excluding the Middle East)

(1) Before Group eliminations and unallocated items.
intangible amortisaticn non recurning operating
itemns and share of Jaint Ventures net financial
expense and taxation
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Construction services

(excluding the Middle East)

We have a strong and selective construction
capability in the UK and in Canada and the
Caribbean, focused on large, higher added
value contracts for long-term customers

Having a strong construction capability,
which together with our capabilities in
private finance design support services
and sustainability enables us to offer fully
integrated solutions

This gives us a competitive advantage In
optimising the whole-hife cost of prowding,
maintaining and operating assets such as
schools, hospitals, military accommaodation,
prisons roads and railways — an essential
requirement for Public Private Partnership
(PPP) projects

In the UK, we began re-scafing our
construction business in 2010, through

being even more selective in respect of the
contracts for which we bid, in order to base
1ts capabilities primarily around delivering
integrated solutions for PPP projects and
support services custorners As a result, we
expect to reduce our UK construction revenue
from 1ts 2009 level of £1 8 billion to some

£1 2 billion over the next three years, and
reinforce our position as a leader in delivering
integrated solutions

In Canada, our construction capability is
alsc playing a key role in our success in
the growing PPP market, where we have
established a leading market position We
expect planned investment in PPP projects
to be a key driver of our growth in Canada
where our objective is to double revenue
over the next three to five years to arcund
£1 billion per annum

UK construction

A sigrificant proportion of cur UK
construction revenue already comes fram
PPP projects For example currently we are
building two major PPP projects for the
Ministry of Defence — Allenby Connaught,
which invalves building and refurbishing
Army accommodation across the South of
England and the Royal School of Military

Engineenng We are also a leading suppler
to the schools building programme, some
of which are being delivered as PPP projects,
and to the health sector, having delivered

13 PPP hospitals and healthcare facilities, with
two more PPP hospitals under construction,
notably the new Southmead Hospital in
Bristol We also provide construction
services for other long-term customers, for
example, where qualty, delivery and our
sector-leading sustainabitity credentials
differentiate our offening

Cur largest sectors of the UK infrastructure
market are roads and raillways In 2010, with
a joint venture partner we completed the East
London Line and we are currently upgrading
the A1 1n Yorkshire to motorway standards
Qur construction capabihties in these sectors
are also key to our success in winning and
delivering PPP road and rail projects,
long-term maintenance contracts for roads
and railways and contracts for the Highways
Agency's ‘managed motorways’ programme

Canada and the Caribhean

In Canada and the Canbbean, where our
businesses were established over 40 years
ago, we have strong capabilities in both the
buildings and infrastructure markets We
delivered two of the first PPP hospitals to

be bult in Canada both of which are fully
operational and for which Canllion has
long-term support services contracts We
have since won three more PPP hospital
projects, together with a PPP contract to
provide a new Farensic Services and Coroners'
Complex in Toronto all of which are currently
under construction Canllien 15 also deliverning
other high-profile construction projects, for
example, the refurbishment and extension of
Toronto's Union Station

Main image To date, Carilhon has delivered
some 50 new and refurbished schools as
Public Private Partnership projects




Carillion can provide construction services —
a capability we are using increasingly to
deliver integrated solutions for PPP and

other projects

1 Schools

Carillion 1s a leading supplier to the school
building programme n England and
Wales We have built, or we are in the
process of building, over 140 new or
refurbished schools and academues,
many of which have been Public Private
Partnerstup (PPP) projects in which
Carillion has invested equity and for
which Carillion provides long-term
support services For example, Canllion

15 currently delivering major school
building programmes for South Tyneside
and Gateshead, Nottingham, Tameside,
Durbam, Rochdale and Wolverhampton,
which together have a construction value
of some £1 5 billion

2 Royal School of Military Engineering
Canllicn is a partner in the Joint Venture
that 1s delivering the £3 billion, Royal
Schoot of Military Engineenng PPP project
for the UK Ministry of Defence In addrtion
te investing £5 5 million of equity in this
project, Canilion 1s delivering a 7-year,
£300 million construction programme,
including new and refurbished soldier
accommodation, providing some

1,700 bed spaces, together with greatly
improved training facilities and retail,
catering and leisure faalities, which will
create a family-friendly environment

3 Union Station, Toronto

In addition to a substantial portfolio of
construction contracts for PPP projects,

in Canada we are using cur ability to
provide integrated solutions and cur
reputation for quality and delivery, to
win other major contracts The most
recent i1s a 5-year, £360 million contract
to revitalise Toronto’s Union Station, for
which we will provide professional services,
contract management and supervision to
co-ordinate and contro! all construction
activities The 5-year programme includes
the restoration of herntage features in
the existing station and the construction
of a new upper-level transport concourse
and a new retail concourse beneath the
station, to create a world-class transport
and retall facibity

Find out more about what we can do at
www carillionplc com/annualreport10
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Qur performance

Chairman’s statement

The Group continues
to pertorm well.

Philip Rogerson
Chawman
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| am pleased to report that Carillion performed
well in 2010, building on its strong track record
to deliver good earnings growth, despite tough
market conditions, particularly in the UK

The Group has alsa continued its strateqic
development to support its cbjectives of
making further progress in 2011 and over
the medium term, of delivering strong
international growth together with
substantial growth in UK support services

These signtficant achieverments are due 1o
a strong management team and the skills,
professionalism and commitment of alt
our people On behalf of the Board,

I should like to thank all our employees
for the contributions they have made to
Carillion’s success 1 2010

Carlhon's resihent and well-balanced UK
support services and international business
mix continues 1o be reflected in 1ts financal
results Underlying profit before tax®
increased by seven per cent to £188 1 million
(2008® £175 5 million), with the Group's

underlying operating margin increasing
tc 4 2 per cent (2009% 3 8 per cent)
Underlying earnings per share® increased
by six per cent 10 39 4 pence (20092

37 3 pence)

Profit continues to be cash-backed, with
underlying cash flow from operations of
£230 2 million {2009 £268 2 milion)
substantially ahead of underlying profit
from operations of £194 9 miflion (2009@
£180 1 milhon} Consequently, the Group's
financial pesition remains very strong,
with net cash at 31 December 2010 of
£120 2 million (2009 £24 9 milhion)

As expected revenue, including jont
ventures, reduced by nine per cent to

£5 1 bilion (2009 £5 6 billion} primarily
due to the sale of non-core businesses
and equity investments in Public Private

After Joint Ventures taxation of £4 7 milion

{2009% £3 9 millon) and before intangible
amortisation Non recurning operating tems

and non operating items

Restated on adoption of Internatianal Ainancial
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRKC) 12
Before intangible amortisation non recurring
operating items and non operating items

Based on expected revenue and secure and probable
orders which exclude variable work and re bids

{1

2

3

)




Canlllion s total shareholder 2010 total shareholder return
return increased by

32 per centn 2010,
compared with an increase
n the return for the FTSE
350 of 14 per cent

Compound annual growth rates Partnership projects n 2009, the planned
2006-2010 reduction in UK construction actiwty and

an ongomng focus on contract selectivity
Dividend and financial discipline

0 The Group continues to have good revenue
0 visibility, which at 31 December 2010 was
82 per cent® for 2011 This reflects a strong
work winning performance, which mamntamned
the Group's forward order book at some
£18 2 billion (20092 £17 9 bilhon) at
14 0/ 31 December 2010, despite the sale of a
0 further Public Private Partnership equity
investrment during 2010 that removed
£0 5 filhon from the order bock Probable
orders at 31 December 2010 stood at
approximately £0 9 billion (2009 £2 0 billion)
In addition Hy the year end, the Group had
its largest ever pipeline of contract
opportunities notably in markets where we
are targeting strang or substanttal growth
over the medium term namely Canada,
the Middle East and UK support services

Underlying earnings per share®

The Board 1s recommending a final ordinary
dividend for 2010 of 10 7 pence per share
making the total dwvidend for 2010

15 5 pence per share (2009 14 6 pence}
This represents an increase of six per cent
on the total paid in respect of 2009, n

Iine with the Group’s pohcy of increasing
the dwidend in line with earnings growth

Looking forward, we expect the global
econemic environment to continue 10 make
trading conditions difficult, especially in

our UK markets However, Canlhion has a
resilient and well-balanced business mix, goed
revenue visibility and a record pipeline of
contract oppertunities Therefore, the Board
beleves that Canllion 1s well positioned to
make further progress in 2011 and to achieve
its ohjectives for medium-term growth
namely, to double its revenues in Canada and
in the Migdle East and to deliver substantal
growth n UK support services

Singe the year end, Carillion has announced
a recommended offer for the acquisiuon of
Eaga plc, a leading UK provider of energy
efficiency solutions The offer values each
Eaga share at £1 20 and the 1ssued and to
be 1ssued, share capital of Eaga at £306 5
million The acquisition would bring together
two complementary compames and enhance
Canllion's position as one of the UK's leading
support services companies 115 expected

to be immediately earnings enhancing and
would build on Carnllion’s previously
announced objectives for growth The
acquisition 1s expected to complete in April
and the Board 1s confident that it offers the
prospect of creating significant vatue for
shareholders of the enlarged Group

Phihp Rogerson
Chairman
2 March 2011
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Our performance

Group Chief Executive’s review

Good earnings

growth.

Having a strong and resilient business has
enabled us to deliver an eighth successive
year of earnings and dividend growth,
despite difficult market conditions, especially

In the UK.

John McDonough
Group Chief Executive

Qur continuing success Is the result of
rigorously implementing our strategy for
sustainable profitable growth an absolute
commitment to behaving 1n accordance with
our core values and strong risk management

Qur strategy
To deliver sustainable, profitable growth
through

> growing support services, Public
Private Partnershup (PPP) projects and
our international businesses

> developing and marketing integrated
solutions tailored to the needs of
customers, including project finance,
design and construction, maintenance
and Iifetime support services and asset
management

> mamntaining a high-quality and selective
construction capability focused on higher
added-value contracts for long-term
customers, especially the delivery of
Integrated solutions for PPP projects
and support services customers
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Early in 2010, we reviewed our strategy for
UK construction in anticipation of substantial
cuts in Government capital investment,
which were confirmed in the Government's
Spending Review in October 2010 In May
2010, we announced a strategic re-scaling of
our UK canstruction business by tightening
1ts focus on delivering integrated solutions
for Public Private Partnership projects and
support services customers As a result, we
expect to reduce our UK construction revenue
by around one third from its 2009 level of
some £1 8 billion to arcund £1 2 billion over
the next three years This very selective
approach will alse help to support margins
by enabling us to avoid bidding for lower
margin work, as the UK market 1s expected
to become increasingly competitive following
the Government's decision to reduce capital
investrnant in real terms by around one third
over the next four years

(1) Before Group elminations and unallocated items
of £5 0 million (2009 £105 million} ntangble
aMorusation Non recurnng aperating rems

and share of Joint Ventures net financial expense
and taxation

Restated on adopuen of Inernatonal Financial
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 12
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Prinapal operational nsks and mrtigation

Risk

Mitigation

Continuing to wan contracts consistent with
our target margins in markets that are more
competitive

> Continually seeking to differentiate our offering by reviewing our competitive strategy and

target markets

> 'Lving' our values and listening to our custormers in order 10 develop services that meet their needs

> Focusing on our efficency and cost reduction programmes 1o remain competitive

Managing our pension schemes to ensure that
scheme habilities are within a range appropriate
to our capital base

> The Group’s main defined benefit pension schemes have been closed to future accruals

Regularly reviewing our investment policies to ensure that employee and company contnbutions,
together wath scheme benefits remain appropnate

hManaging major contracts to ensure they
are delivered on time, to budget and to the
required standards

> Applying selectivity cntena to ensure we take on contracts only where we understand, and can

manage, the rnisks involved

v

Applying ngorous policies and processes to monitor and manage contract performance

Ensuring we have high-quality people delivering projects

Maintaining financial discipline

Applying strong cash management pokcies and processes to deliver cash-backed profit

Attracting, developing and retaining
excellent people

V|V |Y

Developing and implementing leadership, personal development and employee engagement

programmes that encourage and support all our people to achteve their full potental

Maintaining high standards of performance
in respect of security, Health & Safety and
other statutory requirements

> Applying ngerous nisk management processes supported by robust business continuity plans

> An ongoing commitment to ‘Target Zero', our programme 1o ehminate reportable accidents,
including implementing management systems that conform to Occupational Health & Safety

Assessment System 18001

» |mplementing thorough, mandatory staff training programmes

Underlying operating profit
by reporting segment'?

£222.5m

20092 £226 3m

Ml Support services

£110.4m

2009 £117 7m

Public Private Partnership projects

£23.4m

2009% £30 7m

Il Middle East construction services

£4/75m

2009 £47 Om

Construction services
{excluding the Middle East)

£41.2m

2009 £309m

Our values

Six core values guide our behaviour in
everything we do and define the culture
of our business

> Openness

> Collaboration

> Mutual dependency

> Professional delivery

> Innovation

> Sustainable profitable growth

Operational nsk management

We apply strang aperational nsk management
policies and processes to identify, mitigate
and manage strateqic, Group-wide risks and
risks specific 1o our indvidual business units
and contracts, including economic, social,
environmental and ethical risks

These polices and processes are described

wn more detail in the Corporate Governance
report on page 44 We also say more about
financial nsk management in the Operating
and Financial review on page 30 To ensure
that our operational risk management policies
are applied ngorously throughout the Group
we have clearly defined processes managed
by the Group Head of Risk

The Group Head of Risk Is responsible for

» adwising on strategic risks affecting the
Group

> conducting independent nisk appraisals of
all projects prior to them being submitted
to the Major Projects Committee which is
a committee of the Board with delegated
authority to sanction major commtments
and transactions, including capital
expenditure major contracts and business
acquisitions and disposals, up to speafied
levels of risk, beyond which they are
referred to the Board

> overseeing nsk training across the Group

We apply our nsk management pracesses 1o
every aspect of our operations, from choosing
the geographies in which we operate, our
market sectors and the contracts for which
we bid, to the selection of gur customers,
partners and supphers We also apply them

1o every stage of a contract, from s inception
to completion, in order to deliver value-for-
maney services for our customers and the
cash-backed profit we expect

The principal rnsks affecting the Group are
summarsed in the table above together with
the measures we are taking to mitigate and
manage these risks

The effects of our strategy

Qur strategy, supported by strong risk
management and a commitment to behaving
in accordance with our core values has

> created a resiient and well balanced
UK support services and international
business mix

> produced a strong balance sheet

> delivered eight successive years of
significant earnings and dividend growth

> enabled the Group to consistently achieve
or exceed allits financial and strategic
objectives

> positioned the Group to target further
progress i 2011 and, over the medium
term strong international growth and
substantial growth in UK support services

A resilient and well-balanced business

In 2010, 60 per cent of underlying operating
profit came from stable long-term contracts
for support services and PPP projects which
continue to provide considerable resihence in
the current challenging economic chimate The
remaining 40 per cent of underlying operating
profit came from construction services, where
earnings have also become more resilient

due to contract selectvity and gecgraphical
diversification which has greatly reduced

our dependence on the UK and increased

the contrbutions from our intermational
businesses in the Middle East and 1n Canada
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Qur performance

Group Chief Executive’s review

continued

In 2010, Middle East constructiort services
accounted for 21 per cent of underlying
operating profit with Construction services
(excluding the Middle East) namely in the UK
Canada and the Canbbean, accounting for
19 per cent

A strong balance sheet

Our focus on cash management and the
delivery of cash-backed profit has consistently
delivered strong cash flow from operations
Qver the past five years, underlying cash

flow from operations has increased at a
Compound Annual Growth Rate {CAGR} of
20 per cent, and in each of those years it

has comfortably exceeded underlying profit
from operations Strong cash generation has
supported our growth and enabled us to
transform Canlhon inte a leading suppoert
services company, notably through two
major acquisitions, namely Mowlem plc in
2006 and Alfred McAlpine plc 1n 2008 These
acquisitions were funded in part by £528
mithion of borrowing that by 31 December
2008 had been paid down, te leave the
Group with net cash of £24 9 millon At

31 December 2010, net cash had increased to
£120 2 million This together with committed
bank facilities of £737 5 mithon, maturing in
March 2016, pravide the Group with a very
strong balance sheet

Eight successive years of earmngs

and dividend growth

Over the past eight years, we have delivered
significant year-on-year earnings and dividend
growth, with both underlying earnings per
share and our diwidend increasing oves the
last five years at a compound annual growth
rate of 14 per cent Although the global
economic downturn has made trading
conditions more difficult, especially in our

UK markets, earnings in 2010 increased by six
per cent Qur ability to deliver good earnings
growth despite tough market conditions
demonstrates the strength and resiience of
our business mix

Consistently achieved or exceeded our
financial and strategic obhjectives

We have a strong track record of consistently
achieving or exceeding our financial and
strategic objectives, for which we publish

key performance indicators (KP!s) each year
in our Annual Report and Accounts Our
perfarmance 1n respect of the five KPIs set
for 2010 1s summarised opposite Overall,

we performed well in respect of these KPIs,
including reducing our Accident Frequency
Rate to achieve our target for 2010 However,
we deeply regret that six people suffered
fatal injuries on Carllion work sites in 2010
and we recognise that we must redouble
our efforts if we are to achieve our objective
of reducing reportable accidents to zero
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1 To attract,
develop and retain
excellent people

Attracting developing and retaining excellent
people continues to be our top prionty
because our ability to deliver the high quality
services our customers expect, whichis vital
to Carilhon’s reputation and also to that of
our customers depends on having excellent
people with the appropriate skills and
commitment at every level throughout the
Group We therefore continue to invest in

the development and impiementation of
bespoke leadership, personal development
and employee engagement programmes
which are designed to enable all our people
to achieve therr full potential Communicating
with all our people to engage and empower
them to contribute to the development of
our business, through creating a culiure of
openness and trust 1s fundamental to our
success We do this through managers and
supervisars holding regular ane-tg-gne
meetings with all ther pecple, monthly

Team Talks our award-winning company
newspaper ‘Spectrum and internal
newsletters We also monitor and measure
our progress through employee surveys
notably ‘The Great Debate’ an annual
interactive survey of people selected randomly
from across all our businesses In 2010
13,554 people took part in 'The Great
Debate’ the results of which showed that
overall the satisfaction of our people and the
extent to which they feel valued and proud to
work for Carnllion, continues to improve

2 Be a recognised
leader in Health
& Safety and
sustainability

In the sectors In
which we operate

Cur absolute commitment to the Health

& Safety of our people and of everyone
who works with us or s affected by our
operations remains paramount, together
with our objective, known as 'Target Zero’
of ehiminating all reportable acadents

To achieve this challenging objective, we
continue to use a wide range of measures,
including training audits, Safety Action
Groups, strong visible leadership, such as

Directors’ Safety Tours and employee
engagement tools Our hazard reporting
programme, ‘Don’t Walk By encourages
our people to report for mmediate action
anything they beheve to be unsafe In 2010
we renewed our focus on ‘Don t Walk By
which resulied 1w a 60 per centincrease m
the number of reports per employee and

a 23 per cant reduction in our Accident
Frequency Rate (AFR) to 0 1 reportable
acadents per 100,000 employee hours
worked (2009 0 13), wath three out of four
of our projects achieving zero reportable
accidents during 2010 An AFR 6f 01
represents a sector-leading performance

Despite this further improvement in cur
overall safety performance, five fatal accidents
occurred at Canllion work sites during 2010
in which six people tragically lost their lves
An employee of a sub-contractor was fatally
injured while clearing vegetation on a Cariflion
project at Barrow-in-Furness In Alberta,
Canada, a Canlon Canada employee died
while carrying out highway maintenance
work after being struck by a vehicle driven
by a member of the public In Egypt an
employee of cur joint venture partner,
Orascom, was fatally injured by a fall, after
being struck by a prop being used for
construction work at the Cairo Festival City
project In Abu Dhabi, two employees of Al
Futtaim Canlhon died when they were struck
by a pre-cast concrete floor section which
had been in place for several days before
suddenly collapsing without warring In
Gman a Canlkon Alawi employee was fatally
ijured when he fell and was run over by a
water tanker During 2010, one prosecution
of a Carillion company was completed by the
Health & Safety Executive

Canlhen continues to be a leader in

sustainability We retained our ‘Platinum’

ranking in Business in the Community’s

Corporate Responsibility Index in which

we also topped the support services sector,

we came eighth in the Sunday Times list

of Best Green Compantes and mamntained

our membership of the FTSE4Geod Index

We believe that being a leader in delivering

sustainable solutions for cur customers

differentiates Carillion from its peers and

therefore helps us to win work More details

about our pregramme for becoming a more

sustainable business and how this helps us to

achleve our financial and strategic objectives |
can be found in the sustainability section of
this report on page 32




3. Continuously
Improve customer
satisfaction and
brand reputation

Cur performance against this KPI, which was
niroduced for the first ime 0 2010, 15 being
measured by an independent annual survey of
customer perception The results of the survey
far 2010 show that average customer
perception across all our market sectors
improved in 2010 and remained well above

a commercially acceptable level Within this
average, perception improved mn six of our
eight UK key market sectors, with perception
unchanged in one sector and shightly down

n one sector, but this was still well ahead

of thatin 2008 In 2010 we carried out
perceplion surveys In our international
businesses namely the Middle East and
Canada which will provide a baselne for
comparson in 2011

4. Continue to
reduce costs and
improve efficiency
to support earnings
growth

In 2010, we continued to reduce our cost base
and improve efficiency Our success 15 reflected
n the substantial improvement we achieved
in overall underlying operating margin, from
3 8 per cent to 4 2 per cent This reflected
sigrificant iImprovements 1n operating margin
in our business segments, with the operating
margin increasing 1n support services from

4 9 per cent 10 5 2 per cent, in Middle East
construction services from 8 5 per cent

10 9 6 per cent and in construction services
{excluding the Middle East) from 1 4 per cent
to 19 per cent Reducing costs and improving
efficency also helps us to remain competitive,
with our success evident in the value of our
year-end forward order book, which we
maintained at £18 2 billion, desprte the sale
of a further Public Private Partnership equity
investment which remaoved £0 5 billion

from the order book and challenging

market conditions

5. Generate cash-
backed profit

We have a strong track record of consistently
delivering cash-backed profit from operations,
which remains a key prionty for all our
business units In 2010, underlying cash flow
from operatians of £230 2 mikion was once
again comfortably ahead of underlying profit
from cperations of £194 9 millicn

Positioned for further progress

and growth

Although trading conditions are expected
to rernain difficult, especially in our UK
markets we are well positioned to make
further progress in 2011 and to achieve our
objectives for medium term growth, namely
doubling the revenues of our internatronal
businesses while delivering substantial
growth in UK support services

Order book

The Group maintained a strong forward
order book warth some £18 2 billion at

31 December 2010 (2009 £17 9 billion),
despite the sate of a further Public Private
Partnershtp equity investment which
removed £0 5 billion from the order book,
and the effects of more difficult market
conditions The value of probable orders

at 31 December 2010 reduced to £0 9 bilhion
(2009 £2 0 bilien), which primanly reflects
the timing of achieving financial close on a
number of Public Private Partnership projects
At 31 December 2010, the Group’s revenue
visibility for 2011 was 82 per cent? Our
pipeline of contract opportunities, namely
contracts for which we are either currently
tidding or which we expect to bid, increased
signiftcantly to the record level of over

£25 bdlion (2009 £17 1 bullion)

Support services

In support services, we continue 1o have
good revenue visitulity, wath 75 per cent of
expected 2011 revenue currently covered by
secure and prebable orders This, together
with the substantial opportunities we have
to win new work In 2011, means that we
expect support services 10 continue 1o be
resilient despite our expectation that market
conditrans will remain difficult in 2011 Over
the medium term, we continue to target
substantial grewth in UK support services
driven primartly by an increase in public sector
outsourcing, notably by UK Local Authonties
as they seek to deliver the substantial
reductions 0 running cosis announced in
the UK Government’s 2010 Spending Review
Given we are targeting large complex
contracts that take considerabte time to

bid, we continue to expect the benefits of
more public sector outsourcing to come
through towards the end of 2011, leading

to substantial growth in 2012 and beyond
We will continue to support our operating
margin in this segment through applying
strict selectivity critenia and mantaining our
financial discipline

Order book

£18.2bn

I Support services

£11 7bn {2009 £11 1bn)

B Public Private Partnership projects

£2 Tbn (2009 £2 6bn)

B Middle East construction services

£10bn (2009 £0 7bn)

M Construction services
(excluding the Middle East)

£2 8bn (2009 £3 Sbn)

(1) Restated on adopticn of International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Commutiee {IFRIC) 12

Probable orders

£0.9bn

Il Support services

£0 5bn {2009 £0 6bn)

Publi¢ Private Partnership projects

£l (2009 £0 2bn)

Il Middle East construction services

£rul (2009 E£0 2bn)

(&3 Construction services
{excluding the Middle East}

£0 4bn (2009 £10bn)

{1} Restated on adoption of International Financial
Reporting Interpre1auons Commuttee (IFRICH 12

(2) Based on expected revenue and secure and probable
orders which exctude vanable work and re bids
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Qur performance

Group Chief Executive’s review

continued

Pipeline

£25.7bn

Il Support services

£8 3bn {2009 £5 5bn)

Public Private Partnership projects

£0 8bn (2009 £nil)

Il Middle East construction services

£8 8bn (2009 £4 2bn)

H® Construction services
(excluding the Middle East)

£77bn (2009 £7 4bn)
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Publc Private Partnership (PPP) projects
We expect to continue generating substantial
value from our investments in PPP projects

To date we have invested some £71 milhon

n our portfolio of 26 projects A further £108
milion has still to be invested in this pertfolig,
as projects currently under construction are
completed and meve into the operational
phase Furthermore the prospects for adding
new projects to our portfohio remam positive

We have strong market positions in both

the UK and in Canada We are currently
shorthisted for five projects in which we could
invest up to a further £148 million of equity
and we expect continuing opportunities to bid
for new projects In Canada Infrastructure
Ontario 15 expected to announce a major
expansion 1o its programme of PPP projects in
the first half of 2011, which will significantly
increase the scale of Canada’s current PPP
programme of some £10 bithion over the next
three years As the only company currently
able to offer fully integrated solutions for PPP
projects in Canada, we believe we are well
positioned to benefit from this expected
increase In investment [n the UK the
Government is continuing to use private
finance to defwer existing infrastructure
programmes and has also announced

that private finance will play a key role in
delivering the five-year, £200 bifron National
Infrastructure Plan, anncunced in October
2010 As the secondary equity market remains
strong, we also expect to continue selling
investments in mature projects namely
where construction has been completed and
the project has moved successfully into the
operational phase with the support services
contract fully established Therefore we
expect to continue generating sigmficant
value for the Group through our ability to
win and successfully deliver PPP projects into
the operational phase

Middle East construction services

In Middle East constructton services the
outlook for growth remains positive with
some 78 per cent™ of expected 2011 revenue
currently covered by secure and probable
orders Furthermare our pipeline of contract
opportunities has maore than doubled to

£8 8 billon (2009 £4 2 billion), which reflects
the strength of our markets in Abu Dhaby,
Oman and Qatar where we established a
new business dunng 2010, each of which

has major investment pregrammes that are
expected to continue to create significant
opportunities for growth Consequently, we
expect to deuble cur share of revenue in the
Middle East to around £1 0 billion over the
next three to five years Over a similar period,
we expect our aperating margin to reduce
steadily to around six per cent, as we continue
to competitively tender for new contracts
having previously negotiated all our contracts
for a number years However, our Joint
Venture businesses in the region will continue
to use their reputations for delivering projects
to the highest standards of quality and

reliability to target large, prestigious
contracts, which we believe will enable us to
stabilise our operating margin at this relatively
healthy level over the medium-term and
therefore target substantial earnings growth
over this period

Construction services

(excluding the Middle East)

In construction services {excluding the Middle
East), revenue visibility for 2011 was 89 per
cent " a1 31 December 2010 This provides

a strong platform to continue the strategic
re-scaling of our UK business that we
announced in May 2010 At the same trme we
continue to target strong growth in Canada
We expect this growth to be driven primanly
by the construction of PPP projects, given
that the current £10 bilhon PPP programme in
Canada I1s expected 10 increase sigrificantty
over the next 10 years Therefore, revenue
growth in Canada will largely offset the
planned reduction in the UK Taking an even
more selective approach to UX construction
will help to support our operating margin in
this segment by enabling us to avoid lower
margin work, as we expect the UK
constructton market to become increasingly
competitive, due to the substantial cuts in
capital expenditure announced in the UK
Government’s 2010 Spending Review

Recommended acquisition of Eaga plc
Since the year end, Canllion has announced a
recommended offer for the acquisition of Eaga
pl¢, a leading UK provider of energy efficiency
solutions The acquisition would bring together
two complementary companies and enhance
Canilion's position as cne of the UK's leading
support services companies Carillon has
identified the low carbon market as a strategic
area of growth and the acquisition of Eaga
would create a scalable platform to build the
UK's largest independent energy services
provider It would also extend Carillion's
capability to provide integrated support
services solutions for its existing customers

far whom energy services are an increasingly
important requirement The acquisition

1s expected to be immediately earnings
enhancing and would buitd on Canllien’s
previcusly announced objectives

for growth

John McDenough
Group Chief Executive
2 March 2011

(1) Based on expected revenue and secure and probable
orders which exclude variable work and re bids




The Group has

set the following
key performance
indicators for 2011.

> To attract, develop and retain
excellent people

> Be a recognised |leader in Health
& Safety and Sustainability in the
sectors in which we operate

> Continuously improve customer
satisfaction and brand reputation

> Grow revenue in support services

> Grow revenues In Canada and in the
Middle East, consistent with our objective
of doubling each of them to around
£1 billion over the next three to five years

> Continue to re-scale our UK construction
capability consistent with our objective
of reducing this by one third over the
next three years to around £1.2 billion

> Continue to reduce costs and improve
efficiency to support margins and
earnings growth

> Generate cash-backed profit after
adjusting for the strategic re-scaling
of our UK construction business
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Qur performance

Operating and financial review

Strong and
resilient business.

Richard Adam
Group Finance Director

22 Carilion plc Annual Report and Accounts 2010

Carillion has continued to perform well in
challenging market conditions to deliver a
seven per cent increase in underlying profit
before taxV and a six per cent increase

in underlying earnings per share®.

Group overview

Carllion 15 one of the UK's leading support
services companies with a substantial
porticho of Public Private Partnership projects
and extensive construction capablities
Having this wide range of skills and resources
enables the Group to deliver fully integrated
solutions for bulldings and infrastructure
from project finance through design and
construction, to lifg-time asset management
The Group has operations in the UK, Middle
East and North Africa and Canada and the
Canbbean, as described on pages 4 and 5

Growth in 2010 has more than offset the
£17 milhon of underlying proftt before
taxation contnbuted by the non-core
businesses and investmenis in Public Private
Partnership projects that were sold in 2009

We also maintained our strong track record of
delivering cash-backed profit, with underlying
cash flow from operations of £230 2 million
once again comfortably ahead of underlyng
profit from operations of £194 9 million

At 31 December 2010 the Group had net cash
of £120 2 million

As expected, total revenue in 2010 reduced
by nine per cent to £5 139 0 million (2009%
£5,629 3 million), including revenue from
loint Ventures of £902 5 milion (20099
£1,125 1 milhon}, reflecting the sate of
non-core businesses and equity mvestmenis
in Public Private Partnership projects, the
strategic reduction i UK construction
activity and an ongoing focus on selectivity
and financial discipline

Total underlying profit from operations®
increased by three per cent to £194 9 million
(2009 £180 1 mitien}, including profit

from Joint Ventures of £46 0 million (2009®
£59 2 million) The total margin based on
underlying profit from operations increased
10 3 8 per cent (2009® 3 4 per ceny), reflecting
our facus on contract selectvity, financial
discipline and larger contracts for customers
seaking innovative value for money solutions

After a net financial expense of £6 8 million
(2009 £14 6 million), underlying profit
before taxation! was £188 1 million (2009
£175 5 million), an increase of seven per cent
Underlying earmngs per share™ on the same
basis increased by six per cent to 39 4 pence
{20099 37 3 pence)




Operating profit by financial reporting segment

Change from
2010 2009 2009
Financial reporting segments and analysis fm £m %
Support services 104 77 -6
Public Private Partnership projects 234 307 -24
Middle East construction services 475 470 +1
Construction services (excluding the Middle East) 412 309 +33
2225 2263 -2
Group efiimiations and unallocated iterns (9 0) (10 5) +14
Profit from operations before Joint Ventures
net financial expense and taxaton 2135 2158 -1
Share of Joint Ventures net financiaf expense {13 9) (21 8) +36
Share of Joint Ventures taxation 47) (39) 221
Underlying profit from operations® 194 9 1901 +3
Intangible amortisation (27 6) (30 8) +10
Non-recurnng operating items 94) (15 2) +38
Reported profit from operations 1579 1441 +10

Intangible amortisation was £27 6 million
(2009 £30 8 million), non-recurring operating
and non-operating items amounted to an
income of £7 4 million (20097 £8 8§ million
charge), leaving profit before taxaton of
£167 9 millien (2009 £135 9 milkon} an
increase of 24 per cent

The Group taxation charge of £15 1 million
(2009 £11 5 milbon) when combined with
foint Ventures taxation of £4 7 milhon
(2009 £3 9 rmullion), represented an
underlying effective tax rate of 16 per cent
(2009 16 per cent) Profit after tax was
£152 8 mullion {2009 £124 4 million)
After non-controling interests of £5 & milion
(2009 £3 8 rillion), profit attributable 1o
Canllion shareholders was £147 2 million
{2009 £120 6 million} and basic earnings
per share were 36 9 pence (2009

30 5 pence), an increase of 21 per cent

Underlying cash flow from operations of
£230 2 million (2009 £268 2 million)
represented 118 per cent of underlying profit
from operations of £194 9 millton (2009%
£190 1 million} After payments to pensicn
funds of £35 2 million (2008 £29 0 million)
in line with our pension deficit recovery plan,
net capital expenditure of £15 3 milhon
(2009 £47 3 mihion), restructuring costs of
£15 6 million (2009 £17 1 mdlion), interest
tax and dividend payments of £65 2 million
(2009 £63 2 milion) and net income from
acquisitions and disposals of £2 7 millon
(2009 £142 7 milhon}, the Group had net
cash at 31 December 2010 of £120 2 millon
(2009 £24 9 milion)

After Jont Ventures taxaton of £4 7 million (2069
£3 9 million) and before intangible amorusaton
NGN recurnng operating stems and non-gperating stems
Before intangible amortisation nen recurning
operating items and non-aperanng (tems

Restated on adopton of International Reporting
Interpretations Committee {IFRIC) 12

After Joint Ventures net financial expense of

£13 9 milhon (2009 £2§ 8 mdkon) and taxation
of £4 7 millien (2009 £3 § millien) and before
intangibie amortisalion non recurnng operating
items and non-operating items.

{1

{2

{3

“

Accounting polictes

The Group's annual consohdated financal
statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Urion
The following new acceunting standards and
interpretations which became efiective after
1 January 2010 have been adopted dunng
the year

> International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 12
"Service CONCAsSION arrangements’

> International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee {IFRIC} 15
‘Agreement for the construction of
real estate

> International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 16
Hedges of a net investment in a foreign
operation’

> International Accounting Standard {IAS) 27
‘Consohdated and separate financial
statements (revised 2008)’

> International Financial Reporting
Standards {IFRS} 3 ‘Business
Combinations (revised 2008)

International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 12

‘Service concession arrangements’

applies to accounting for Public Private
Partnershup (PPP} projects in which

the Group participates through joint ventures
The overall impact of IFRIC 12 1s to change
the timing of when revenue and profit are
recognised for PPP projects, but it does not
affect the total profit recognised or the cash

flows generated duning the life of PPP
projects The principal change requires
revenue and profit to be recognised during
the construction period, which was not
previously required, and for borrowing costs
1o be expensed immediately, rather than
capitalised dusing the construction penod
As IFRIC 12 has no effect on cash flows,
there 1s no impact on the Directors’ valuation
of the Group’s PPP portfolio Following the
adoption of IFRKC 12 comparative infarmation
for 2009 has been restated accordingly,
reducing underlying profit before tax®® by

£6 7 millon at 31 December 2009 More
details of this restatement are given in note
32 to the financial information on page 97
The other new accounting standards and
interpretations are descnibed on page 59
and none of these have had a materal effect
on the Group The Group’s other significant
accounting policies are descnbed on pages
59 to 62

Segmental reporting and analysis
Operating profit by financial reporting
segment 1s summarised in the table above and
a detalled segmental analysis of the Group's
businesses 1s provided in note 2 to the
financizl statements on page 63 Operating
performance in each of our financial reporting
segments 15 discussed in more detal on pages
24 t0 27
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Qur performance

Operating and financial review

continued

Support services

Change from

Revenue 2 o 2008
Revenue
£2 1 bn ~ Group 1,8421 21083
. - Share of Joint Ventures 266 5 2812
21086 23895 12
Underlying operating profit"
Underlying operating profit - Group 923 1029
- Share of Joint Ventures 181 148
1104 177 -6

£110.4m

1 Canllicn is a leading supplier of facilities
management services to NHS hospitals, including
*soft’ serwices such as laundry, cdleaning and
catenng, and 'hard services such as mechanical
and electnical engineering maintenance and
building fabne mantenance

2 Canllion has long-term contracts to provide
management and maintenance services for
17 000 kilometres of road networks in the
UK and Canada

In this segment we report the
results of our faclities management,
facilites services, rail services, road
maintenance, ubiity services and
consultancy businesses

24 Canllion plc Annual Report and Accounts 2010

{1} Before intangible amortisatian and nan recurnag operating items

Revenue reduced by 12 percent to £2108 6
million 10 line with our expeciations, and
refiected the disposal of non-core businesses
in 2009 together with an ongoing focus on
contract selectvity and financial disciphne in
order to suppori margins

Consequently the operating margin in

this segment increased 1o 5 2 per cent (2009
4 9 per cent) with underlying operating profit
reducing by six per cent to £110 4 milkon

We continue fo use our extensive capabiities
and nationwide resources to target large
complex contracis for the management and
maintenance of property and infrastructure
The breadth and scale of our capabilities,
together with our ability to provide innovative
solutions to improve efficiency and reduce
costs for our customers 15 a key strength
that helps to differentiate Canllion from its
competitors and support our margins in

this segment

Our ability to combine our support services
capabilities with our project finance
design and construction capabilities to
provide integrated solutions for Public
Private Partnership {PPP} projects s also

fundamental to our success in winning
PPP concession contracts and with them
long-term suppaort services contracts
These contracts contnbute approximately
25 per cent of revenue In this segment

Despite challenging market conditions,

we have continued to win new work,
ncreasing the total value of our support
services order book to £11 7 billion at

31 December 2010 (2009 £11 1 bullion)

The value of probable orders at the year

end was £0 5 billion {2009 £0 6 bill:on)

We therefore continue to have good revenue
visibility, which at 31 December 2010 was
75 per cent? for 2011

Furthermore, we have our largest ever
pipeline of contract opportunities in support
services that has increased by £2 8 billion

to some £8 3 billion (3t December 2009

£5 5 bilhion), primarily as a result of public
sector custorners notably UK Local
Authorities, seeking to imprave efficency and
reduce costs through outsourcing more services
We have also noticed that Local Authonties are
looking to extend the range of services included
In outsourcing contracis which therefore
require more bundied or integrated solutions

(2) Based on expecied revenue and secure and probable
ordars which exclude variable work and re bids




Public Private Partnership projects

Change from

Revenue 210 2009 200
Revenue
£0.3bn 5
. - Share of Joint Ventures 3107 4173
3119 418 4 -25
Underlying operating profit®
Underlying operating profit - Group 107 -
- Share of Joint Ventures 127 307
£23.4m
a

1 Canllion 1s a leading suppher of new schools
aver 50 of which have been delivered as Public
Private Partnership projects, that are helping to
create first-class learning environments

2 Qur latest Publc Private Partnership project in
Canada 15 the Forensic Services and Coroners'
Complex in Toronto on which construchon
started in August 2010

In this segment we report the results
of our investing actvities in Public
Private Partnership (PPP) projects
The results of the support services
and construction services we provide
as part of delivering PPP projects are
reported In our Support services and
Construction services (excluding the
Middle East) segments, respectively

(1) Restated on adoption of International Financial Reporung tnterpretations Committee (IFRIC) 12
{2} Before intangible amertisation and nan-recurnng operating items

Our target internal rate of return 1s 15 per
cent on our equity iInvestments in PPP projecis
over the Iife of concession contracts which
are typically between 25 and 35 years Once
construction of the asset 1s complete and the
project has moved into the operational phase
with the support services contract firmly
established, we have the option of sefling

our equity investments and reinvesting the
proceeds tn new projects

The market for equity in mature PPP projects
remains strong During 2010 we sold the
whole of our equity investment in the Queen
Alexandra Hospital Portsmouth, and a further
five per cent of our equity in the Allenby
Connaught project for the Ministry of
Defence that reduced our equity interest in
this project to 12 5 per cent These eguity
sales generated proceeds of £45 8 milon

In 2010 we added four new projects to
our portfolio of finanaally closed projects
- Southmead Hospital, the Rochdale and
Wolverhampton Building Schools for the
Future {BSF) programmes and the Forensic
Services and Coroners’ Complex in Toronto
—in which Canllion expects to invest a
combined total of £68 1 million of equity

At 31 December 2010, we had a portfolio
of 26 financially closed projects in which we
had invested some £71 million of equity, and
in which we will nvest a further £108 mullion
as projects still 1n the construction phase

are completed The Directors’ valuation

of this porifolio at 31 December 2010 was
approximately £135 milhon (31 December
2009 £115 milion), based on a discount

rate of nine per cent (2009 nine per cent)

Al 31 December 2010, our PPP forward order
book was worth £2 7 bitlion (31 December
2009" £2 6 billion) Probable orders had
reduced to zero at the year end (31 December
2009 £0 2 bilhon) as a result of achieving
financial close on the four projects for which we
were the preferred bidder at December 2009

The outlook for adding further investments
to our portfolio continues to be encouraging
We are currently shorthsted for a further five
projects in the UK and Canada in which
Canllion could potentially invest up to £148
million Looking further forward we expect
continuing opportunities to bid for new
projects In Canada Infrastruciure Ontario
15 expected to announce a major expansion
of its PPP wwvestment programme in the first
half of 2011 This 15 expected to increase
the capital value of the PPP programme in
Canada significantly from its current levet
of some £10 biflion over the next three years
In the UK, the Government continues to use
private finance to delver exisung building
and infrastructure projects and has also
announced that private finance will play

a significant role in delivering the five-year,
£200 hillion National Infrastructure Plan,
announced 1in Qctober 2010
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Our performance

Operating and finanaal review

continued

Middle East construction services

Change from

Revenue wo  me T aos
Revenue
£O 5bn - Group 190 9 1302
. — Share of Joint Ventures 3021 4234
4930 5536 -1
Underlying operating profit®
Underlying operating profit - Group 140 68
- Share of Joint Ventures 335 402
415 470 +1

£47.5m

1 In Abu Dhabi, Al Futtaim Canilion 1s building
the Al Muneera development, which includes
offices, apartments, town houses and villas and
forms part of ALDAR' extensive Al Raha Beach
development

2 In May 2010, Al Futtam Carillion was
awarded a contract to build the UAE University
n Al Ain Abu Dhabs, which closely followed its
success 1n securning the contract to build Abu
Dhabi's New York University in Apnl 2010

In this segment we report the results
of our building and awvil engineernng
actimties in the Middle East and
North Africa

(2) Based on expected revenue and secure probable
orders which exclude variable work and re bids
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{1} Before intangible amortisation and non recurnng operating items

As expected, revenue grew very strongly in
the second half of 2010, which contnibuted
£312 5 million to full-year revenue of

£493 0 million, reflecting the timing of new
project starts Consequently full-year revenue
was only some 11 per cent lower than in 2009,
compared with the 44 per cent reduction
reported at the half year

Underlying operating profit remained broadly
unchanged at £47 5 million as the effect of
lower revenue was offset by an improved
operating margin of 9 6 per cent (2009

8 5 per cent} This improvement reflects a
strong operating performance, the benefits
of a number of negotiated contracts and
our engoing efflaency and cost reduction
programmes Cash flow remained strong,
whuch supported a mine per cent increase

In the dividends recewved from cur Middle
East businesses

Our markets continue to be strong in Abu
Dhabi and Oman, where we secured a
number of significant new contracts dunng
2010 Notable successes include two
University projects in Abu Dhabi, a £570
mullion contract for New York University
and an £80 million contract for the UAE
Umiversity and an £80 milhon contract

for an air traffic control tower and other
new facilities at Muscat International
Airport In Qatar which also has major
Investment programmes the new business
we established in the first half of 2010 has
submitted its first substantial bids In general
activity levels in Dubal have remained
relatively low, in hne with cur expectations

However, we secured one substantial new
project in Dubai during 2010, namely a

£124 milion contract to build two residential
towers in Downtown Dubal for which funding
15 secure

At 31 December 2010 Canlhon's share of
the forward order book of our Middie East
businesses was worth £1 & billion {2009

£0 7 bilhion) and our revenue visibihty for
2011 was 78 per cent? By the year end, our
pipeline of probable new orders had reduced
to near zero (December 2009 £0 2 bilhan),
primanly because all contracts are now
competitively tendered, rather than
nagotiated usiNg procurement pracesses
that generally do not involve a preferred
bidder stage However, by the year end

our pipelineg of contract opportunities had
more than doubled to around £8 8 billion,
reflecting the strength of our existing
markets We also continue to explore further
geographical expansion of our operations in
the medium term nto Saudi Arabia, which
also has major investment programmes that
could offer substantial opportunities for us
to grow our revenue In the region

Consequently, we continue 1o believe we are
well-positioned to make further progress in
2011 towards our objective of doubling our
share of revenue from our Middle East
businesses to £1 billion over the next three
to five years We still expect margins in the
Middle East to reduce steadily to around six
per cent over the medium term as a result
of the return to competitive tendenng But
given our prospects for revenue growth

we continue to target substantial earnings
growth over the medium term




Construction services (excluding the Middle East)

/

Change trom
Revenue 2‘:;1,: mfﬁ 20?;2
Revenue
£2.2bn
. - Share of Joint Ventures 232 32
2,2255 22678 -2
Underlywng operating profit®
Underlying operating profit - Group 409 317
- Share of Joint Ventures 03 (0 B}
412 309 +33

£41.2m

1 In 2010 Carnllion completed the ¢onstruction
phase of the Joint Permanent Headquarters
Public Private Partnershup project for the UK
Ministry of Defence, for which Canllion is also
providing facilities management services as part
of a 25-year concession contract

2 |n Bnstol, Cantlion s building the new
800-bed Southmead Hospital, far which
Canlhon will also provide facilities managament
and life-cycle maintenance services as part

of a 30-year Public Private Partnesship
congession contract

In this segment we report the results of
our UK bullding, cwvil engineenng and
developments businesses, together
with those of our construction activities
in Canada and the Caribbean

(1) Before intangible amortisation non recurnng operating items

1

A two per cent reduction In total revenue
reflects the first effects of the strategic
re-scaling of our UK construction capability,
which we announced in May 2010, partally
offset by growth in Canada The strateqic
re-scaling of our UK capability, through
progressively basing our activities around
the delivery of integrated solutions for Pubhc
Private Partnership {PPP} projects and support
services customners, resulted in UK revenue
reduaing to £1,726 0 million in 2010 (2009
£1 840 6 millon) We expect to continue
reducing UK canstruction revenue over the
next three years 1o around £1 2 bilion
Revenue in Canada increased to £499 5
milhon {2009 £427 2 million) as we make
progress towards our target of broadly
doubling our revenue in Canada over the
next three to five years

Tightering our already selective approach
to UK construction 1s helping to support
margins by enabling us to avoid bidding

for lower margin work We believe this

will become mcreasingly important, because
market conditions are expected {0 become
more competitive as a result of the UK
Government's decision to reduce capital
tnvestment n real terms by around ane

third over the next four years

The benefits of our selective approach
together with an ongoing focus on efficency
and cost reduction are evident In our
operating margin, which increased to 19 per
cent (2009 1 4 per cent), with operating
profit nsing by 33 per ¢ent to £41 2 million

We have continued to win new orders
consistent with our stnct selectivity cntena
Notable successes in 2010 included the
£430 milhon Southmead Hospital PPP
project n Bnstol, the £306 milhon Forensic
Services and Coroners® Complex PPP
project in Ontang, Canada and UK schools
programmes worth approximately £300
million Although UK Government curtailed
the programme previously known as
‘Building Schoals for the Future’ (BSF)
Carillion retained some 68 per cent of its
BSF programme schools compared with

an average of around 32 per cent for all
contractors, and there was no impact on
our order book as no contractually committed
schools were cancelled

At 31 December 2010, we had a forward
order book worth £2 8 bilhion (2009

£3 5 bilion) and a pipeline of probable

new orders worth approximately £0 4 billion
(2009 £10 bilken), which pnmanly reflected
the highly selective approach we have
adopted in order to reduce UK construction
revenue Our pipeline of potential contract
opportunities remained stable at around

£7 7 bilhon {2009 £7 4 billion)
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Our performance

Operating and financial review

continued

Intangible amortisation

Intangible amortisation of £27 6 millon
(2009 £30 8 million) relates to the
amortisation of intangible assets ansing
primarily from the acguisition of Mowlem in
2006 and Alfred McAlpine and the Vanbots
Group In 2008

Non-recurring operating items
These costs are summarised in the table below

2010 2009
£m £m
Rationalisation costs {9 4) (39)
Office of Fair Trading penalty
relating to Mowlem - (54
Curtadment gain - 0t
94) (152

Rationalisation costs of £9 4 million relate
primarily to redundancy and other costs
assoclated with rescaling the Group’s UK
construction business to ensure its size
reflects the reduction in capital investment
indicated in the UK Government's Emergency
Budget on 22 June 2010 and confirmed in
the Comprehensive Spending Review In
October 2010

Rationalisation costs of £9 9 milhon in 2009
relate to redundancy and other associated
costs incurred in rationalising the Group's
structure, including ensuning that the size of
the UK censtruction capability reflects the
expected dechne i our general construction
markets

The Office of Fair Trading (OFT} penalty in
2009 of £5 4 milhon was imposed on Canllion
JM Limited (€M), which was formerly
Mowlem plc prior 1o 1ts acquisibon by
Carllion Mowlem was one of 103 companies
penalised following an OFT investigation into
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cover pricing In the construction industry
under the Competition Act 1998 The
ant-competitive activities for which Mowlem
was penalised related to the activities of
Mawlem prior to its acquisition by Carllion in
February 2006 No other Canllion companies
were subject to the OFT investigation

Following the closure of four Canillion defined
benefit pension schemes to future accrual,
which generated a £35 5 milion curtalment
gain in 2008 from 31 December 2009
benefits paid in respect of the Alfred
McAlpine Pension Plan were no longer inked
to final salary (see "Retirement benefits on
page 29} This gave rise to a curtalment gain
of £6 1 million (net of expenses) in 2009

Non-operating items

Non-operating income in 2010 amounted
to £16 8 milhon (2008 £6 4 million) and
comprised the profit on the sale of two
investments in Public Private Partnership
(PPP) projects

Net financial expense

The Group had a net financial expense of
£6 8 million (2009 £14 6 million) This
compnsed a net expense of £76 mithon in
respect of borrowings (2009 £15 8 million)
a net interest charge of £3 6 million

{2009 £2 2 millign) in respect of retirement
benefit schemes and an interest credit of
£4 4 million (2009 £3 4 million} in respect
of loans to Speaal Purpose Companies for
PPP projects

Taxation

The effective tax rate on underlying profit
was 16 per cent (2009 16 per cent), which
15 below the UK standard rate of corporation
tax, principally reflecting the fact that from
July 2009 dividends received from overseas

companies are now exempt from UK taxation,
together with the utilsation of UK tax

losses At 31 December 2010 the Group had
£306 million (2009 £375 million) of corporate
tax losses that are available to reduce future
1ax payments

Earmings per share

Underlying earmings per share increased by six
per cent to 39 4 pence (2009 37 3 pence)
Thus reflected a strong operating performance
in chfficutt market conditions notably through
improving operating margins through
focusing on contract selectivity and financial
discipline, supported by ocur ongoing
efficrency and cost reduction programimes

Dwidend

Carilhon has a dwidend policy of progressively
increasing the dividend paid to shareholders
broadly in ine with earmings growth, after
taking account of the investment needs of
the business Consistent with this pohcy the
Board has recammended a final dvidend in
respect of 2010 of 10 7 pence, making the
full-year dvidend 15 5 pence, an increase of
six per cent on the total paid in respect of
2009 (14 6 pence) Underlying dwvidend cover
was 2 5 times (2009 2 6 times)

Cash flow
A summary of the Group’s cash flow 1s
shown below

2010 2009
Cash flow £m fm
Underlying Group operating profit 1489 1309
Depreciation and other non-cash items 320 388
Working capital 12 599
Dividends received from Joint Ventures 481 386
Underlying cash inflow from operations 2302 2682
Deficit pension contributions {35 2) (29 0)
Rationalisation costs {15 6) (71
Interest, tax and dividends {65 9) (63 2)
Net capital expenditure {15 3) {47 3)
Acquisitions and disposals 27 1427
Other (s 6) 27
Change in net cash/{borrowing) 953 2516
Net cash/(borrowing) at 1 January 249 (226 7)
Net cash at 31 December 1202 249
Average net borrowing (41 8) (274 4)

(1) Restated on adoption of International Financial Reporting (nterpretations Committee (IFRIC) 12




Through a continuing focus on strong cash
management we have maintained our

strong track record of consistently delivering
cash-backed profit Underlying cash flow from
operations of £230 2 milhon 15 once again
significantly ahead of underlying profit from
operattons of £194 9 million which made a
significant contribution to increasing the
Group's net cash position at 31 December
2010 to £120 2 milon (2009 £24 9 mullion)

The additional cash payments to the Group s
pensions schemes of £35 2 million, reflect the
agreement reached with the Group’s main
defined benefit pension scheme’s Trustees
during the year, covering deficit payments
through to the end of 2011 The cash cost of
rationalisation of £15 6 milhen includes costs
relating to the integration of the Alfred
McAlpine business, which was acquired in
2008, and costs relating to restructuring

the Carilion Group, as described under
non-recurring operating items on page 28
Net capital expenditure of £15 3 milhion was
lower than In 2009 because expenditure in
2009 was higher than normal due to additional
tnvestment in IT infrastructure in order to
accommaodate the Alfred McAlpine busimesses
and delwer planred synergy benefits and in
plant and equipment to support the growth
of our business in Canada The cash inflow in
respect of acquisitions and disposals reduced
n 2010, primanly due to a reduction in
praceeds from the sale of non core businesses
and Public Private Partnership (PPP) equity
investments - Carillon 1T Services Enviros and
four PPP investments were sold in 2009 for
£157 9 millon, whereas two PPP investments
were sold in 2010 for £45 8 millon — and an
increase 1n 2010 in the level of investment

In new PPP projects and in other trade
investments to £38 4 milhon, compared

with £15 2 million in 2009

Balance sheet

Carnlhon continues to have a strong balance
sheet, which 15 supported by committed bank
facilities of £752 5 milion

Property, plant and equipment reduced

due largely to the depreciation charge being
£12 5 millson higher than capital expenditure
Intangible assets reduced pnmarily as a result
of amortisation Investments increased mostly
due to an increase 1n investments in Public
Private Partnership (PPP) projects, net of the
effect of two PPP equity sales in 2010

Retirement benefits

Detaited information on the Group's pension
arrangements can be found in note 30

on pages 90 to 96 of the consolidated
financial statements

The Group operates pension arrangemenis
for the benefit of ekgible employees There
are 15 defined benefit schemes, which have
a total pension obligation amounting to

£2 138 0 milion {1 e the *habilities”) The total
pension assets relating to these habilities are
£1,888 6 milhgn giving a defiat of £249 4
million before deferred tax and £182 1 million
after deferred tax

The Board applies sigrificant time and
resources to managing the pension schemes
and their nherent nsks In particular there is
the following

> aBoard sub-commitiee 1s specifically tasked
with the momtoring and management of
the defined benefit pension arrangements
> an executive committee reporting to
the above sub-committee has been
established comprnising of the Group
Finance Director Group Finanaial
Controller and Group Head of Reward
> the executive committee meets monthly
to consider pension 1ssues

2010 2009™
Balance sheet £m fm
Property, plant and equipment 1572 168 2
Intangible assets 12212 1,2413
Investments 176 7 1720
1,5551 15815
Inventones, recewables and payables (613 8) (608 0)
Net retirement benefit hability {net of tax) (182 1) 1NNy
Other {14 2) (15 2)
Net operating assets 7450 7472
Net cash 1202 249
Net assets 865 2 7721

{1} Restated on adaption of International Financial Reporung Interpretabions Committee (FRIC) 12

The Group operates the following
pohcies in respect of defined benefit
pension arangements

> defined benefit pensions should not
be offered to employees except where
required under legislation or to meet
the requirements of work-winning

> where defined benefits need to be
offered to meet legislative or work-wanning
requirements business protocols are
in place to manage the nisk involved
and to ensure that the nsk and costs
are fully factored into pricing

> invesiment rnisks should be monitored
and gradually reduced commensurate
with a balanced approach to risk and cost

Reflecting the above policies three of the
Group s panapal schemes, the Canllion Staff
Mowlem Staff and Alfred McAlpine Pension
Plan are all closed to new entrants and
members no longer accrue benefits for
future service

As noted previously the total deficit

included in the Group's balance sheet at

31 December 2010 in relation to defined

benefit schemes amounted to £249 4 mullkon

(2009 £292 8 milhon}y The reduction in the

defiat in the year largely derives from deficit

payments and a reduction in liabilities arising

from using an inflation assumption for certain

benefits based on the Consumer Price Index |
{CPH rather than the Retaill Price Index (RPI) as |
announced by the UK Government in 2010 |
These improvements have been partially

reduced by higher obligations following a |
reduction in the discount rate reflecting !
market bond yelds and an increase in life [
expectancy assumptions in line with those

used in the latest actuanal valuations

During 2010 valuations and rewised funding
arrangements were agreed with the Trustees
of six of the principal defined benefit
schemes The Groug has committed funding
arrangements across all its defined benefit
schemes which amount to around £35 milion
per annum, in the short term Each scheme
has its own speaific funding arrangement
and these funding arrangements will be
reviewed foflowing subsequent valuations
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Our performance

Operating and finanaal review

continued

One-year total sharehalder return

The key assumptions used in the International
Accounting Standards {IAS) 19 defiat position
are summarised below

2010 2009
% %
Discount rate 54 58
Inflation
RPI 34 34
cPl 28 N/A
Salary tncrease 44 44
Expected return on assets
Equities/Property 765 82
Giits 39 435
Corporate Bonds 525 55
Cash 05 10
Average allocation of assets
Equities/Property 51 49
Gilts 17 20
Corporate Bonds 3 29
Cash 1 2

The discount rate of 5 4 per cent 15 based

on AA bond yields approprate to the liability
duration The RPI inflation rate of 3 4 per
cent 1s based on the duration derived market
imphed RPt

The pension habilities of the Group are
subject to fluctuations arising from changes
in the key assumptions above that are
determined by general market conditions
which are outside the control of the Group
In particular a0 1 per cent reduction in the
discount rate would increase the overall
deficit by around £33 0 million, whtlst

a 01 per cent increase in the inflation rate
would increase the overall defictt by around
£28 ¢ million

The Group s angoing pensicns charge
against profit in 2010, including defined
contribution schemes was £29 9 million
(2009 £28 6 milion}

Committed bank facilities

Since the year end the Group has put

in place new commtted bank facilitees

of £752 5 milhon These comprise a

£737 5 million syndicated five-year facility
and a £15 mulhon 364-day facility The

£737 5 million facllity 1s repayable in March
2016 having been arranged in February 2011

Share price

Carillion's share price was 384 4 pence at the
close of business on 31 December 2010, an
increase of 26 5 per cent on the closing price
on 31 December 2009 of 303 8 pence

Cardlton's total shareholder return increased
in 2010 by 32 per cent, compared with an
increase in the return for the FTSE 350 of
14 per cent Over the last five years
Carillion’s 1otal shareholder return has
significantly outperformed the FTSE 350
The FTSE 350 has been chosen by the
Board as the best comparatar to illustrate
Canllion’s performance against a broad
equity market index

Operational and financal

risk management

The application of ngorous risk management
policies and processes plays an essential role
n Canllon s success These policies and
processes are firmly embedded in our culture
and designed to identify, mitigate and
manage strategic risks and those specific to
individual business and cantracts including
economic, socal, environmental and ethical
rnsks Our operational risk management
policies and processes are described in

more detall on page 17 of the Group Chief
Executive's review, together with a summary
of the Group's principal nsks and the measures
we have taken to mitigate them

Treasury policy and financial

nsk management

The Group has a centralised Treasury function
whose primary role 1s to manage funding,
hquidity and financial nsks In addition
Treasury sources and administers contract
band and guarantee facilities for the Group
Treasury 1S not a profit centre and does not
enter Into speculative transactions The Board

Five-year total shareholder return
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sets pohiaies within which Treasury operates
that ensure the most effective financing

of the Group‘s operations and mit exposure
to financial risk The areas of stgmificant
financial nsk facing the Group relate to
funding and liquidity, counterparty risk,
foreign exchange and interest rates

Funding and hquidity

In addition to Carillion plc's principal
borrowing facilities described on page 30,
money market and short-term overdraft
facilities are avaable to Canllion plc and
certain subsidianies Cperating and finance
leases are also employed to fund longer-term
assets The quantum of committed borrowing
facilities available to the Group 1s regularly
reviewed by the Canllion Board and is
designed ta satisfy the requirements of the
Group's business plan At 31 December 2010,
the Group had undrawn committed faciities
amounting to £456 5 milhon (2009 £518 4
million) This excludes the Group's share of
cash balances amounting to £175 1 milhon
{2009 £144 5 million) within jointly controlled
operations, which are outside of the Group's
faciliies These cash balances are available to
the Group to the extent that they are not
needed to meet the working capital
requirements of the jointly controlled
operatians

Counterparty risk

The Group undertakes sigruficant financial
transactions only with counterparties that
have strong credit ratings The limits and
requirements in respect of such transactions
are reviewed regularly by the Board of
Carilltan plc

Foreign exchange

The Group hedges all significant currency
transactron exposures using foreign exchange
sk management techniques In order to
protect the Group's balance sheet from the
impact of exchange rate volatiity, foreign
currency net assets are hedged using
matching currency loans equivalent to at least
60 per cent of the net asset value where
these assets exceed the equivalent of

£10 millon Profits ansing within overseas
subsidiaries are not hedged unless it 1s
planned to make a distribution Such
distributions are then treated as currency
transactions and hedged accordingly

The average and year-end exchange rates
used to translate the Group's overseas
operations were as follows

Average Year End
fsterfing 2010 2009 2010 2009
Middle East
{US Dollar) 155 156 157 16
Oman (Rial) 060 060 060 062

UAE (Dirhams} 569 572 575 593
Canada (Dollar} 160 178 156 169
Trrudad (Dollary 984 981 1002 10 23

Interest rates

The Group's borrowing facilities are at
floating rates of interest inked to the London
InterBank Offered Rate, UK base rate or
prevailing local currency interest rates
Short-term bank deposits and foreign
currency hedging transactions are executed
only with highly credit-rated authonsed
counterparties and credit exposures to
counterparties are monitored regularly so that
exposure to any one counterparty is either
within Board approved limits or approved by
the Board The Group has not entered into
interest rate dervatives to fix or hedge
interest rate nisk and currently none are
outstanding Certain longer-term assets

have been financed using fixed rate leases

Carllion has invested equity in a number of
Joint Venture Special Purpose Companies
(5PC) to deliver Public Private Partnership
projects SPCs obtain funding for these
projects in the form of long-term bank loans
or cerparate bonds without recourse to the
Joint Venture partners and secured on the
asseis of the SPC A number of SPCs have
entered Into interest rate denvatives as a
means of hedging interest rate nsk These
dervatives are interest rate swaps that
effectively fix the rate of interest payable

Credit risk
An analysis of the Group's credit risk 1s
provided in note 26 on page 85

Going concern

The Group's business activities, together
with the factors likely to affect its future
development performance and position,
the financial positian of the Group its cash
fiows, iquidity position and borrowing
facilities are described on pages 14 to 31,
entitled ‘Our Performance’ In addition, note
26 to the financial statements includes the
Group's obyectives, policies and processes
for managing its capital, its financial nsk
management objectives, details of its financial
instruments and hedging actiities and its
exposures to credit and hguidity risk

The Group has considerable financial
resources together with long-term contracts
with a number of customers and suppliers
across different geographic areas and
industries As a consequence, the Directors
believe that the Group is well placed 10
manage its business nsks successfully despite
the current uncertain economic ocutlook

The Dwrectors confirm that, after making
enquiries, they have a reasonable expectation
that the Company and the Group have
adequate resources to continue In operational
existence for the foreseeable future For this
reason they continue to adopt the going
concern basis In preparing the financial
statements

Richard Adam FCA
Group Finance Director
2 March 2011
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Our performance

Sustainability review

Sector leading
performance.

In this section of our Annual Report we
provide a summary of what we are doing
to make our business more sustainable.
A more detalled account will be provided
In our 2010 Sustainability Report, which
will be published on our website
www.carlllionplc.com/sustainability

in Apnl 2011.

Making tomorrow a better place
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1 Professor Quentin Leiper {left} Canilion Group
Chief Engineer s congratulated by Jonathan
Porritt for being named among the iop 50
sustainability leaders in 2010

2 The Al Futtam Canllion Joint Venture won
Construction Week's 2010 Corporate Socral
Responsibility Award, which was recewved by
Stuart Mee, Head of Sustainability for Carillion's
Mrddle East and North Afaca business, and
Arthika Narth Sustainability Coordinator for

Al Futtaim Carillon, at the awards ceremony

in Dubai

Qur sustainabihity strategy

Our sustainability strategy has been
thoroughly embedded across all cur
businesses over the last 10 years and 1s
regularly reviewed and updated Our current
strategy model for sustamable development
continues o be aligned with the four priornity
areas defined by the UK Government in its
sustainable development strategy, ‘Securning
the Future’, namely

> Sustainable communities and workforce

> Natural resource protection and
environmental enhancement

> Chmate change and energy

> Sustainable consumption and production

We have identifted 12 behaviours and
activities across these four priority areas
which affect the delivery of our business
objectives These behaviours and thetr
relationships with the four priority areas of
‘Secunng the Future’ are illustrated in the
diagram on page 32

During 2010, we began to redefine our
future sustainability strategy working in
partnership with Forum for the Future We
plan to publish the results of this detailed
exercise in our 2011 report and further details
of the work we are doing can be found i our
2010 Sustainability Report

Managing sustainability

Our commitment to sustainability 1s driven
by our Board, supported by a Sustainability
Committee This Committee 15 chaired by
our Chief Executive lohn McDonough, and
includes a number of Executive and Senior
Directors The Committee alse benefits from
expert adwice from two external members
Dame Julia Cleverdon Vace President of
Business in the Community (BITC) and
Jonathan Perritt, Founder Directer of Forum
for the Future

The Sustainability Commitiee 15 supported

by a Group Sustainability Ferum, comprising
our senior business leaders, that informs

the development of our sustainabihty strategy
shares best practice and ensures the effective
dissemination of our sustainability strateqy
and policies to each business Al our
businesses have a sustainability ptan and
objectives which form an integral part of
their annual business plans Since 2003 we
have organised an annual Sustainability Week
to coincide with World Environment Day in
June In 2010 this event facused on raising
awareness of the impact of the everyday
actrons of our people on the environment
and on the commurities in which we live and
work We organised a walk a mile challenge
duning the week and captured a total of 7,000
miles walked by our people

Qur performance

In the 2010 UX Sunday Times Best Green
Company awards Canlkon was ranked in

the Top 10 We also maintained our Platnumy
ranking in Business in the Community's
Corporate Responsibility index, with a score
of 96 5 per cent The Corporate Responsibility
Index involves a detalled, independent
assessment of Canllion’s sustainability
strategy management processes and
performance Such assessments enable us to
benchmark our performance against other
companies including those in different
market sectors

Carilkon continues to be a member of the
FTSE4Good Index and in 2010 we submitted a
full response to the Carbon Disclosure Project,
having done so for the first time in 2009

For the second year running one of our
loint Venture bustnesses in the Middie East,
Al Futtaim Carllion, won the Corporate
Social Responsibility Award at the 2010
Construction Week Awards held in Duba:
Canlhion Al Futtaim was declared the ‘clear
winner’ by the judges for addressing "every
aspect of Itffe and work for their employees
both staff and labour

In 2010, as well as continuing to set specific
sustamnability targets for each of our business
units and for the Group as a whole, we
focused on a number of important speafic
areas, namely

> engaqing with Forum for the Future, a
selection of our customers and also with
our own people to establish our future
sustainability strategy

> focusing on our carbon reduction
straiegy to work towards the delivery of
our target to reduce carbon emissions
by our UK bustnesses by 50 per cent by
2010, measured against a 2006 baseline

» setting challenging carbon emissions
targets for our Middle East and North
Africa businesses against a 2009 baseline
and establishing a carbon emissions
baseline for our business in Canada

> delivering our commitment to halve the
volume of construction waste we send
to landfill by 2012

> enable over 110 candidates to gain
valuable two-week work placements
in our businesses and supporting therr
re-introduction to employment, through
the Business Action on Homelessness
programme

The Group's sustainabihity targets for 2010
were based on 14 specafic and measurable
targets In order to drive continugus
improvement we set demanding targets
and our performance against them 1s
independently verified A full report on
what we have achieved will be published
in our 2010 Sustainability Report
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Qur performance

Sustainability review

continued

Sustainable communities and workforce
Creating a sustainable business requires the
commitment of all our people We seek to
achieve this through our Health & Safety
leadership, personal development and
employee engagement programmes, which
are described in more detal on pages 18 38
and 39

How we do business is based on our belief
that it 1s not only what we do that matters,
but also how we do 1it, which drives our
commitment to {iving our values in everything
we do We make Values Awards to our people
to recognise the outstanding contributions
they make to our success in delivering an
excellent service to our customers and to
creating a positive impact on the communities
m which we operate

We feel proud that our people are also
winning prestigious awards Qur Group Chief
Engineer, Professor Quentin Leiper, CBE was
named one of the Top 50 Green Leaders in
the West Midlands by Sustainabuity West
Midlands (SWi)

Our commitment to sustainable communities
also extends beyond the roles played by our
own peaple We have a community
engagement strategy for all our major
waorksites and projects and we encourage our
people to understand how Carllon can have
positive impacts on the communities

in which we operate and to participate in
community activities

Carion gives over one per cent of 1ts pre-tax
profits in cash or in kind to community
activities We are a national partner in the
Business Action on Homelessness (BAOH)
campaign, designed to help homeless people
break the cycle of 'no home no job' and since
becoming a partner in 2006 we have assisted
over 100 homeless people every year on their
Jjourney to full employment In 2010 as part
of our regular giving to good causes Carillion
donated a total of £25 000 to a wide vanety
of chanties nominated by our people all of
whom were asked to put forward thew
recormmendations and the reasons why they
wanted Canllion to support their chosen
charity

In 2010 Canlhon became a supporter of

the Defence Career Partnership, ‘Return to
Work’ Inthative Canllion will run a piot
programme for this scheme, offering a
number of weork placements to the Minustry of
Defence for ex-military personnel This project
will continue 1IN 2011 as we are committed to
ensunng that this programme 1s a success

As one of the UK's leading prowviders of
training for support services and construction
skills, we continue to work with the
Construction Industry Traiming Board and
contribute 1o the development of indwiduals
and communities

34 Canllion plc Annual Report and Accounts 2010

National resource protection and
enwvironmental enhancement

What we do and how we do 1t can have
significant impacts on the use of natural
resources and the environment We use our
knowledge and skills i develop sustanable
service solutions for customers io create
positive iImpacts in these areas

Canllion has developed and implemented
environmental management systems across
the Group and all our UK and Middle East
and North Afnca operations are accredited
10 15014001 by a registered third party A
number of contracts within our Canada
business have also become accredited in
2010 and we have a programme to exiend
accreditation to more contracts in 2011

The preservation of natural habitats and the
wildlife they support 15 iImportant both socially
and environmentally 2010 marked a major
milestone for cur work with the UK wildlife
Trusts Over the past ten years Carillion has
supported the Wildhfe Trusts through
voluntary wark by our employees and annual
donations to the Natural Habitats Funds

To date we have donated over £300 G00 to
this fund which has supported 48 projects
The local Wildlife Trusts which care for
almost 2,500 nature reserves across the UK,
are able to apply for grants from the Fund

to support conservation projects We also
encourage aur employees to work with

their local Wildlife Trusts on these projects,
especially where projects are close to Canllion
offices or worksites

In recognition of our ongong commitment to
integrate sustainability into our supply chain,
we continue to apply the principles of the

UK Government’s Sustainable Procurement
Taskforce (SPTF) ‘Flexible Framework’ In 2010,
we produced a new Sustainable Supplier
Charter, onlhine accrednation process and
e-invorcing system, with which our suppliers
are required to comply when working

for Canlhion

Carilion continues 10 be a member of the
WWEF-UK Forest and Trade Network (FTN} and
during 2010 we continued to work towards
ensunng we use timber products from sources
certified by the Forest Stewardshup Council
{FSC) on all our projects We report the
volumes and sources of the imber we use

to the WWHF-UK FTN annually and develop
detailed action plans for improvement

Dunng 2010 we successfully achieved full FSC
Chain of Custody for aur jeinery workshop in
Oman and for cur product sourcing business
in China

Mike Dilger from the BBC's 'One Show', accepts
a cheque for £35 000 on behalf of the Wildlife
Trusts bringing Carilhon’s total donations to the
Wildlife Trusts io over £300,000




Climate change and energy

Climate change 15 increasingly recogmsed as
the most serious long-term threat to human
prosperity and lifestyle The effective
management and reduction of greenhouse
gas {GHG) emissions has become increasingly
important, as 1t 1s now widely accepted that
companies will need to make substantial
changes to the ways in which they operate

if we are to respond efiectively to this threat

In 2007, Carllion set the challenging target
of reducing its direct UK carbon emissions by
50 per cent by 2010 measured against the
Group's 2006 carbon emissions, adjusted for
revenue growth Our progress towards this
target will be verified by a third party and
published m our 2010 Sustainability Report
in April 2011 To support the achievement

of this target, we have developed a carbon
reduction strategy and policy which involves
measunng and reporting our carbon footprint
each quarter, in accordance wath the
Greenhouse Gas Protocol carbon accounting
standard Qur carbon footprint covers our
direct emissions generated from buildings,
transport, travel waste and from plant
powered by fossil fuel on project sites

In addition, Canllion has regsstered for the
Carbon Reduction Commitment and has
invested resources 10 ensure we meet our
obhgations under these regulations

As a member of Busingss in the Commwuruiy's
‘May Day’ network, Carilhon was inwited 1o
present its work on sustainab ity at the
START event held in Bircningham in 2010
START is a national initiative, led by The
Prince of Wales’ Charities Foundation

that seeks to help people lead more
sustainable lives by encouraging them to
waork towards a more energy efficient
cleaner and kealthier future

Carilhon supported the WWF Earth Hour
duning 2010 where ights were simulianeously
switched off for an hour across the regions In
which we operate to show our commitment
to cimate change

For many of the schools we are constructing
in the UK, we are now providing Combined
Heat and Power plants Furthermore we are
delivering some of these schools as Public
Private Partnerships, ustng private finance,
which means we also provide mamtenance
and fachties management services for these
schools over the lives of the concession
contracts In the Middle East, we are
instaling photovoltaic panels at our

office in Abu Dhabi and we plan to

extend this to ather offices during 2011

In 2010, we continued to develop our 1
understanding of how our operations

afiect cimate change, together with our
commitment to developing new measures

to reduce these effects We regard this as
fundamental to the development of our
business and we have also linked thus to
other measures we are pursuing, including
the reduction of our overall cost base We
continue to promote the use of telephone
and video conferencing to reduce the need 10
travel, introduced more fuel efficient cars and
procured all the electricity for our permanent
offices from renewable or cimate change
levy-exempt sources We are also working
with our customers to provide sustainable
building, infrastructure and lifetime facilities
management and services

Qur 2010 Sustainabiity Report will provide
more information on our carbon reduction
programme when 1115 published on our
website in Apnl 201

Sustainable consumption and production
Carillion’s leadership in developing and
implementing 1ts sustainabity strategy

mode| which relates our impacts on the
environment and on society 1o business
performance, has made a major contribution
to the Group’s nsk management policies

and processes

These policies and processes address

strategic risks and those specific to
individual businesses and contracts,
ncluding economic social, environmental
and ethucal nisks and are therefore
fundamental to the management of the
Group and all its operations

1 Bunng our 2010 "Values Week', Canllion
employees volunteered for work on Wildlife
Trusts projects

2 Canllion employees at the Great Western
Hospital Swindon, are helping students in local
schools to understand sustainability and how
we can make our ifestyles more sustainable

We beleve that our leadership in
sustarnability differentiates us from our
competiters We seek to understand the
needs of our customers and their objectives
in respect of sustainability and to use our
knowledge and skills to meet ther needs
by developing sustainable service solutions
We also seek to promote sustainable
solutions by explamning to our customers
how a sustainable approach can not only
create positive impacts on the environment
and on society, but also reduce costs,
increase efficency and improve the qualty
of the services we offer

This demonstrates how Canllion's leadership
w sustainabity helps to diferentiate us
from our competiors and contributes 1o

the strong postions we hold in our

chosen market sectors
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Governance

Board of Directors

Experienced
leadership.

01 Philip Rogerson

Chairman?*

Age 66 Philip was appointed to the Board
in October 2004 becoming Chairman in
May 2005 He rs Chairman of both the
Nominations Committee and the Business
Integrity Committee Philip s also Chairman
of Aggreke plc and Bunzl plc He was an
Executive Director of BG plc from 1992 to
1998, latterly as Deputy Chairman

02 John McDonough

Group Chief Executive’

Age 59 lohn was appointed Group Chief
Executive In January 2001 having formerly
been Vice President, Integrated Facilities
Management, Europe, the Middle East and

Africa of Johnson Controls Inc He 1s a member

of the Nominations Committee Johnis
Chairman of the CBI's Construction Council
and a member of the CBI's President’s

Committee John was a Non-Executive Director

of Tomkins plc until its takeover in 2010

01 02
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03 Richard Adam

Group Firance Director

Age 53 Richard was appointed Group
Finance Director in April 2007 He qualified

as a chartered accountant with KPMG in 1982
and gained broad experience in a number of
public and private company finance director
roles from the age of 30 Immediately pnor to
Jaming Canlhon, Richard was Group Finance
Director of Associated British Ports Holdings
plc He was als¢ a Non-Executive Director and
the chairman of the Audit Commuitee of S5L
International plc untif its takeover in 2010

03

04 David Garman

Senior Independent

Non-Executive Director'??

Age 59 Appointed to the Board in September
2004, David 15 Charrman of the Remuneration
Commuittee and a member of the Audit and
Nominations Committees Dawvid was Group
Chief Executive of TDG plc until its takeover
in 2008 before which he was an Executive
Director of Associated British Foods pic,
having previously held senior positions in

a number of leading UK food companies

He 15 a Non-Executive Directer of Phoenix IT
Group plc St Modwen plc and a number of
private companies

04




05 Richard Howson

Chief Operating Officer

Age 42 Richard was appointed to the
Board on 10 December 2009 and has direct
responsibility for all of the Group's business
umis and for the Group's Health & Salety
and Sustainabuity programmes In June 2007,
Richard was appointed Managing Director
of Canlhion s Middle East and North Africa
businesses prior to which he held senior
positions in the Group's Infrastructure and
Building businesses

06 David Maloney

Non-Executive Director'??

Age 55 Dawid was appointed to the Board
in November 2005 and 1s Chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of the
Nominations and Remuneration Committees
David 1s a Non-Executive Director of Micro
Focus International plc Ludorum plc
Cineworld Group plc and Enterpnse Inns plc
He 15 also Chairman of the Board of Trustees
for Make a Wish Foundation UK Before taking

05 06

up these appomtments, David held senior
positions in @ number of services sector
companies, including Chief Finanoal Officer for
Le Merndien Hotels and Resorts Limited Chuef
Financial Officer for Thomson Travel Group
(Holdings} plc and Group Finance Director of
Awvis Europe plc

07 Steve Mogford

Non-Executive Director'? 4

Age 54 Steve was appointed to the Board
In September 2006 and 15 a member of

the Audit, Nominations, Remuneration and
Business Integnty Committees Steve was
appointed to the Board of United Utiities
Group PLC as Chief Executive designate with
effect from 5 January 2011 He will become
Chief Executive of United Utilittes Group PLC
on 31 March 2011

Prior to this appointment, Steve was Chief
Executive of Selex Galleo Ltd a Finmeccanica
company, which he joined in May 2007

From April 2000 to May 2007 he was a

07

Key

1 Audit Committee

2 Rernuneration Committee

3 Nomunations Comrruttee

4 Business Integnly Committee

Chief Operating Officer and Director of
BAE Systems plc with responsibility latterly
for UK naval sector consolidation

08 Vanda Murray OBE

Non-Executive Director' 234

Age 50 Vanda was appointed to the Board
in June 2005 and 15 a member of the Audit,
Nominations, Remuneration and Business
Integrity Commuttees Vanda 1s Chairman

of Vphase plc, Deputy Chairman of the

North West Regional Development Agency
and is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute

of Marketing She 15 also a Non-Executive
Director of SIG plc and The Manchester
Airport Group plc Vanda was Chief Executive
Officer of Blick plc from 2001 10 2004 a
Director of Ultraframe plc from 2002 to 2006,
Non-Executive Chairman of Eazyfone Limited
from 2006 to 2009 and has also served as

a Trustee and Non-Executive Director of

The Manufacturing Institute She was
appointed OBE in 2002 for Services to
Industry and to Export

08
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Report of the Directors

The Directors’ report should be read in conjunction with the
Chairman’s statement the Group Chief Executive’s review the
Operating and financial review, the Corporate Governance report
and the Remuneration report which are incorporated by reference
in (@nd shall be deemed to form part of) this report

Principal activities and business review

Canflion 1s a leading UK integrated support serwices company
with a substantial portfolio of Public Private Partnership projects
and extensive construchon capabities The Group has operations
in the LUK, the Middle East and North Africa and in Canada and
the Canbbean

A review of the Group’s businesses, financial performance and future
developments 1s contained in the Chairman’s statement, Group
Chief Executive’s review and the Operating and financial review

The following specific issues are discussed In the sections shown
N brackets

> achievements in respect of the Group’s Key Performance Indicators
(KPIs) in 2010 and the KPIs set for 2011 (Group Chief Executive's
review — see pages 16 to 21)

> financial performance in 2010 (Operating and financial review —
see pages 22 to 31)

> principal operational risks and risk management (Group Chief
Executive’s review — see page 17)

> treasury policy and financoal nsk management (Operating and
financial review — see pages 30 and 31)

> socal, community and environmental 1ssues (Sustainability review
- see pages 32 to 35}

> resources and employees (Group Chief Executive's review see
page 18 and Report of the Directors — see pages 38 and 39)

Analysis of revenue and net assets by business segment and
geographical location are given in note 2 on pages 63 to 66

Share capital
Canllion has only one class of shares, with one vote far every share

Profits and dividends
The consclidated incorme statement 1s shown on page 54 Profit
before tax was £167 9 millkon (2009 restated £135 9 million)

A 2010 interim dividend of 4 8 pence per ordinary share (2009

4 6 pence) was paid in November 2010 It s proposed to pay a

final dividend of 10 7 pence per ordinary share (2009 10 0 pence) on
17 June 2011 to shareholders on the register at the close of business
on 17 May 2011 The record date and the payment date for the final
diwvidend are subject to change due to the iming of the effective
completton of the proposed acquisition of Eaga plc Any change

to the aforementioned dates will be notified to shareholders via a
regulatory anncuncement The payment of these 2010 interm and
final dividends amounts to £62 ¢ milhon (2009 £57 9 million)

A dividend reinvestment plan (DRIP) will also be offered allowing
shareholders a convenient means of reinvesting their dividends :n the
Company by buying further shares A DRIP application form is avalable
from the share registrar, Equiniti (see page 106 for contact details)
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Directors

The Dwrectors of the Company who served durning 2010 are shown on
page 47 of the Remuneration report Biographical details for each
Director at 31 December 2010 are given on pages 36 and 37

In accordance with the requirements of the UK Corporate Governance
Cade, all continuing Directors will offer themselves for re-election at
the Annual General Meeting on 4 May 2011 Richard Adam, Richard
Howson and lohn McDonough have contracts of service all of which
are subject to one year's notice of termination by the Company

Dan Kenny served as an Executive Director until he stood down from
the Board in August 2010 Don was appointed to the Board of Carnllion
plcin September 2006 and was responsible for much of Canllion's
Support services businass

The interests of the Directors and their families in the share capital of
the Company are shown in the Directors report on page 40

Indemnity

To the extent permitted by the Companies Acts, the Company may ‘
indemnify any Director, Secretary or other officer of the Company

against any hability and may purchase and maintain insurance against

any lrabihty The Company purchased and maintained throughout

2010, Drrectors’ and Officers’ liabilty insurance

Conflicts of interest

The Company’s Articles of Association permit the Board to consider

and, if it sees fil to authorise situations where a Director has an

interest thai confiicts, or may possibly conflict, with the interests

of the Company The Board considers that the procedures it has in |
place for reporting and considering conflicts of interest are effective

Key contractual arrangements

There are no persons with whem the Group ar Company has
contractual or other arrangements, who are deemed to be essential
10 the business of the Group or Company

Employees
Information relating to employee numbers and remuneration 1s given
in note 6 on page 68

Employees are key to achieving Caniflion’s business strategy and the
Group 1s committed to i/mproving therr skills through training and
development and through nurturing a culture in which employees
feel valued for the contnbutions they make to the Company and
motivated 1o achieve their full potential

Carilion s core values of openness, collaboration mutual dependency
sustainable profitable growth, professional delivery and innovation
help to differentiate Carillion from 11s competitors by creating a culture
in which everyone i Canllion 1s encouraged to understand the needs
of their customers and to work in partnerstip with customers and
supphers to delver high-quality, value for money services




It 1s Canlhon's aim to foster a working environment in which all
employees are treated with courtesy, dignity and respect Canllion
strives continually to eliminate all bias and unlawfu! discnmination in
relation to job applicants employees business partners and members
of the public Employees who become disabled are, wherever possible,
retrained or provided with equipment that enables them to continue
their employment

The objectives of Carilien’s Equal Opportunity and Diversity Policy
are to

> have a werkforce that represents and responds to the diversity
of custormers and today’s society

> improve safety and quahty delivered through a balanced and
productive workforce

> reduce employee turnover, absenteeism and sickness levels and
thereby reduce costs and improve efficiency

> provide a fair working environment in which discrrmination 1s
not tolerated

> create a working environment free from discrimination harassment,
victimisation and bullying

> work towards finding ways 1n which under-represented groups
can fully realse their potential within the Group and to take
reasonable steps to help such groups

> ensure that all employees are aware of the Group Equal
Opportunimes and Diversity Policy and to provide any necessary
ongoing traning to enable them to comply with 1t

> be an organisation that understands and values employee
diversity and recognises the merits of having a workfarce that
reflects the diverse backgrounds and skills available within the
total population and accordingly provides all employees with
opportunities to develop and reach therr full potential

> ensure that all applcants are treated farrly during recruitment
processes and 1n accorgance with relevant legisiation and Codes
of Practice

> regularly review procedures and selection criteria for promotion
to ensure that individuals are selected and treated according to
ther individual abilines and ments

Carillion places great importance on open and regular commurication
with employees through both formal and informal processes As part
of this commitment, a Group newspaper, Spectrum’ is produced on
a regular basis for all employees

The views of employees on matters affecung thewr interests and
the success of Canllion are also sought through ‘The Great Debate’,
‘People Forums’, Team Talks’, and one-to-one meetings between
employees and their ine managers

‘The Great Debate’ 1s a major exercise which has been undertaken by
the Group 1n each of the last seven years involving a wide range of
employees that form a statisucally significant sample The results of
each Great Debate are used to inform and guide the development

of work related initiatives as part of Carillion’s strategy to be an
employer of choice ‘The Great Debate’ forms part of the Group's
ongoing programme to

> engage with employees to improve motivation and morale

> empower employees to contribute to the Group's development
both as an employer and as a business

» demonstrate Canllion’s commitment to listening to, and responding
to, the views of its employees

Carlhon also involves engages and consuits with employees through
‘People Forums’ which give employees an opportunity to express
therr views on business issues  The man objectives of the People
Forums’ are to

> improve employee information and consultation

> help employees feel more involved and valued

> support the continued education and development of employees

> mmprove business performance by improving the awareness of
employees to the business climate in which they operate

> help employees to be responsive and better prepared for change

'Team Talks' which are held monthly provide Carllion employees with
a face-to-face communication with thew hine managers and facilitates

two-way communication discussion and feedback It focuses on local
1ssues and key corporate messages and information

One-to-one meetings between indwidual employees and their ine
managers are also held to discuss performance and progress w order
to help all employees to develop and reach thesr full potential

Employees can also exchange best practice information via
BusmessXchange on the Group intranet

Canllion seeks to involve all employees in 1ts leading edge programmes
to integrate safety into every aspect of the Group's operations and to
improve its environmental performance, including the understanding
and appheation of the principles of sustainability Further information
on Health & Safety i1s given in the Group Chief Executive's review on
page 18 and on Sustamability in the Sustainability review on pages 32
to 35

Capital and shareholders

As at 31 December 2010, the issued share capital of the Company
comprised a single class of ordinary shares of 50 pence each Detalls
of shares issued during the year and outstanding options are given in
Notes 22 and 24 on pages 80 and 81 to the consolidated financial
statemenis which form part of thss report Details of the share
schemes in place are also provided on pages 49 to 51 of the
Remuneration Report

On a show of hands at a general meeting of the Company, every
holder of ordinary shares present in person or by proxy and entitled
to vote shall have one vote and on a poll every holder of ordinary
shares present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote, shall have
one vote for every ordinary share held

The notice of Annual General Meeting specifies deadlines for
exeraising voting nghts and appointing a proxy or proxies to vote

in relatien to resolutions to be put to the Annual General Meeting
All proxy votes are counted and the numbers for, against or withhetd
in relation to each resotution are announced and published on the
Company's website after the meeting

There are no restnictions on the transfer of ardinary shares in the
Company other than in relation to certain restrictions that are imposed
from time to time by laws and regulations (for example insider trading
laws) In addition, pursuant to the Listing Rules of the Financial
Services Authority, Directors and certain officers and employees of

the Group require the approval of the Company to deal in ordinary
shares of the Company

The Company 1s not aware of any agreements between shareholders

that restrict the transfer of shares or voting nghts attached to
the shares
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Report of the Directors

continued

Substantial share interests

As at 2 March 2011, the Company had recewved formal notification
under the Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the following matenal
heldings in tts shares

Number of shares held Percentage
Schroders plc 43,868,272 1098
Standard Life Investments Ltd 27932723 699
Amernpnse Financial Inc and its Group 20,084 340 503
F&C Asset Management plc 19,246 558 4382
Legal & General Group Plc 15,783,867 395
HBOS plc 14 036,048 35
UBS Investment Bank 13424 716 336

Policy for payment of suppliers

The Group’s policy i1s that 1ts indwidual businesses should agree terms
and conditions for transactions with 1ts suppliers and for payment to
be made on these terms prowding suppliers meet their obhigations to
the businesses’ satisfaction The Group as a whole does not apply a
general payment policy as this would not be practicable or appropriate,
given the diverse nature of the transactions undertaken by 1s business
units The Company does not have any trade creditors

The number of days credit outstanding for the Group averaged
60 days at 31 December 2010 (58 days at 31 December 2009)

Change of control

A number of agreements take effect alter or terminate upon a change
of control of the Company following a takeover bid, such as loan
agreements and employee share plans

Carilhon’s main credit fachbies including the £737 5 milhon Syndicated
Multicurrency Revolving Credit Facility dated 4 February 2011, contain
a provision such that in the event of a change of control any lender
may wrihin a 30 day consultation pened and if it so requires, notify
the Company that 1t wishes to cancel its commutment Any such
cancellation of commitment and the repayment of any outstanding
borrowings will occur on the date faling 31 days after the expiry of
the consultatron penod

Charitable and political contributions

Payments for chantable purposes made by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2010 amounted to £200,000 (2609
£200,000) The primary beneficiaries of these charitable donations
were The Transformation Trust, The Wildhfe Trust, the British
Occupational Health Research Foundatian, Business in the
Commumty CRASH RedR and Walking with Wounded

The Canllion Group also contnbutes more than one per cent of
profits per annum in cash or m-kind (staff time on community
projects) to community activities and 1s a corporate member of
Business in the Community

The Company and its subsidianes made no political donations
during the peniod under review

Property

There are differences between market and book values of interest in
land held as fixed assets, however, the differences are not matenal
in relation to the affairs of the Group

Financial instruments

information on the Carillion Group’s use of financial instruments,
financial nisk management cbjectives and polictes and exposure
1s given In note 26 on pages 83 to 87 of the consolidated
financtal statements
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Directors’ share interests

Qrdinary shares

The beneftaal nterests of the Directors, therr immediate families and
connected persons in the ordinary share capstal of the Company as at
31 December 2010 are shown below

Futly paid 50p As at 1 January 2010 As at 31 December 2010
ordinary shares owned Number Number
Executive Director

Richard Adam 16 419 138,019
Richard Howson 2,435 2,533
John McDonough 992,211 635 093
Non-Executive Directors

David Garman 14 300 14,300
David Maloney 10,000 10,000
Steve Mogford - -
Vanda Murray 12,300 12 300
Phihp Rogerson 3% 630 39,630

There has been no change in Directors’ interests in the period
1 January to 2 March 2011

Additional mformation for shareholders

With regard to the appointment and replacement of Direciors the
Company 15 governed by its Articles of Association, the Combined
Code the Companies Act 2006 and related legislation The Articles of
Assocation may be amended by special resclution of the shareholders
The powers of the Board are described in the Corporate Governance
report on pages 41 {0 43

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting will be held at 12 nocn on Wednesday
4 May 2011 at Austin Court, 80 Cambridge Street, Birmingham

B1 2NP The notice of the Annual General Meeting accompanies this
Annual Report and Accounts

Included in the AGM business s the proposal to renew the authornity
for the Company to purchase 1ts own shares As at 31 December 2010,
the Company had authority from sharehoiders for the purchase of

39 948 133 of its own shares

Recommended cash acquisition of Eaga plc

On 11 February 2011 it was announced that the Boards of Carilion plc
and Eaga plc had reached agreement on the terms of the recommended
cash acquisition by Carnillion of Eaga plc a leading provider of energy
efficiency solutions i the UK The terms of the offer values Eaga plc
at approximately £306 5 milhon Subject to the necessary approvals,
the acquisitan will be effected by scheme of arrangement pursuant 1o
Part 26 of the Companies Act 2006

Auditor

Resclutions to reappoint KPMG Audit Ple as auditor and to authorise
the Directors to determine its remuneration will be proposed at the
Annual General Meeting

Approved by order of the Board
R F Tapp

Secretary
2 March 2011




Corporate Governance report

General principles

The Board is firmly commutted to high standards of corporate
governance During the year to 31 December 2010 as detaled below
and n the Remuneration report on page 46, the Company compled
fully with the provisions set out in Section 1 of the Combined Code on
Corporate Governance (June 2008)

The Company will alse comply fully with the requirements of the UK
Corporate Governance Code {(June 2010) which replaces the former
Combined Code on Corporate Governance and which applies to
financial years begining on or after 29 June 2010

The UK Corporate Governance Code 1s publicly available at
www frc org uk

Ethics and Business Integrity Policy

Canllion has a clear and uneguivocal approach to business integnity
and ethics which underties the Group's core values of openness,
collaboration, mutual dependency, sustainable, profitable growth,
professianal delivery and innovation The Ethics and Integrity Policy
1s designed to ensure that Canllion conducts its business to the
highest ethical standards

The Ethics and Business Integrity Policy sets out the standards and
behawiours that all Canlhen employees are expected to meet wherever
n the world we operate The way Canllion delivers this policy 1s
reflected in the way the Group competes for business and delivers its
services focused on quality value for money and the reliability and
reputation of its employees

The policy 1s

Protubition of fraud, bribery and cerruption Carllion takes
extremely senously the effective prevention and detection of fraud,
bribery and corruption and any other fraudulent or corrupt actvity
it witl not tolerate them in any form The Board s fully committed
to promoting a zero tolerance approach across the Cardlion Group

Gifts and hospitahity 1t is prohibited for a Canllion employee to
offer or recerve gifts or hospitality that could influence or be perceved
to be capable of influenang the outcome of transactions or decsions
relating to Canllion’s business There 1s 8 Gifts and Hospitality Policy

Insider trading Those who have access to inside informatian are
advised of their respansibilities under the insider dealing rules There
15 a Carnlhion Insider Dealing Code

Conflicts of interest All Carillon employees must disclose or seek
direction on any issues that could potentially conflict with their
responsibilities te the Company There is a Conflicts of Interest Policy

Working with others We must ensure that we mamntain our ethical
standards and behave respectiully when working with others The
relationships with Canlhion's supphers and business partners are based
on the principle of fair and honest dealings at all times and in alt ways
We expect our suppliers and bustness associates and joint venture
partners to extend the same high standards to all others with whom
they do business including employees, sub-contractors and other third
parties There s a Purchasing and Supply Chain Code of Ethics and a
Sustainable Supplier Charter

Competition law Canlhon plc 1ts subsidianes and associated
companies under Carillion control have a policy that all business
activities are carred out in full comphance with competition laws —
the laws which prevent anti-competitive behaviour Competition law
prevents us from carrying out any activities that restrict competition
and makes illegal activities such as price fixing, unfair pricing, market
sharing and refusal to supply customers There 1s a Competition
Comphance Guide

Money laundering Canllion aimns to mamntain high standards of
conduct by preventing cnminal activity through money launderning
There 15 a detailed Money Laundering Policy

Universal Declaration on Human Rights We support the belief !
that human nghts are universal and adhere 10 the principles of human

rights i our operations We support the United Nations Declaration on

Human Rights and wark hard to ensure that in all areas of interaction

with our employees, dients, supplers, third parties, interviewees

and joint venture parties that everyone is protected and treated

absolutely fairly Canllion has a Health & Safety Policy and an

Equal Opportunities and Diversity Policy

Law and regulation Carnllion respects the rule of law in all our
dealings and has minimum standard comphance with all law and
regulation to which our businesses are subject We have legal
compliance programmes for

> European Union and United Kingdom Competition Laws

> Bribery Act 2010

> Canadian Cnminal Code C46

> Carruption of Foreign Public Officials Act (Canada} |

Responsibality All of Canthon s employees have a responstbility to
protect Carllion’s assets including information and goodwill as welt
as property Canllon encourages its people 1o raise genuine concerns
about malpractice at the earhest possible stage and in the night way
There 15 a Whistleblowing Policy and an Ethies and Business Integrity
Incident Response Plan

This Ethics and Business Integrity Policy 1s applied by all Canllion s
business through a series of delalled procedures They allow Canllion
to carry into practice 11s reputation for ¢conducting business to the
highest ethical standards, which are essential 10 11s relationships with
customers business partners, employees, shareholders and the public
The detalled procedures reflect the way Carillion competes for
business, through the quality and value of its work and through the
reliability and reputation of its people

The Ethics and Business Integnity Palicy 15 overseen by the Business
Integnity Committee and its implementation 1s reviewed annually by
the Board

Directors

The Board

At the year ended 31 December 2010 the Company was led by a
Board comprising three Executive and five Non-Executive Directors
The Chairman and each of the Non-Executive Directors are censidered
to be independent of management They each have substantial
relevant experience and have no business or other relationshup

that could materially interfere with their Independent judgement
David Garman s the Semor Independent Non-Executive Director

In accordance with the Combined Code, the Executive Directors’
service contracts are terminable by one year’s notice

In 2010, a detailed internal evaluation of the Board s corporate
governance procedures and comphance was conducted by the
Chairman in comyunction with the Company Secretary The internal
evaluation teok into account the views of each of the Directors on

() the role of Directors, (n) the collective and individual performance

of the Board and all its members, (1) Board Committees, (v} leadership
and culture, {«) Corporate Governance, (vi) Directors’ remuneration

{vn) relations with shareholders and {vin) Board accountability and

audht The Board at 1ts meeting in November 2010 reviewed the results
of the internal evaluation and where required, 1ssues were acted upon
in order to further enhance the effectiveness of the Board's procedures
and working practices Such an evaluation has been conducted in each
of the last nine years and will be repeated annually In additicn, the
performance of each individual Director has been reviewed
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continued

The dwision of responsibiities between the Chairman and the Group
Chief Executive has been agreed by the Board and encompasses the
following parameters

> the primary job of the Chairman of a public company 15 to
provide continuity, experience and governance while the Group
Chief Executive provides leadership, energy, imagination and the
driving force
> the Chairman i1s viewed by investors as the ultimate steward of the
business and the guardian of the interests of all the shareholders
Nonetheless 1t s essential that the outline of their respective roles
encourages the Chairman and Group Chief Executive to work well
together (o provide effective and complementary stewardship
> the Chairman must
- take overall responsibility for the composition and capabiity of
the Board
— cansult regularly with the Group Chief Executive and be available
on a flexible basis for prowiding advice, counsel and support to
the Group Chtef Executive
> the Group Chief Executive must
— manage the Executive Directors and the Group’s day-to-day
actwibies
- prepare and present to the Board strategic options for growth
in shareholder value
- set the operating plans and budgets required to deliver the
agreed strategy
- ensure that the Group has in place appropriate nsk management
and cantrol mechanisms

The Board had a programme of 10 meetings in 2010 and 1t also
met on an ad hoc basis as required

A formal schedule of matters reserved 1o the Board for consideration
and decision 1s maintained These matters include

> statutory issues such as the approval of final and (interim financial
statements and the recommendation of dividends

> appointments to, and removals from, the Board and the terms

of reference and membership of Board committees

approval of Group strategy and annual budgets

approval of authonty levels, financial and treasury pohcies

authonsation for any acquisition or disposal

review of the internal control arrangements and nsk management

strategies

> review of corporate governance arrangements

VVYVvy

The Executive Directors and the Canllion subsidiary companues operate
within clearly defined limits of authonity delegated by the Board and
any matters outside of these imits must be referred to the Board for
consideration

All Directors have access to the Company Secretary, who I1s respensible
to the Board for ensuring that agreed procedures and applicable rules
and requlations are observed The Board approves the appointment
and removal of the Company Secretary

Any Director may in furtherance of his duties take independent
professional advice when necessary, at the expense of the Company

The Board 13 provided with regular and timely information on the
financial performance of businesses within the Group, and of the
Group as a whole, together with reports on trading matters, markets
Health & Safety sustainabihty and other relevant issues
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Board Committees

The principal Board Commuttees are the Remuneration Committee,
the Audit Committee, the Nominations Committee and the Business
Integnity Commuttee The Company Secretary acts as secretary

to each of these committees The terms of reference of each of

the Board Committees are avallable on the Canllion website at
www carilllionplc com or on request from the Company Secretary

The membership of each of the principal committees 1§ as follows

Remuneration Committee
Dawid Garman, Chairman
Dawid Maleney

Steven Mogford

Vanda Murray

The Commuttee consists entirely of independent Non-Executive
Directors and has a key role in reviewing and adwvising the Board on the
appropriate remuneration for the Executive Directors of Canllion plc
Further details on remuneration 1ssues are given on pages 46 to 51

Audit Committee

Dawvid Maloney, Chairman
Dawid Garman

Steven Mogford

Vanda Murray

This Commuttee consists entirely of independent Non-Executive
Directors For further information see the Report of the Audit
Committee on pages 43 and 44

Nominations Committee
Philip Rogersan, Chairman
Dawid Garman

David Maloney

John McDoncugh

Steven Mogferd

Vanda Murray

The Commuttee reviews the struciure size composition, balance

of skills, knowledge and expenence of the Board and makes
recommendations to the Board with regard 1o any changes that are
deemed desirable The Committee also reviews succession planning
to ensure that processes and plans are in place with regard to both
Board and senior appointments

Business Integrity Committee
Philip Rogersen, Chairman
Steven Mogford

Vanda Murray

The Committee established in December 2010 in succession to the
Review Commitiee reviews and oversees the implementation of the
Group's Ethics and Business Integrity Policy, monitors the Group's
comphance with relevant legislation such as the Bribery Act 2010 and
the Competition Act 2006, ensures that the Group's communication
and training programmes on ethics and business integrity 1s effective
n remnforeing ethical values and good practice and reviews the policies
and practice in respect of business ethics and integnity in refation to
the commencement of operations in any new country or territory in
which the Company has not previously operated




Attendance at meetings in 2010
The number of full scheduled Board and Committee meetings
attended by each Director dunng 2010 was as follows

Audit  Remuneration Nomnatians

Board Committee Committee Committee
Number of meetings held 10 4 3 3
Richard Adam 10 - -
Dawid Garman 10 4 3
Richard Howson 10 - - -
Donald Kenny* 6 - - -
David Maloney 10 4 3 3
John McDonough 10 - - 3
Steven Mogford 10 4 3 3
Vanda Murray 10 4 3 3
Philip Rogerson 10 - - 3

* Mr Kenny stood down {rom the Board m August 2010

The Business Integrity Commuttee was established in December 2810 in succession to the
Review Commuttee and a schedule of meetings 15 planned for . 2091

Other Board matters

Policy on external appointments

Recogrusing that external appointments can broaden ther knowledge
and so be of benefit to the Company Executive Directors are
permitted, at the discretion of the Board, to accept a imited number of
such appointments and retain the fees received for such appomiments
lohn McDenough was a Non-Executive Director of Tomkins plc and
Richard Adam was a Non-Executive Director of S5L International plc
until these companies were each taken over in 2010

Nomination and remuneration of Directors
The appointment of a Director 1s a matter for resolution by the Board
as a whole, taking adwvice from the Nominations Committee

for Board appointments the Normunations Committee has used the
services of the executive recruitment consultants JCA and Odgers
Detalls of potential candidates are provided by the consultants and
intrally reviewed by a sub-committee of the Nominations Committee
Meetings with selected candidates are then held with Directors
Subsequently, the Nominations Committee meets to recommend

an appaintment, which 1s then proposed to the Board for approval

In the case of Non-Executive Directors, imitral appointments are
narmally for three years, reappointment is subject to review and 1s
not automatic

The fees of Non-Executive Directors are determined by the Board as a
whale, taking into account the commitment required and participation
in the work of committees and other advisary services in relation to
the business of the Group In advising the Board on such fees it 1s the
policy of the Executive Directors to seek independent external advice
concerning the appropnateness of the amounts by companson with
general practice The level of fees currently payable to the Non-
Executive Dwrectors s based on independent external adwice

The remuneration of the Directors 1s dealt with in the Remuneration
report on pages 46 to 51

Retirement of Directors

1n accordance with the UK Corperate Governance Code, all Directors
will submut themselves for re-election at at the Annual General Meeting
to be held on 4 May 2011 with the exception of David Garman who
will stand down from the Board at the AGM

The service contracts of the Executive Directors and the terms and
conditions of appaintment of the Non-Executive Directors are avanlable
far inspection at the registered office of the Company during normal
business hours on any weekday (bank holidays excepted) and at the
Annual General Meeting

Induction and development of Directors

Directors are pronided with a comprehensive information pack on
Joining the Company and are advised of their legal and other duties
and obligations as a director of a listed company In addiuon, all new
Directors receive mduction on ther appointment covering such matters
as the operation and actvities of the Group the role of the Board and
the Company’s corporate governance procedures Dhirectors are also
briefed by the Company's external adwisers, where appropriate on
changes to legislation or regulation or market practice as well as
recewving briefings from business units throughout the year

At least once a year, the Board visits an operational site and in
November 2010 the Directors visited the Group’s eperattons in
Oman Directors also wisit other operations and meet a wide range
of employees

The regular updating of Directors’ skills and knowledge 15 encouraged
and a procedure has been established whereby the Company Secretary
1s notified by Directors of their requirements in this respect

Relations with shareholders

in additon to communicating with shareholders generally from time
to ume the Executive Directors and the Director of Group Corporate
Affairs meet regularly with representatives of major shareholders in
order to foster the mutual understanding of objectives Meetings are
also held with other shareholders and prospective shareholders The
details of these meelings are reported to the Board The Chairman
and Senior Independent Non-Executive Director are availlable for
meetings with representatives of major shareholders as required

Private and institutional shareholders are encouraged to attend the
Company's Annual General Meeting

The Company complies fully with the provisions of the UK
Corporate Governance Code in respect of the notice content of
agenda and conduct of its Annual General Meetings The Charrmen
of the Remuneration and Audit Committees will be present at

the Annual General Meeting on 4 May 2011 to respond 10
shareholders' questions

Accountability and Audit

Report of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists entirely of independent Non-Executive
Directors

David Maloney, Chairman
Dawd Garman
Steve Mogford
Vanda Murray

Dawd Maloney 1s an accountant who previously held a number of
senior finance posts including Chief Financial Officer for Le Meridien
Hotels and Resorts, Chief Financial Officer for the Thomson Travel
Group {(Holdings} plc and Group Finance Director of Awvis Europe ple
Dawid was appointed to the Audit Committee in December 2005

Dawvid Garman was appointed to the Audit Commuttee in October
2004 Until takeover in 2008 David was Chief Executive of TDG plc
Dawvid 15 a Non-Executive Director of Phoenix IT Group plc, St Modwen
plc and a number of private companies

Vanda Murray 1s Charman of Vphase plc Deputy Chairman of the
North West Regional Development Agency and a Non-Executive
Director of SIG plc and The Manchester Airport Group plc Vanda
was appointed to the Audit Committee in July 2005

Steve Mogford 1s Chief Executive designate of United Utilities Graup
PLC and will become Chief Executive on 31 March 2011 Prior to
this appointment, Steve was Chief Executive of Selex Galiteo Ltd
From Apnil 2000 to May 2007 he was a Director of BAE Systems plc
Steve was appointed to the Audit Committee in September 2006

Appointments {0 the Committee are made by the Board
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The Audit Committee has in attendance at meetings, by invitation of
the Committee Executive Directors, representatives of the external
auditors (KPMG Audit Plc), the Group Head of Risk and the Head of
Internal Audit It 1s also able to invite others as it requires from tme
ta tme The Committee also meets privately with both the external
and nternal auditors

The responsibilities of the Audit Committee include

» the review of the annual and interim financial statements

> consideration of the impact of changes to accounting regulations
and the finanaial and accounting pohicies of the Canllion Group

> comphance with statutory and other external requirements

> reviewing the role of the internal audit functron and the results
of its audit work and the response of management

> reviewing the scope and results of the external audit and 1ts
cost-effectiveness

> ensuring that the internal and external audit functions are
complementary

> monitoring the iIndependence and objectivity of the external
auditors and ensuring that the services prowided (including
non-audit services) provide a proper balance between objectivity
and value for money

> recommending to the Board the external auditors to be proposed
to shareholders for appaintment

The Committee 1s authorised by the Board to (i} seek any information
necessary to fulfi its duties, (i) call any member of staff 1o be
questioned at a meeting of the Commitiee as and when required and
(m) obtain external professional advice, at the Company's expense
which might be necessary far the fulfilment of its duties

Main activities of the Audit Committee in the year to

31 December 2010

In 201C the Committee met on four occasions and dealt with the
following matters

internal audit reports including control of risk

annual and intenim financial statements

KPMG Audit Plc audit review

reappointment of KPMG Audit Plc

2010 external audit plan

2010 and 2011 internal audit plans

assessment of the going concern basis

review of complance with the Combined Code on Corporate
Governance (June 2008)

> the external audt fee

VVVVVYVYYVYY

An evaluation of the external audit function was undertaken and
considered by the Audit Comnuttee, followng which the Committee
recommended to the Board the reappointment of KPMG Audit Pic
as auditor to the Company and for 1t 1o be put to shareholders
general meeting

The members of the Committee receive fees as Non-Executive
Directors which also reflect their membership of the Audit Committee
and other Board committees The charman of the Audit Committee
receives an additionat fee for this role Detads of remuneration are
given on page 47
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Internal controls

The Board 15 ultimately responsible for the Group’s system of internal
control This responsibility includes clearly determining the contral
environment and reviewing annually the effectiveness of the internal
control systern However such a system can provide only reasonable
and not absolute assurance against matenal misstatement or loss

In accordance with the Turnbull Guidance for Directors ‘Internal
Control Guidance for Directors on the Combined Code’, the Board
confirms that there 15 an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating
and managing the significant risks (both finangial and non-financial
and including Corporate Social Responsibility risks) faced by the
Group (including Joint Ventures and overseas businesses) The process
has been in place for the year under review and up to the date of
approval of the Annual Report and Accounts and 1s regularly reviewed
by the Board

Assurance over the design and operation of internal controls across
the Group s provided through a combination of technigues

> Internal Audit carnes out audns to assess the adequacy and
effectiveness of internal controls over the key nsks faced by the
business and reports its findings to management, the Executive
Birectors and the Audit Committee The Audit Plan 15 presented
to and approved by the Audit Commuttee annually

> recommendations to improve the system of control are made by
Internal Audit The implernentation of these recommendatiens
15 followed up and reported on quarterly

> Internal Audit independently reviews the nisk identification
procedures and control processes implemented by management

> a process of Control Risk Self-Assessment 15 used 1n the Group
where Directors and senior managers are required to detail and
certify controls in operation to ensure the control environment in
their business areas Is appropriate They also confirm annually n
writing, that nsk management processes and approprate controls
are in place and are operating effectively

> Internal Audit adwises on aspects of the design and application
of internal controls in key business projecis and on policy and
procedure changes

Internal Audit reports to the Audit Commidtee on a regular basis
The Audit Committee reviews the assurance procedures and
ensures that the level of confidence required by the Board 1s
obtained It also ensures the financral reporting process s credible
and rehable The Audit Committee presents its findings to the Board
regularly and the Head of internal Audit has direct access to the
Audit Committee members

Any significant iternal control issues would be disclosed in this report
On the basis of the assurances given in 2010, no disclosures in this
respect are required

Risk management

The Board s ultimately responstble for ensunng that the Group’s
systems for risk management are appropriate and operating effectively
However such a system can prowvide only reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss

The Group Head of Risk is responsible for advising on strategic nsk
155ues across the Group, and for oversight of nisk traing The Group
Head of Risk 1s also responsible for carrying out an independent
appraisal of all projects before submission to the Major Projects
Committee (see page 45) This appraisal ensures that the
differentiating factors of the Group's offer have been properly
identified so maximising the opportunities available, it also involves
ensuring that all inherent and residual risks associated with the project
have been properly iIdentified and considered




Management Is responsible for the identification and evaluation of
significant risks applicable to its areas of business together with the
design, operation and monitoning of suitable internal controls These
nisks are assessed on a continual basis and may be associated with a
variety of internal or external sources, including control breakdowns
disruption 1n information systems competition corporate social
responsibility natural catastrophe and requlatory reguirements
Management is also responsible for timely and accurate reporting of
business performance and for ensuring compliance with the policies
set by the Board in its areas of business Regular performance review
meetings are held where management reports to the Executive
Directors on business performance, nsk and internal control matters
The resulis of these meetings are presented to the Board

The Majer Projects Committee a committee of the Board, acts as the
sanctioning body for major commitments and transactions including
capital expenditure, major contracts and company and business
acquisiions and disposals This committee has delegated authornity up
to specified levels of nsk as determined by a risk assessment matnx
beyond which Board approval is required

In addition practical gudance for all staff 1s mamntained in Group
policy and procedure documents regarding the authorisation tevels
for commitments, contract selectivity and bidding, the provision of
guarantees and management accounting as well as reporting and
resclution of suspected fraudulent actvities

The Board has a policy to prosecute indwviduals found to have
defrauded the Company or its subsidiaries tearning points for
management are Identified and action plans implemented to
mimmise the recurrence of fraud

Employees are encouraged to raise genuine concerns about
malpractice at the earliest posstble stage and a conftdential
‘whistleblowing’ hotline provided by an independent third party
1s available

The Executive Directors report to the Board on material changes in
the business and the external environment that affect sigmificant risks
The Group Finance Director provides the Board with regular financial
infermation which includes key performance indicators and a
summary of nsk These key performance ndicators and risks are
hsted in the Group Chief Executive’s review on pages 16 10 21

Where areas for improvement are wdentified, the Board considers the
recommendations made both by the Executive Directors and by the
Audit Commuttee

Audit independence

The Audit Committee and Board place great emphasis on the
objectivity of the Group's auditor KPMG Audit Plc in their reporting
to shareholders

The KPMG audit director is present at Audit Committee meetings to
ensure full communication of matters relating to the audit

The overall performance of the auditor i1s reviewed annually by the
Audrt Committee, taking into account the views of management and
feedback 15 provided to senior members of KPMG unrelated to the
audit This activity also forms part of KPMG's own systern of quality
control The Audit Committee alse has discussions with the auditor,
without management being present, on the adequacy of controls and
on any judgmental areas These discussions have proved satisfactory
to date

The scope of the forthcoming year’s audit 1s discussed in advance by '
the Audit Committee Audit fees are reviewed by the Audit Committee
after discussions between the businesses and the local KPMG offices
and are then referred to the Board for approval Rotation of audit
direcior's responsibilities within KPMG 1s required by their profession’s
ethical standards The current audit director responsible for the
Carllwon engagement 1s in his second year of sigming the report

There 1s also rotation of key members within the audit team

Assignments awarded to KPMG and its associates have been and are
subject to controls by management that have been agreed by the
Audit Committee so that audit independence i1s not compromised

In summary, the procedures are

> audst related services as auditor this 15 the main area of work
of KPMG and 1ts associates Hf any additional accounting suppart
15 required then this 1s considered competitively
> tax consuling 1n cases where they are best suited Canllion
uses KPMG and its associates but the Group also uses other
tax consultancies Significant pieces of tax work are evaluated ‘
competitively
> general and systems consulting all significant ¢consulting projects
are subject to competitive tender

Other than audit, the Group Finance Director is required to gwve prior
approval of work carried out by KPMG and its associates in excess of a
predetermined threshold part of this review 1s to determine that other
potential providers of the services have been adequately considered

These controls prowide the Audit Committee with adequate
confidence in the independence of KPMG n their reporting on the
audit of the Group

Health & safety and sustamnability

A review of the Group’s progress on Health & Safety 15 provided

in the Group Chief Executive s review on page 18 and the Group s
Sustainabiity performance 1s contamed in the Sustainability review
on pages 32 10 35

PRy

Secretary
2 March 201
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Remuneration report

This report explains what we pay to the Directors of Canllion pic and
why It has been prepared on behalf of the Board by the Remuneration
Commuittee It will be presented for approval at the Annual General
Meeting on 4 May 2011 and David Garman, Chairman of the
Remuneration Commutiee will be available to answer shareholders’
quastions

Remuneration Committee members and advisers

The Remuneration Commuttee consists exclusively of independent
Non-Executive Directors, David Garman, David Maloney Steve
Mogford and Vanda Murray |ts terms of reference can be found
on the Company’s website www canlhonplc com The Commitiee
determines policy for remuneration of the Executive Dwectors of
Carilhion plc and key members of the serior management team

The Remuneration Commuttee 1s assisted in 1ts work by Susan Morton
Group HR Director and by John McDonough, Group Chief Executive
The Group Chief Executive 1s consulted on the remuneration of those
who report directly to him and also of other senior executives No
Executive Director or employee I1s present or takes part in discussions
in respect of matters relating directly to thewr own remuneration

Additionally the Remuneration Committee uses Delaitte LLP to prowide
salary survey and benchmarking information and external and internal
contextual information and analysis as required Delaitte LLP, which
was appointed in 2005 also provides internal audit services and
certain specialist consultancy services (including accounting advice in
relation to the acquisition of Eaga plc) but otherwise has no other
connections with the Group

The Committee adopts the principles of good governance as set out
in the Combined Code and complies with the Listing Rules of the
Financial Serwices Authority and the Cirectors’ Remuneration Report
Regulatrons 2002 The Commuttee will comply with the requirements
of The UK Corporate Governance Code |t met three imes during
the year and all members attended all meetings

Remuneration phifesophy

Carnllion’s remuneration philosophy 15 that reward should be used to
incentivise Executive Directors in @ manner which 1s consistent with
the Group’s objectives and

() supports I1ts strategic objective of attracting, developing and
retamning excellent people and encouraging them to work 1in
hne with Carillion’s values

(1) aligns the interests of the Directors with those of shareholders
and other stakeholders As a result, a substantial proportion of
Executive Directors’ remuneration is variable

() applies demanding performance conditions to deliver sustained
profitable growth

() has due regard to actual and expected market conditions and

(v) includes achieving high standards in respect of Carillion’s
Health & Safety, envircnmental and social performance targets

Remuneration and other benefits are reviewed annually with regard

to competitive market practice and where considered appropnate
are supporied by external independent surveys
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Elements of remuneration

Basic salary

This 1s reviewed annually, taking account of mdividual expenence and
performance and by reference to information prowided by independent
sources The Remuneration Committee has adopted a policy of setting
basic salary within the market range of salanes for equivalent roles

and expects to pay around the median when the indwvidual has been
performing in the role for a reasonable period of time

With the exception of Richard Howson whose salary was increased
from £295,000 to £385 000 on his appointment as Chief Operating
Officer, salary increases for Executive Directors in 2010 were zero in
hne with pay for other employees and 1n 2011 will be zero in line with
pay for other senior employees

Annual performance bonus and deferred bonus plan

The bonus plan ts designed to drive and reward excellent operational
performance, inking the interests of shareholder and participants by
paying one half of the bonus in cash immediately and investing the
other half in shares of the Company for a two year deferment

Long-term share incentives

These require and reward exceptional performance based on
performance 1argets that are aligned to the interests of shareholders
Awards are made under the Canllion plc Long Term Incentive Plan
2006 known internally as the Leadership Equity Award Plan ('LEAP’)
Each Executive Director 15 required to hold shares acquired through
LEAP until the value of their total shareholding 1s equal to their
annual salary “Good leavers’ during the performance period recewve a
pro-rata award at the normal release date prowvided the plan meets its
performance requirements

Carillron share incentives comply with the share dilution guidelines

Pension benefits

Foltowing the closure to future accruzl of its defined benefit pension
schemes in April 2009, the Company offers competitive defined
contribution pensions to all Executive Directors Pensionable salary 1s
hrited by aninternal cap and salary supplements are paid on earnings
above the cap

Other benefits
These include a car or car allowance by indwvidual choice and
private healthcare




2010 Remuneration
The remuneration of the Directors of Carllion plc for the year ended 31 December 2010 1s set out in the table below This i1s audited information

Annual perfarmance bonus™

Basic Shares deferred Other
salaryt{ees Cash two years benefits  Compensation™ Total 2010 Total 2009
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Richard Adam 408 48 48 165 - 669 740
Richard Howson 325 45 45 217 - 632 33
Don Kenny* 207 - - 86 386 679 548
Jehn McDonough 632 75 75 240 - 1,022 1,162
Total for Executive Directors 1572 168 168 708 385 3,002 2483
Dawvid Garman 61 - - - - 61 61
David Maloney 58 - - - - S8 58
Steve Mogford 48 - - - - 48 48
Vanda Murray 48 - - - - a8 48
Philip Rogerson 188 - - - - 188 188
Total for Non-Executive Directors 403 - - - - 403 403
Total for all Directors 1,975 168 168 708 386 3,405 2,836

* Don Kenny stood down from the Board on 31 August 2010

{) There are no long term benefits other than pensions (see pages 48 and 49) and share incentives (see pages 49 to 51)

(1) Included in Qther benefits 1s a salary supplement for lohn McDonough of £168 210 (2009 £169 788) for Richard Adam of £32 812 {2009 £94 390) for Richard Howson of £64 921
(2009 £nil) and for Don Kenny £40 273 (2009 £61 832) in respect of salary over the internal pensions earnings cap Also included in Other benefits are the costs of accommodation
and schooling provided to Richard Howsan of £78 130 in associaion with his overseas posting to UAE

{m) The Board determines the fees of the Nen-Execuuve Directors based on independent external advice

{v) Jahn McBonough retained the fee of £56 439 he was paid 1n 2010 as a Nan-Executive Director of Tomkins plc and Richard Adam retained the fee of £48,750 pad as a Non Executive
Director of SSL International ple

(V) 50 per cent of the bonus 1s payable 1n cash and the batance deferred for two years in Canlion shares until March 2013

{1} Compensation in respect of his employment contract was paid to Don Kenny in September 2030

2010 Bonus Plan

In 2010 Executive Directors had the opportunity to earn up to 100 per cent of their basic salary through the bonus plan compnsing up to

25 per cent for personal objectives and 75 per cent for financial objectives Awards under the personal element are based on delivery against
clear and siretching objectives closely ahgned 1o the strategic aims of the Company

The perscnal objectives of the Executive Directors were agreed by the Remuneration Commitiee at their 3 December 2009 meeting and assessed
at 25 February 2011 to establish the exteni to which they had been met The obgectives included

John McDonough

> Delwer the Group reorganisation seamlessly to rescale UK Construction business and to support growth in the Group's international businesses
and UK support services in ine with the Group's publshed objectives

> Delver the ‘Step Up’ pregramme to achieve efficiency, quality and cost reduction targets to suppart margins, profit and profit growth in 2010

> Drive contract selectivity and risk management processes to deliver cash-backed profit

Richard Howson

> Lead the Group's Health & Safety strategy and programmes and make progress towards Target Zero, our objective of achieving zero
reportable accidents

> Lead and deliver an ongaeing successian plan, in consuftation with the Executive Directors, to ensure that we have strong and effective
business units and coniract management teams

> Demonstrate professional engagement with Carniblion s key customers and suppliers

Richard Adam

> Achieve 2010 budgeted net debt average net debt, and underlying profit before tax, consistent with the Group's prudent approach to
managing profit and cash

> Agree the Group’s main UK defined benefit pension scheme valuations with the Trustees and pension deficit recovery payments that reflect
this valuation satisfactonly

> Undertake the preparatory work required to refinance the Group’s banking faolities i 2011
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The financial element 1s datermined by outstanding perfermance against stretching targets based on growth in eamings per share The 2010 plan
hmits the amount of any award that may be taken in cash to 50 per cent of the bonus earned overall The balance 1s deferred into shares of the
Company that are held in trust and vest after two years The number of shares allocated 15 determined by the price prevalling at the date of bonus
award and by using this mechanism the value individuals receive at the point of vesting 1s aligned to the value delivered to shareholders over the
same period The bonuses awarded to the Executive Directors in respect of 2010 are shown in the remuneration table on page 47 (half of these
benefits being paid in cash in 2011 and the balance deferred to March 2013) Tax and National Insurance 1s calculated an the deferred element
based on the value of the shares at the vesting date and paid at that point

Similar deferral mechanisms have operated in respect of earlier years and during 2010 the following deferred bonus shareholdings vested

Bonus year Number of shares
Richard Adam 2007 67 555
Richard Howson 2008 17,100
Don Kenny* 2007 48,888
John McDonough 2007 104,627

* Dron Kenny steod down from the Board on 31 August 2010

The price prevailing on the above shares at the date of award was 382 5 pence (2007 bonus) and 250 pence (2008 bonus) At the vesting date of
the 2007 bonus the share price was 290 05 pence and 319 5 pence for the 2008 bonus

Pension benefits

In Apnt 2009 the Company closed the Carillien ‘B’ Pension Scheme to future accrual and the Executive Directors who were members of this
scheme became deferred pensioners, their deferred benefits being based on pensionable salary and service at the date of closure Future service
accrual will be on a defined contribution basis and benefits will be delivered through the Carillion 2009 Pension Plan This 1s a trust-based,
contracted-in defined contribution ptan set up for former members of the four closed defined benefit schemes

Defined benefit pensions accruing during 2610 to Executive Directors in their capacity as Directors of Canllion plc are set out below This s
audited information

Transfer
Increase n Increase in value of
accrued accrued pension
pension pension accrued Increase in
over year over year durning transfer value
Accrued excluding ncluding the period over the period
pension at inflanon inflation less member Transfer value Transter value after member
31 December 2010042 ! e Ik e contrb #I5 at start of year atend of year™  contnbutions™®
f per annum £ perannum £ per annum £ £ £ f
Richard Howson 22,946 1,045 - - 159,086 172 802 13,716
Don Kenny* 27,571 1,255 - - 463,982 488 987 25 005
John McDonough 34,551 1,573 - - 669,549 702 957 33,408

* Don Kenny stood down from the Board on 31 August 2010

(1) The accrued pension for Den Kenny 15 a1 5 April 2009 increased by inflation 10 31 August 2010

(2) The accrued pensions for John McDonough and Richard Howson are leaving service benefits at 5 Apni 2009 increased by inflazzon 10 31 December 2010

(3) These are the accrued pensions at 31 December 2010 less the accrued pensions at 31 December 2009 (the 2009 figure having been increased for inflation to 31 December 2010
31 August 2010 for Den Kenny)

(4} The value of accrued benefits includes the provision of life cover aver the entre year (1o 31 August 2010 for Con Kenny)

(5) Figures based on market conditons at 31 December 2010

The total rumber of Directors to whom retirement benefits accrued dunng the year was 3 (2009 3)

The Group makes contributions of 40 per cent of the internal earmings cap to registered defined contribution plans on behalf of the Executive
Directors in respect of earnings up to the internal earnings cap Executive Directors are required to pay 10 per cent of the earnings cap

The centnbutions made to defined contrbution pension plans on behalf of the Directors are set out in the table below This 15 audited
information

Plan Amount £
Richard Adam Carllion Pension Plan 52,709
Richard Howson Carilhon 2009 Pension Plan 52709
Don Kenny* Carnllion 2009 Pension Plan 35017
John McDonough Canllion 2009 Pension Plan 52709

* These contnbuttons are in respect of the period from 1 fanuary 2010 ta 31 August 2010

Death In service benefits are provided as part of membership of these plans Where applicable, the value of these benefits is also disclosed in the
table above

48  Carnllion ple Annual Report and Accounts 2010




The Company agreed with the Trustees of the Cardion pensien schemes to continue to operate an earmings cap after Apnl 2006 when
the external cap was removed The Canillion cap commenced at the level of £110,000 for the tax year 2006-07 and rises in line with the
published increases in HMRC's Life Time Altowance up until 2010 in ine with the table below Future increases are at the discretion of the

Remuneration Committee

Year Cap £
2009-10 129,000
2010-1 132,700

Alt the Executive Directors will be subject to this cap on salary in respect of their pensionable pay Bonus and other benefits recaved by Executive

Directors do not count towards pensienable pay

In addition, a salary supplement of 33 6 per cent1s paid in respect of earnings over the internal cap in place of the contributions the Company

would have made towards pension provision had the cap not been in place Salary supplements are taxed at source

No compensation will be provided in respect of the change 1o the Annual Allowance effective from & April 2011 the pension benefit structure for
Executive Directors will remain unchanged To the extent that the joint cantributions to the pension plans exceed £50,000 far individuals and they
consent to the arrangement, the Company will divert excess contributions into gross pay (subject to tax and national insurance contnbutions)

The Company does not contribute to any pension arrangements for Non-Executive Directors

Service contracts

Name Commencement Notice Penod Term
Richard Adam 2 Aprl 2007 12 months rofhng
Richard Howson 10 December 2009 12 months roling
John McDaonough 1 January 2001 12 months roling

Executive Directors have no additonal entitlement to compensation for loss of office Service contracts contain prowsion for early termination
and in such cases, the Remuneration Committee will consider the specific circumstances together with the Company's commitments under the
indwrdual’s contract and the requirement to mitigate Mitigation 1s applied 1o reduce any compensation payable 1o departing Directors

Nan-Executive Directors are not employed under contracts of service, but are generally appointed for fixed terms of three years renewable for

further terms of one to three years, If both parties agree

Long-term (share) incentives
The Leadership Equity Award Plan ('LEAP’)

The LEAP 15 offered to key people in the Company to provide an opportumty to earn a potentially higher level of reward but only where there i

commitment from those mdividuals and stretching performance targets are met

In any financial year Executive Directors may receive an award under the LEAP over shares worth 150 per cent of their basic annual salary
{excluding bonuses and benefits in kind), other senior executives may receive an award under the LEAP over shares worth up to 100 per cent of
their basic annual salary The extra 50 per cent awarded 10 Executive Directors will only vest if exceptional performance 1s achieved In exceptional
arcumstances a fust award of up to 200 per cent of salary can be made under the rules Thereafter the maximum opportunity will be 150 per

cent of basic salary

Under the terms of the LEAP, awards of ordmary shares in the Company can be made for nil consideration

All awards are subject to a mimimurm three-year performance period from the date of the award The vesting of the shares 15 subject to the
relevant participant remaining in employment and the achievement of specified stretching performance conditions based on annual average
growth in earnings per share above the Retall Price Index 'Geod leavers’ during the performance period receive a pro-rata award at the normal
release date provided the plan meets its performance requirements The progression 1s inear between each of the target levels specified The

requirements for current plans are as follows

Growth n eanungs per share

Level 1 RPI + 3% pa
Level 2 RPI+ 7% pa
Level 3 RPI + 12% pa
Level 4 RPI + 25% pa

30% vests

50% vests
100% vests
Extra 50% vests

Levels 1 to 3 apply to all participants, level 4 applies to the Executive Directors
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Awards were made in July 2006, April 2007, Aprl 2008, April 2009 and March 2010 At 31 December 2010 a total of 3 022 800 shares were
outstanding under the LEAP

The awards held by Executive Drrectors of the Company under LEAP as at 31 December 2010 are shown below This 15 audited information

As at LEAP Awards  Awardsloplions As at Mid market
}January  awards granted vesting dunng lapsing during 31 December share pnce on
2010 dunng the year the year the year 2010 Date of date of award
Nurmber Number Number Number Number award Pence
John McDonough
LEAP 2007 {maximum) 206 773 - 175757 31016 Nl 10 04 2007 4208
LEAP 2008 {maximum) 242,187 -~ - - 242,187 04 04 2008 3838
LEAP 2009 {maximum} 366,963 - - - 366,963 0704 2009 252 25
LEAP 2010 (maximum) - 297740 - - 297740 1703 2010 3186
Richard Adam
LEAP 2007 (maximum) 180,629 - 139 084 41545 Nit 10 04 2007 4208
LEAP 2008 {maximum} 156,250 - - - 156,250 04 04 2008 3838
LEAP 2009 {(maximum) 236750 - - - 236 750 0704 2009 252 25
LEAP 2010 {maximum) - 192 090 - - 192090 1703 2000 3186
Richard Howson
LEAP 2007 (maximum} 19,013 - 19013 - NIl 10 04 2007 4208
LEAP 2008 {maximum) 29,296 - - - 29296 0404 2008 3838
LEAP 2009 (maximum) 68,544 - - - 68 544 0704 2009 252 25
LEAP 2010 {maximum) - 138 888 - - 138 888 1703 2010 3186
Don Kenny*
LEAP 2007 (maximum) 98,039 - 83 333 14,706 Nil 10 04 2007 4208
LEAP 2008 {(maximum) 119,140 - - 13,238 105,902 04 04 2008 3838
LEAP 2009 (maximum) 180,522 - - 80,232 10G 280 0704 2009 252 25
LEAP 2010 (maximumy) - 146 421 - 146,421 NIl 1703 2010 3186

*  Don Kenny stepped down from the Beard on 31 August 2010

On 3 March 2010, 175,757 shares vested to John McDonough 139,084 to Richard Adam and 83 333 to Don Kenny The market price of
Carillion shares on 3 March 2010 was 290 05 pence The net asset value (before tax and national insurance) recewed by these Directors/former
Director was therefore, respectively, £509,783, £403 413 and £241,707

On 23 March 2010, 19,013 shares vested to Richard Howsen The market price of Carillion shares on 23 March 2010 was 319 5 pence reahsing
a net asset value (before tax and national insurance) to Mr Howson of £60,747

Share options held by Executive Directors
The number of options over Carillion plc shares held by Executive Directors of the Company under the Executive Share Option Scheme (ES0S)
in the penod ending 31 December 2010 are shown below This 1s audited information

Options Mid market
As at Granted Exercised lapsing A at Earhest share price
1 January dufing dunng dunng 31 December Exercise date from on date
2010 the year the year the year 2010 price which Expiry of grant
Number Number Number Number Number Pence exercisable date Pence

John McDonough
ESOS 2001 501,930 - 501930 - Nl 1295 090104 0901 N 1355
ESOS 2002 254,532 - 254 532 - Nil 2107 1903 05 190312 1975
ESOS 2003 150 795 - 150,795 - NIl 163 4 010706 010713 159 0
ESQOS 2004 124 728 - 124728 - Nil 184 9 310307 310314 1870

John McDonough exercised the above Executive Share Options on 3 March 2010 The market price of Carillion shares on this date was
290 05 pence The net asset value (before tax and national insurance) received by John McDonough was therefore £1,329,953

The oplion over 254,532 shares at an option price of 210 7 pence granted to John McDenough in March 2002 was made later in the year than
had been specified at the time of his appointment which resulted in an increased option price of 67 3 pence Therefore, in arder to ensure that
he was in no worse nor better a position as a result of the delay in the grant, a cash adjustment of 67 3 pence per share (less tax) was made
when the option was exercised

The ESCS options were granted at an exercise price equal to the market value of the Company’s shares on the three business days immediately
preceding the date of grant Options under the Inland Revenue Approved Executive Share Option Scheme 1999 {which carnes certain tax
advantages for UK employees) and the Executive Share Option Scheme 1999 are exercisable normally between three and 10 years after the
date of grant subject to the achievement of the performance condition For options granted from 2003 onwards, the following performance
cendition prevaled

Average compound annual earnings per share growth

{before exceptional nems) in excess of RP) over Percentage of option
the three year penod following grant that becames exercsable
Less than 4% 0%
4% 30%
Above 4% and helow 10% 30% to 100% (straight-line basis)
10% or more 100%
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Grants of options using this performance condition were made in
2003, 2004 and 2005 Carflion met the performance target such that
80 per cent, 71 per cent and 100 per cent, respectively of the shares
under option became exercisable

For options granted before 1 July 2003 the performance target
required that the earnings per share of Canllion over a rofling
three-year period must increase by a perceniage not less than the
increase In the UK Retall Prices Index over the same period, expressed
as a percentage, plus four percentage points per annum All options
granted pre-2003 have been exercised

At 31 December 2010, 56 401 Executive Share Options were
outstand:ng (2009 1,408,032 shares under optian)

Sharesave options were granted in November 1999 over 6,140 194
shares, in October 2002 over 3,995,803 shares and in November 2006
over 2,580,461 shares At 31 December 2010, there were no options
outstanding under the Sharesave Scheme (2009 1 349 565 shares
under option)

The Sharesave options granted in November 2006 became exercisable
n 2010 However as the option price was more than the prevailling
market price of Canllion shares the majonity of Sharesave optians
lapsed unexercised

There have been no changes to the interests of Executive Directors in
share incentives and options in the period 1 January to 2 March 201

Employee Benefit Trust

An employee benefit trust was established to acquire shares in

Carilion ple and hold them for the benefit of participants {including
Executive Directors) in the share incentive and share option schemes
A1 31 December 2010 the Trust held 38 302 Carillion shares

(2009 362,909 shares) representing 0 009 per cent of the 1ssued share

capital (2008 0 09 per cent) acquired over a penod in the open market

and which have a carrying value of £0 1 million (2009 £1 1 million)
The market value of the shares held at 31 December 2010 was
£0 1 milhion (2009 £1 1 million)

Additionally, a Quahifying Employee Share Ownership Trust (QUEST)
operated in conpunction with Caniltion in providing shares 1o employees
under its Sharesave Scheme At 31 December 2010 the QUEST

held 129 979 Carillion shares (2009 134 683 shares) representing

0 03 per cent of the 1ssued share capital (2009 0 03 per cent) at
subscription prices ranging from 115 5 pence to 296 25 pence per
share, 1o enable 1t to satisfy options under the Sharesave Scheme

The market value of the shares held by the QUEST at 31 December
2010 was £0 5 milion (2005 £0 4 million)

For detalls of dividends paid to the above trusts see note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 81

The closing rmud-market price of Canllion shares at 31 December 2010
and the highest and lowest mid-market prices during the year were
as follows

Share price

Pence

31 December 2010 384 4
High (29 December) 3859
Low (25 February) 2730

Total Shareholder Return (TSR} performance graph

The following graph shows the TSR of Carllion plc compared with
the TSR of the FTSE 350 Index The FTSE 350 was chosen as the
comparator group in order {o illustrate the Company’s TSR
performance against a broad equity market index of the UK s
leading compantes TSR i1s not used as a performance measure

for any benefits provided 10 Executive Directors

TSR graph for period 1 January 2006 to 31 December 2010

Approved by order of the Board

D N C Garman
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
2 March 2011
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Governance

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect
of the Annual Report and financial statements

The Directors are responsible for prepanng the Annuai Report and the Drrectors’ responsibility statement

Group and Parent Company financial statements n accordance with Each of the Directors of Canllion plc whose names and functions

applicable law and regulations are set out on pages 36 and 37, confirms that to the best of his
or her knowledge

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and Parent

Company financial statements for each financial year Under that law > the financial statements prepared in accordance with the

the Directors are required to prepare the Group financial statements applicable set of accounting standards and contained in this

n accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and applicabte law and 2010 Annual Report and Accounts give a true and fair view of

have elected to prepare the Parent Company financial statements the assets, habilities, financial position and profit of Canlhon plc

in accordance with UK Accounting Standards and applicable law and the Canllion Group taken as a whaole and

(UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) > the business review, contained in the Directors’ Report and the

operating and financial review section in thss 2010 Apnual Report

The Parent Company financial statements are required by faw to give and Accounts, includes a farr review of the development and

a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Parent performance of the business and the posttion of Canllion plc and

Company In prepartng each of the Group and Parent Company the Carilion Group taken as a whote, together with principal nsks

financial statements the Directors are required to and uncertainties they face

> select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently Disclosure of information to auditors

> make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent The Drrectors of Carillion plc confirm that at the date of this statement

> for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been and as far as they are indmvidually aware, the Company's auditors are
prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU aware of all relevant audut information and each Director has taken all

> for the Parent Company financial statements, state whether reasonable steps to make him or herself aware of relevant audit
applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject information and to estabhsh that the Company's audniors are aware
to any material departures disclosed and explained in the Parent of that information
Company financial statements

> prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis Approved by order of the Board

unless 1t 1s Inappropriate to presume that the Group and the
Parent Company will continue m business

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any ume the financial

position of the Parent Company and enable them to ensure that Richard Adam FCA
1ts financial statements comply with the Comparies Act 2006 Group Finance Director
They have general responsibility for taking such steps as are 2 March 201

reasonably open 1o them to safeguard the assets of the Group
and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregulanties

Under apphcable law and regulations, the Directers are also
responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report, Directors' Remuneration
Repart and Corporate Governance Statement that comply with that
law and thase regulations

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnity of
the corporate and financial infarmation included on the Company's
website Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation

in other junisdictions
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Independent auditor’s report to the

members of Carillion plc

We have audited the financial statements of Canlhon plc for the year
ended 31 December 2010 The financial reporting framework that has
been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements s
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards {IFRSs)

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing 1o report in respect of the following

Under the Comparues Act 2006 we are required to report to you i

as adopted by the EU The financial reporting framework that has
been apphed in the preparatron of the Parent Company financial
statemnents 1s applicable law and UK Accounting Standards {UK
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice}

This report 15 made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
Company’s members those matters we are required to state 1o them
n an auditor s report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent

permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Company and the Company’s members, as a body for

our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities of Directars and auditor

As explained more fully in the Directors Responsibifities Statement set

out on page 52 the Directors are responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements and {or being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view Our responsibility 1s to audit and express an opinion
on, the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and

1N our opinton

> adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent
Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
recewved from branches not wisited by us, or

> the Parent Company financial statements and the part of the
Directors' Remuneration report 1o be audited are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns, or

> certain disclosures of Directors” remuneration specified by law
are not made or

> we have not received all the infermation and explanations we
require far our audnt

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review

> the Directors’ statement, set out on page 31 n relation to
goINg concern

> the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to
the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the

International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's (APB’s) Ethical
Standards for Auditors

June 2008 Combined Code specified for our review, and
> certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board
on Directors' remuneration

.

=

Scope of the audit of the financal statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financal statements is
provided on the APB s website at www frc org uk/apb/scope/
prvate cfm

D K Turner
Opmnion on financal statements Senior Statutory Auditor
In our opinion

for and on behalf of KPMG Audit Plc Statutory Auditor

> the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state Chartered Accountants

of the Group’s and of the Parent Company's affairs as at One Snowhill
31 December 2010 and of the Group's profit for the year Snow Hifl Queensway
then ended Birmingham

> the Group financial statements have been properly prepared B4 6GH

in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU

> the Parent Company financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with UK Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice

> the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards
the Group financial statements Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

2 March 2011

Opimion on other matters prescribed by the Compamies Act 2006
In our opivion

> the part of the Directors’ Remuneration report 10 be audited
has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006, and

> the information given in the Directors’ report for the financial
year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent
with the financial statements
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Financial statements

Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009w
Note £m m
Total revenue 51390 56283
Less Share of jointly controlled entities’ revenue (902 5) {1125 1)
Group revenue 2 4,236 5 45042
Cost of sales (3,885 3) 4,154 4)
Gross profit 3512 3498
Administrative expenses (239 3} (264 9)
Group operating profit 3 119 249
Analysed between
Group operating profit before intangible amortisation and non-recurring operating 1items 148 9 1309
Intangible amortisation {27 6) (30 8)
Non-recurring operating items® 4 (9 4) (15 2)
Share of results of jointly controlled entities 2 460 592
Analysed between
Operating profit 646 849
Net financial expense (13 9) (21 8)
Taxatian {47 (39
Profit from operations 1579 1441
Analysed between
Profit from operations befare intangible amortisation and non-recurring operating items 194 9 1901
Intangible amortisation (27 6) {30 8)
Non-recurring operating items™ 4 (9 4) (15 2)
Non operating items 4 168 64
Net financial expense s {6 8) (14 6)
Analysed between
Financial income 1236 134
Financial expense (130 4) (128 0}
Profit before taxation 1679 1359
Analysed between
Profit before taxation, intangible amortisation non-recurring operating items and non-operating items 1881 1755
Intangible amortisation {27 6) (30 8)
Non-recurring operatng items? 4 (9 4) {152
Non-operating 1items 4 168 64
Taxation 7 {151) {11 5)
Profit for the year 152 8 1244
Profit attributable to
Equity holders of the parent 147 2 1206
Non-controlling interests 56 38
Profit for the year 1528 124 4
Earnings per share 8
Basic 36 9p 305p
Diluted 36 7p 303p

(1) Restated on adoption of IFRIC 12 (see note 32)
{2) This includes rationalisation ¢osts curtailment gain and the Cffice of Fair Trading penalty (see note 4)
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009
Note £m £m £m im
Profit for the year 1528 124 4
Net (loss¥gain on hedge of net investment in foreign operations (3 8) 10
Currency translation differences on foreign operations 47 (20 0)
Currency translation differences relating to non-controlling interests - o1
Increase in fair value of available for sale financial assets 59 -
Actuanal gains/iossesy on defined benefit pension schemes "o (2200)
187 (238 9)
Taxation in respect of the above 7 “@n 613
Share of recycled cash flow hedges within jointly controlled entities (net of taxauon}) 02 83
Share of change in fair vafue of effective cash flow hedges within
Jointly controlled entities (net of taxation) {13 4) (4 2)
Other comprehensive income/{expense) for the year o8 (17135)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year 1536 (49 1)
Attnbutable to
Equity holders of the parent 148 0 (53 0}
Non-controlling interests 56 39
153 6 49 1)

{1) Restated on adoption of IFRIC 12 (see note 32)
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Financial statements

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 Cecember 2010

Equit Non
Share Share Transtation Hedging Fair value Merger  Retamed sharehol?‘luts’: controll?ng Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve  earnings funds  interests equity
£m £m £m £m im im £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2010 as previously reported 198 6 16 8 {20 1) {15 4) - 419 4 1716 7709 63 7772
Impact of adoption of IFRIC 12 - - - 48 - - 99 (51} - 51
At 1 January 2010 as restated 198 6 168 (201) {10 6) - 419 4 1617 7658 63 7721
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year - - - - - - 147 2 1472 56 1528
Other comprehensive income/(expense)
Net loss on hedge of net investment
in foreign operations - - {3 8) - - - - (3 8) - {3 8)
Currency translation differences on
fareign operations - - 47 - - - - 47 - 47
increase in fair value of available for sale assets - - - - 59 - - 59 - 59
Actuanal gains on defined benefit schemes - - - - - 19 119 - M9
Taxation - - 11 - - - {5 B) 47) - (4 7}
Share of recycled cash flow hedges within
jointly controlled entities (net of taxation) - - - 02 - - - 02 - 02
Share of change In fair value of effective
cash flow hedges within jointly cantrolled
entities (net of taxation) - - - (13 4) - - - (13 4) - (134
Transfer between reserves - - - - - (26 3) 263 - - -
Total comprehensive income/{expense) - - 20 {13 2) 59 (263) 1796 148 0 56 1536
Transactions with owners
Contnbutions by and distnbutions to owners
New share capital issued 12 44 - - - - - 56 - 56
Acquisition of own shares - - - - - - (56) (56) - (56)
Share options exercised by employees - - - - - - 37 37 - 37
Equity settled transactions {net of deferred tax) - - - - - - {2 8) {28) - {2 8)
Dwvidends paid - - - - - - (59 1) (59 1) (23) {614)
Total transactions with owners 12 44 - - - - {63 8) (58 2) (23) (605)
At 31 December 2010 199 8 212 (181) {23 8) 59 3931 2775 B556 96 8652
At 1 January 2009 as previously reported 1978 129 [LeR)] (170 - 4491 2223 8642 34 8676
Impact of adoption of IFRIC 12 - - - 23 - - 19 42 - 42
At 1 January 20089 as restated 197 8 129 09 (14 7) - 4491 224 2 8684 34 8718
Comprehensive income!"
Profit for the year - - - - - - 1206 1206 38 1244
Other comprehensive income/(expense)
Net gain on hedge of net investment n
foreign operations - - 10 - - - - 10 - 10
Currency translation differences on
foreign operations - - (20 Q) - - - - (20 Q) - {200)
Currency translation differences relating
to non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - 01 01
Actuanal losses on defined benefit schemes - - - - - - (2200 (220 0) - (2200)
Taxation - - 022 - - - 615 613 - 613
Share of recycled cash flow hedges within
Jeintly controlled entities (net of taxation) - - - 83 - - - B3 - 83
Share of change in farr value of effective
cash flow hedges within jointly controlled
entities (net of taxation) - - - (42} - - - 42 - @42
Transfer between reserves - - - - - (297) 297 - - -
Total comprehensive income/(expense) - - (19 2) a1 - (297} (8 2) (53 0) 39 (491)
Transactions with owners
Contnbutions by and distnbutions to owners
New share capital 1ssued 08 39 - - - - - 47 - 47
Acquisition of own shares - - - - - - {4 2) 42} - (4 2)
Share options exercised by employees - - - - - - 0S 05 - 05
Equity settled transactions {net of deferred tax) - - - - - - 28 28 - 28
Dwidends paid - - ~ - - - (53 4) (53 4) 10y (544)
Total transactions with owners 08 39 - - - - (54 3) {49 6) 10y (5086)
At 31 December 2009 1586 16 8 (20 1} (10 6} - 4194 1617 765 8 63 7721

{1) Restaled on adoption of IFRIC 12 (see note 32)
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Consolidated balance sheet

At31 December At 31 December

At 1 January

2010 2009" 2009
Note £m fm £m

Assets
MNon-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 157 2 168 2 167 2
Intangible assets n 1,2212 1,241 3 1,276 9
Retirernent benefit assets 30 09 26 371
Investments in jointly controfled entities 12 134 8 1258 242 8
Other investments 13 M9 46 2 -
Deferred tax assets 14 1017 1325 1035
Total non-current assets 16577 1,716 6 1,8275
Current assets
Inventores 15 406 372 44 6
Trade and other recevables 17 1,052 4 1,038 4 1,186 8
Cash and cash equivalents 18 396 7 2672 2573
Income tax receivable 39 46 06
Denvative financial instruments 26 - 10 11
Total current assets 1,493 6 1,348 4 1,490 4
Total assets 31513 30650 33179
Current habilities
Barrowing 19 {52 0) (54 0) (58 0}
Derwative financial instruments 26 (02) - -
Trade and other payables 20 (1,706 B) (1683 6) (1,721 8)
Provisions 21 (13 5) {12 5) (23 4)
Income tax payable [CR)] (1 3) (ER)]
Total current habilities {1,777 6) (1,761 4) {1 806 3)
Non-current liabilities
Borrowing 19 (224 5) (188 3) (426 0)
Retrement benefit habilities 30 (250 3) (296 4) (146 2)
Deferred tax habilities 14 (28 0) 373 {59 6)
Provisions 21 (57) 95 80)
Total non-current Liabilities (508 5) (5315) (639 8)
Total habilities (2,286 1) (22929) (2446 1)
Net assets 865 2 7721 8718
Equity
Share capital 22 1998 198 6 1978
Share premium 23 212 168 129
Translation reserve 23 (181) (201) 09)
Hedging reserve 23 (23 8) (10 6) (14 7)
Fair value reserve 23 59 - -
Merger reserve 23 3931 4194 4491
Retained earnings 23 2775 617 224 2
Equity attnbutable to shareholders of the parent 8556 7658 868 4
Non-controlling interests 96 63 34
Total equity 865 2 7721 8718

(1) Restated on adoplion of LFRIC 12 (see note 32)

The finanaal staternents were approved by the Board of Directors on 2 March 2011 and were signed on 1ts behalf by

Richard Adam FCA
Group Finance Director
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Financial statements

Consolidated cash flow statement

For the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009
Note £m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Group operating profil me9 849
Depreciation and amortisation 63 4 677
{Profit¥loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment {13) 25
Share-based payment {income)expense (39 39
Other non-cash movements 14 {45)
Non-recurring operating items 94 152
Qperating profit before changes in working capital 1809 1697
{Increase)/decrease in Inventories (3 4) 41
{Increase)/decrease n trade and other receivables (8 3) 107 3
Increase/(decrease) In trade and other payables 129 (51 5)
Cash generated from operations before pension deficit recovery payments and rationalisation costs 1821 2296
Deficit recovery payments 1o pension schemes (352) (230}
Rationalisation costs {15 6) 17 1}
Cash generated from operations 1313 1835
Financial income recewed 1z 16
Financial expense paid {13 5) (23 3)
Taxation 27) 29
Net cash flows from operating activities 126 8 174 7
Cash flows from investing activities
Disposal of property, plant and equipment 55 55
Disposal of jointly controlled entity and other investments 29 458 1007
Diedends recesved from jointly controlted entities 481 386
Disposal of businesses, net of cash disposed of 29 (an 572
Acquisition of intangible assets {75) 43
Acquisiion of property, plant and equpment (171) (48 5)
Acquisition of equity in and net loan advances to jointly controlled entities (34 5) (15 2)
Acquisition of other non-current asset investrments (39 -
Net cash flows from investing activities 317 1340
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of share capital - 10
Proceeds from exercise of employee share options 23 -
Drawn down/repayment) of bank and other loans 502 (233 6)
Proceeds from finance leaseback 38 -
Payment of finance lease liabilities (17 3) (16 8)
Dwmdends paid to equity holders of the parent {591) (53 4)
Dwmdends paid to non-controlling interests (2 3) (10
Net cash flows from financing activities {22 4) {303 8}
Increase in net cash and cash equivalents 1361 49
Net cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 2524 2500
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on net cash and cash equivalents 26 (25)
Net cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 18 3911 2524
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Significant accounting policies

Carillion plc (the ‘Company’) 1s a company domiciled and incarporated
in the United Kingdom {tJK) The consolidated financial statements

of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2010 comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the ‘Group’)
and the Group's interest in jointly controlled entities

The consolidated financial statements were authornised for issuance
on 2 March 2011

Statement of compliance

The Group's financial statements have been prepared and approved
by the Directors in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the EU ("Adopted IFRSs’) The Company

has elected 1o prepare its Parent Company financial statements in
accordance with UK GAAP These are presented on pages 100 to 105

Basis of preparation

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in
dealing with items which are considered matertal in relation to the
Group's financial statements

The financial statements are prepared on 2 going concern basis
based on the assessment made by the Directars as described in the
Operating and financial review on page 31

The financial statements are presented in pounds sterlng They

are prepared on the histoncal cost basis except that the following
assets and habilities are stated at their fair value derivative financial
instruments pension scheme assets, cash and cash equivalents and
financial instruments classified as avallable-for-sale

The followtng standards and interpretations have been adopted in
2010 as they are mandatory for the year ended 31 December 2010

~ International Accounting Standard (tAS) 27 ‘Consolidated and
separate financial statements (revised 2008)’

- International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS} 3 ‘Business
combinations {revised 2008)

- International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)
12 ‘Service concession arrangements’

~ International Financiat Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)
15 ‘Agreements for the construction of real estate’

= International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee {(IFRIC)
16 Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation’

{AS 27 ‘Consolidated and separate financial statements (revised 2008)
and |FRS 3 'Busmess combinations (revised 2008} include revisions
relating to the accounting for acquisiions The principal change n
accounting policy 1s that attributable transaction costs relating 1o
business acquisitions which complete on or after 1 January 2010 are
expensed in the ncome statement in the period incurred Previously
such costs would have been capitalised as part of goodwill relating

to the acquisition In addition the term ‘non-controlling interest’ has
been introduced 1o replace the term ‘minonty interest’ The revisions
to 1AS 27 and IFRS 3 have had no impact on profit, earmngs per share
or net assets in the year ended 31 December 2010

{FRIC 12 "Service concession arrangements’ applies to the accounting
for Public Private Partnership (PPP) projects m which the Group
partiipates through jomtly controlled entities Principally, the impact
of IFRIC 12 on the Group's PPP projects 15 to

- recognise revenue and profit during the construction penod
which was not previously required

- expense borrowing costs in relation to frnancial asset projects
which previously were capitalised on the balance sheet

~ re-assess the obhgation in relation to life-cycle maintenance of
the asset constructed

The overall impact of IFRIC 12 1s to change the timing of when
profits are recogrused in PPP projects but 1t does nat impact the
total profit recognised or cash flows during the hfe of the PPP
project Comparative information has been restated for the effect
of the retrospective apphcation of IFRIC 12 as disclosed in note 32

{FRIC 15 "Agreements for the construction of real estate’ clanfies the
situations when a contract for the construction of property should be
accounted for in accordance with IAS 11 ‘Construction contracts’ or
IAS 18 ‘Revenue’ Where a contract comprises separately idenufiable
compenents the fair value of the total consideration is required to
be allocated to each component and revenue 15 then recognised
depending upon whether the component relates to the construction
of an asset (in accordance with 1AS 11) or the rendering of services
or defivery of goods (in accordance with 1AS 18) based upen a nisks
and rewards approach The adoption of IFRIC 15 has had no impact
on profit, earnings per share or net assets in the year ended

31 December 2010

IFRIC 16 ‘Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation’ clartfies
the accounting treatment of hedges in a foreign aperation, specifically
the nature of the tem to be hedged and the amount for which a
hedging relationship can be designated where in the Group the
hedging item can be held and the treatment on disposal of a foreign
operation The adoption of IFRIC 15 has had no smpact on profit,
earnings per share or net assets at the year ended 31 December 2010

In addition to the above, amendments to a number of standards

under the annual improvements project to IFRS, which are mandatory
for the year ending 31 December 2010, have been adopted in 2010
None of these amendments have had a material impact on the Group's
financal statements

The following standards and interpretations are effective for year
ended 31 December 2010 but are not applicable to the Group

- Amendment to International Accounting Standard {IAS) 39
‘Financial instruments recognition and measurement’

— Internatonal Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)
17 ‘Distnbutions of non-cash assets to owners’

- International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee {IFRIC)
18 ‘Transfer of assets from customers’

- Amendment to Internattonal Financial Reporting Standard (FRS 2)
'Group cash settled share based payment transactions’

The following standards and interpretations are effective for the year
ended 31 December 2011

- Amendments to International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Commuttee (IFRIC) 14 'Prepayment of a mimmum funding
requirement’

- Imternational Financial Reporting Interpretattons Committee {(IFRIC)
19 ‘Extinguishing financeal labilities with equity nstruments’

~ Amendment te International Financial Reporuing Standard (IFRS) 7
‘Improving disclosures about financial instruments'’

- International Accounting Standard {IAS) 24 ‘Related party
disclosures (revised 2009)'

- Amendment to International Accounting Standard (1AS) 32
‘Classification of rights issug’

The Group has considered the impact of these new standards and
interpretations in future periods on profit, earnings per share and
net assets None of the above standards or interpretations are
expected to have an impact The Group has chosen not to early
adept any of the above standards and interpretations
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Finanaal statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

continued

1 Sigrwficant accounting policies {continued)

Basis of Consohdation

(a) Subsidiarnies

The consolidated financial statements compnse the financial
statements of the Company and subsidiaries controlled by the
Company drawn up to 31 December 2010 Control exists when

the Group has direct or indirect power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity sc as to cbtain economic benefits from
its actwities Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control transfers to the Group until the
date that contro! ceases The financial statements of subsidiaries used
n the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are
prepared for the same reporting year as the Parent Company

The purchase method 1s used to account for the acquisition
of subsidianes

{b) Joint ventures

A jomnt venture 15 a contractual arrangement whereby the Group
undertakes an economic activity that 1s subject to joint control with
third parties The Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities are
accounted for using the equity method Under this method the
Group’s share of the profits less losses of jointly controlled entities

1s included 1n the consolidated income statement and its interasts in
their net assets 15 included in investments in the consolidated balance
sheet Where the share of losses exceeds the interests in the entity
the carrying amount 1s reduced to mil and recogrison of further
losses 1s discontinued Interest in the entity 1s the carrying amount of
the investment together with any long term interest that, in substance
form part of the net investment in the entity

Financial statements of jointly controlled entities are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Group except for

— Carnllion Enterprise Ltd, and
- Modern Housing Solutions {Prime) Ltd

Both of these entities have 31 March year ends, and therr results are
included in the Group accounts based on management accounts

Where a Group company 1s party to a jointly controlled operation
that company accounts for the assets it controls, the labilities and
expenses 1t incurs and its share of the income Such arrangements are
reported in the consolidated financial statements on the same basis

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goadwill arising on acquisitions that have occurred since 1 January
2004 represents the difference between the fair value of the cost of
acguisition and the fair value of the identifiable assets, labilities and
contingent liabihties of an acguired entity For acquisihons completed
before 1 January 2010 attributable costs of the acquisition formed
part of goadwill For acquisitions completed after 1 January 2010
attributable costs of the acquisition are expensed in the income
statement in the pertod incurred In respect of acquisitions prior to

1 January 2004 goodwill 1s included en the basis of 11s deemed cost,
which represents the amount recorded under previous Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice

Positive goodwill 1s recogmised as an asset in the consclidated balance
sheet and 1s subject to an annual impairment review Goodwill arising
on the acquisiion of subsidiaries Is recognised separately as an
intangtble asset in the consolidated balance sheet Goodwill arsing
on the acquisition of jontly controlied entities 15 included within the
carrying value of the investment Negative goodwill 1s recognised in
tha Income statement immediately
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Other intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses Amortisation is based on the
useful economic lives of the assets concerned, which are principally
as follows

Computer software and licences
— straight-fine over three to five years

Customer contracts and lists
- Planned Maintenance Group

consumption of economic benefits over six years
- Mowlem

consumption of economic benefits over 35 years
- Alfred McAlpine

consumption of economic benefits over 12 years
— Vanbots Group

consumption of economic benefis over five years

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill 15 allocated to
each of the Group's cash generating units expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination Cash generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated are tested for rmparrment annually or
more frequently when there 1s an ndication that the unit may be
impaired H the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit 1s
less than the carrying amount of the unit the impairment loss 13
allocated first 1o reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit and then to other assets of the unit pro-rata
on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unst

An impairment loss recognised for goodwill 15 not reversed in a
subsequent period

Impairment

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation
and are tested for impairment at each balance sheet date Assets
subject to depreciation and amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable An impairment loss 1s recognised in the
income statement based on the amount by which the carrying

amount exceeds the recoverable amount The recoverable amount

15 the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use

In assessing value 1n use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset

Other non-current asset investments

Other non-current asset investments are classified as avallable for sale
financial assets and are recognised at fair value Changes in fair value
in the year are recognised directly n the statement of comprehensive
meome Dividend income from investments 1s recognised in the income
statement when the nght to receve payment 15 estabhshed

Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated
reliably, contract revenue and costs are recogmised by reference to
the degree of completion of each contract, as measured by the
proportion of total costs at the balance sheet date to the estimated
total cost of the contract

Insurance clams, iIncentive payments, and vanaticns ansing from
construction contracts are mcluded where they have been agreed
with the chent

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated
reliably, contract revenue s recognised to the extent of contract ¢osts
ncurred where 1t 1s probable those costs will be recoverable

The principal estimation technigue used by the Group in atinibuting
profit on contracts to a particular penied 15 the preparation of forecasts
on a contract by contract basis These focus on revenues and costs to
complete and enable an assessment to be made of the final out-turn
of each contract Consistent contract review procedures are in place In
respect of contract forecasting




1 Significant accounting polictes {continued)

When 1t 1s probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract
revenue the expected loss 1s recognised immediately Contract costs
are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred

Where costs incurred plus recogrised profits less recogmised losses
exceed progress billings, the balance s shown as due from customers
on construction contracts within trade and other receivables Where
progress billings exceed costs incurred plus recognised profits less
recognised losses the batance 1s shown as due to customers on
construction contracts within trade and other payables

Pre-contract costs

Pre-contract costs are expensed as incurred until the Group 1s
appointed preferred bidder or formal notification of the intention to
appoint s received Provided the contract 1s expected to generate
sufficlent net cash inflows to enable recovery and the award of the
contract I1s probable pre-contract costs incurred post the appointment
as preferred bidder are included in amounts owed by customers on
construction contracts

Where pre-contract bid costs are reimbursed at financial close the
proceeds are inttially apphed against the asset included in amounts
owed by customers on construction contracts Any excess recoveries
relating to internal costs are carried forward as deferred income and
released to profit over the penod of the contract

Revenue recognition

Revenue represents the farr value of consideration recewable
excluding value added tax for services supplied to external customers
it also includes the Group's proportion of work carned out under
Jjointly controlled operations during the year Revenue from service
contracts is recognised by reference to services performed to date

as a percentage of total services to be performed Revenue from
canstruction contracts 1s recognised in accordance with the Group's
accounting policy on construction contracts

Property, plant and equipment

Depreciation is based on historical cost, tess the estimated residual
values and the estimated economic fives of the assets concerned
Freehold land 1s not depreciated Property, plant and equipment is
depreciated in equal annual instalments over the period of therr
estimated economic lives which are principally as follows

Freehold buildings
Leasehold buildings and improvements
Plant machinery and vehicles

40-50 years
Period of lease
Three-ten years

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of
the term of the lease or the expected useful hife of the asset

Leasing
Operating lease rental charges are charged to the income statement
on a straight-line basis over the hife of each lease

Assets held under finance leases are included in property plant and
equipment at the lower of fair value at the date of acquisitton or
present value of the minimum lease payments The capiial element
of outstanding finance leases is included in financial liabilities The
finance charge element of rentals 1s charged to the income statement
at a constant peniodic rate of charge on the outstanding obligations

Inventories

Inventones compnse raw materials and land for development and
are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value Cost s
calculated using the wetghted average method

Taxation

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax Income tax s
recognised in the iIncome statement except to the extent that it
relates to items recogrused directly in equity in which case it is
recognised in equity

Current tax 15 the expected tax payable on taxable income for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantvely enacted at the balance sheet
date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years

Deferred tax 1s provided using the balance sheet liability methed,
providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabihities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for taxatron purposes The amount of deferred tax prowded is
based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and habilities using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date

A deferred tax asset 1s recognised only to the extent that it 1s probable
that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utihsed Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that
it 1s no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised

Foreign currencies

In indwvidual entities, transactions denommated in foreign currencies
are translated into sterling and recerded using the exchange rate
prevailing at the date of the transaction

Monetary assets and labilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated into sterling at the exchange rates ruling at the balance
sheet date and the gamns and losses on translation are included in the
income statement

On consalidation  the balance sheets of overseas entities are
transiated into sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance
sheet date Income statements and cash flows of overseas entities
are translated into sterling at rates approximating to the foreign
exchange rates at the date of the transaction Gains or losses ansing
from the consclidation of overseas entities are recognised in the
translation reserve

Net investment hedging of overseas operations 1s achieved through
baorrowings denominated in the relevant foreign currencies Gains and
losses arising from the effective portion of the hedges are recognised
in equity and ineffective portions are recognised immediately in the
income statement

Employee benefits

{a) Retirement benefit obligations

For defined contrnibution pension schemes operated by the Group
amounts payable are charged to the income statement as they
fall due

For defined benefit pension schemes the IAS 19 cost of prowding
benefits 1s calculated annually by ndependent actuanes using the
projected unit credit method The charge to the iIncome statement
reflects the current service cost of such obligations and where
applicable, past service cost

The expected return on plan assets and the interest cost of scheme
liabiitres are included within financial Income and expense in the
income statement

The retirement benefit obhgaton recognised in the balance sheet
represents the excess of the present value of the scheme liabilties
over the far value of scheme assets When the calculation results in
an asset to the Group, the amount recognised 1s imited on certain
schemes where the Group does not have an unconditional nght to
refund of any surplus which may exist

Differences between the actual and expected returns on assets and
experience gams and losses arising on scheme habihties during the
year, together with differences ansing from changes in assumptions,
are recogmised tn the statement of comprehensive income in the year

The Group's contributions to the scheme are paid in accordance
with the scheme rules and the recommendations of the actuary

{b) Other post-retirement benefit obligations

Certain Group companies provide post-retirement healthcare
benefits to their employees The expected costs of providing these
benefits are accrued aver the penod of employment and are
calculated by independent actuaries based on the present value

of the expected habiity
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Financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

continued

1 Significant accounting pohicies {(continued)

¢} Share-based payments

Members of the Group s senior management team are entitled to
participate in the Leadership Equity Award Plan (LEAP) In addition
UK employees are able to participate in the Sharesave scheme

The fair value of the LEAP and Sharesave schemes at the date of grant
are estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model For hoth schemes
the fair value determined at grant date 1s expensed on & straight-line
basis over the vesting peniod based on an estimate of the number of
shares that will eventually vest

Borrowing costs

Borrowing cests are caprtalised where the Group construcis qualifying
assets All other borrowing costs are wnitten off to the mcome
statement as incurred

Borrowing costs incurred within the Group's jointly controlled entities
relating to the construction of intangible assets in Public Private
Parinership projects are capiiahised until the relevant assets are
brought into operational use

Borrowing costs are charged to the income statement using the
effective interest method

Share capital
The ordinary share capital of the Company is recorded at the proceeds
received, net of directly attributable incremental ssue costs

Censideration paid for shares in the Company held by the Employee
Share Gwnership Plan (ESOP) Trust are deducted from the retained
earnings reserve Where such shares subsequently vest in the
employees under the terms of the Group’s share option schemes

or are sold any consideratton recewved 1s included in the retained
earnings reserve

Provisions

A proviston 1s recogmised In the balance sheet when the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event
and where 1t 15 probable that an cutflow will be required to settle
the obligation

Prowisions for restructuning are recognised when the Group has an
approved restructunng plan that has either commenced or been
announced publicly Future operating costs are not provided for

Financial nstruments

Financial instruments are recognised when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument The principal
financial assets and habdities of the Group are as follows

{a) Other non-current Investments

Other non-current investments relate to unguoted equity Interests
that are not designated on imuial recogrition as at fair value through
the income statement Instead, they are recognised at fair value
with movements in fair value recogmised in the fair value reserve

(b) Trade receivables
Trade recewables are initially recognised at fair value and then are
stated at amortised cost

(c) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at
amartised cost For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand, including
bank depaosits with onginal maturities of three maonths or less
Bank overdrafis are also included as they are an integral part of
the Group’s cash management

{d)} Trade payables

Trade payables are imtially recognised at fair value and then are
stated at amortised cost
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{e} Bank and other borrowings

Interest beanng bank loans and overdrafts and other borrowings are
recognised imitially at amortised cost fess attributable transaction
costs All borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost with
the difference between initial net proceeds and redemption value
recognised in the income statement over the period to redemption

{f} Derivative financial instruments

Dernwvatives are intsally recogrised at fair value on the date the
contract 1s enered into and subsequently remeasured in future periods
at their faw value The method of recognising the resulting change in
fair value s dependent on whether the denvative 1s designated as a
hedging instrument

A number of the Group's PPP jointly controlled entities have entered
INto interest rate dervatives as a means of hedging interest rate

risk The effective part of the change in fair value of these cash flow
hedges is recognised directly in equity Any ineffective portion 1s
recognised immediately in the Income statement Amounts accumulated
In equity are recycled to the income statement in the periods when the
hedged items will affect profit or loss The fair value of interest rate
swaps Is the esimated amount that the Group would recewve or pay

to terminate the swap at the balance sheet date

The Group also enters into iorward contracts in order to hedge against
smali and infrequent transactional fareign currency exposures In cases
where these derivative Instruments are significant hedge accounting 1s
applied as described above Where hedge accounting 1s not appled,
movements in fair value are recegnised in the ncome statement Fair
values are based on gquoted market prices at the balance sheet date

Net borrowing
Net borrowing comprises cash and cash equivalents together with
hank overdrafts and loans, finance leases and other loans

2 Segmental reporting

Segment information 1s presented in respect of the Group's strategic
operating segments The operating segment reporting format reflects
the differing economic charactenstics and nature of the services
provided by the Group and Is the basis on which strategic operating
decistons are made by the Group Chief Executive, who 1s the Group's
chief operating decision maker

Inter-segment pricing 1s determined on an arm s length basis
Segment results include 1tems directly attributable to a segment

as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis except
finance 1tems and income tax

Operating segments
The Group 1s compnised of the following main operating segments

Support services

In this segment we report the results of our faalities management,
facilities services, road maintenance rail services, utility services and
consultancy businesses

Public Private Partnership projects

In this segment we report the equity returns on our investments in
Public Private Partnership projects in our chosen sectors of Defence,
Health, Education Transport $ecure and other Government
accommodaton

Middle East construction services
In this segment we report the results of our bullding and cvil
engineering activities in the Middle East and Marth Africa

Construction services (excluding the Middle East)

In this segment we report the results of our UK buillding cwvil
engineenng and developments businesses and our construction
acuwities in Canada and the Caribbean



2 Segmental reporting (continued)

Segmental revenue and profit

2010 2009
Operating Operatng
profit before profis before
intangible mntangibfe
amortisation amorusation
and non- and non
re‘urnng [ECLII[Iﬂg
Revenue operaung items Revenue  gperating vems
£m £m £ £m
Support services '
Group 18421 923 2,108 3 1029
Share of jointly controlled entities 2665 181 2812 148
2,108 6 1104 2,3895 177
Inter-segment 107 3 - 177 -
Total 2,215 9 104 2,507 2 177
Public Private Partnership projects
Group 12 107 T -
Share of jointly controlled entities 3107 127 4173 307
39 234 4184 307
Inter-segment - - - -
Total 3119 234 418 4 307
Middle East construction services
Group 190 9 140 130 2 68
Share of jointly controlled entities 3021 335 423 4 402
493 0 475 553 6 470
Inter-segment - - - -
Total 49310 475 5536 470
Construction services (excluding the Middle East)
Group 2,202 3 409 22646 nz
Share of jointly controlled entities 232 03 32 (0 8)
2,225 5 412 2,267 8 309
Inter-segment 42 - 577 -
Total 2,2297 412 23255 309
Group eliminations and unallocated items (111 5) 90 (175 4) (10 5}
Consolidated
Group 4,236 5 1489 4,504 2 1309
Share of jointly controlled entittes 902 5 64 6 1,1251 849
Total 51390 2135 56293 2158

{1} Restated on adopuon of IFRIC 12 (see note 32)
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Financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

continued

2 Segmental reporting (continued)
Segmental revenue and profit (continued}

Reconcihiation of operating segment resufts to reported results

2010 2009
£m fm
Group and share of jointly controlled entities’ operating profit
before intangible amortisation and non-recurnng operating items 2135 2158
Net financial expense
— Group {6 8) (12 6)
- Share of jontly controlled entiies {13 9) (21 8)
Share of jointly controlled entities’ taxation @an 39
Underlying profit before taxation 188 1 1755
Intangible amortisation®® (27 6) (30 8)
Non-recurnng operating 1tems®? 9 4) (15 2)
Non-operating 1items® 168 64
Profit before taxation 1679 1359
Taxation {15 1) {11 5)
Profit for the year 152 8 124 4
{1) Restated on adoption of IFRIC 12 {see note 32)
(2) Intangible amortisation non recurring operating tems and nan-operating iterns anse n the following segments
2010 2009

Non recurring

Non recurnng

operating Naon-operating Intangible operating  Non operating
Herns tems amartsation iterns items
£ £m £m £m fm
Support services (0 4) - {22 5) (4 6) 103
Public Private Partnership projects - 168 - - (39
Construction services {excluding the Middle East) 61 - 83) e -
Unaltocated Group items 29) - - 09 -
(94) 168 (30 8) (15 2} 64

Depreciation, amartisation and capital expenditure anse in the following segments
2010 2009
Depreciation and Capital Ceprecation and Capial
amor ex d amoretisation expenditure
£m £m fm fm
Support services (37 0) (10 8) 42 5) (30 3)
Middle East construction services (21) {21) 20 {19)
Construction services {excluding the Middle East) (112) {19) 1y (4 3}
Unallocated Group items (131 (14 5) Az (16 6)
(63 4} (29 3) 677) (53 1)
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2 Segmental reporting {continued}

Segmental net assets

2010 2009™
Net operating Net operating
Operating Operating assels/ Operating Operating assets/
assets habiities (liabilities) assets liabdites {lab:lyies)
fm £m £fm £m £m Em
Support services
Intangible assets® 936 5 - 936 5 956 5 - 956 5
Operating assets 486 4 - 486 4 4344 - 434 4
Investments 96 - 96 13 - 113
Total operating assets 1,432 5 - 1,432 5 1,402 2 - 1,402 2
Total operating habiliies - (475 7} (475 7) - (528 9) (528 9)
Net operating assets/(liabilities) 1,432 5 @475 7) 956 8 14022 (528 9) B733
Public Private Partnership projects
Operating assets 55 - 55 55 - 55
Investments 745 - 745 658 - 658
Total operating assets 800 - 800 713 - 713
Total operating habihtigs - {11 6) {116) - {15 4) (15 4}
Net operating assets/(habiities) 800 (11 6) 68 4 ns3 (15 4) 559
Middle East construction services
Operating assets 1722 - 172 2 1016 - 1016
Investments 489 - 48 9 45 4 - 45 4
Total operating assets 2211 - 2211 1470 - 1470
Total operating habilities - (192 4) (192 4) - (127 0) (127 0)
Net operating assets/(liabilities) 2211 (192 4) 287 1470 (127 0) 200
Construction services (exctuding the Middle East)
intangible assets” 2694 - 2694 276 0 - 2760
Operating assets 548 2 - 548 2 583 4 - 583 4
Investments 437 - a3 7 495 - 495
Totat operating assets 8613 - 8613 89089 - 908 9
Total operating habilities - {1,022 7) (1,0227) - (939 6) (939 6)
Net operating assets/(liabthties) 8613 {1,022 7) (161 4) 908 9 (939 6} (307}
Consohdated before Group items
Intangible assets® 1,205 9 - 12059 1,2325 - 12325
QOperating assets 1,212 3 - 1,212 3 11249 - 112489
Investments 1767 - 176 7 1720 - 1720
Total operating assets 2,594 9 - 2,594 9 2,5294 - 25294
Total operating habilities - {1,702 &) {1,702 4) - {1,610 9) (16109
Net operating assets/(ltabilities) before Group items 2,594 9 (1,702 4) 8925 25294 (1,6109) 918 5
Group items
Deferred tax 101 7 (28 0) 737 1325 (373) 95 2
Net cash/borrowing) 3% 7 (276 5) 120 2 2672 {242 3) 249
Retrement benefits (gross of taxation) 09 {250 3) (249 4) 26 (296 9) (293 8)
Income tax 39 (51) {12) 46 (13 &7
Other 532 (23 8) 294 1287 {94 7) 340
Net assets/(habilities) 31513 (2,286 1) 865 2 3,0650 (22929) 7721

{1) Restated on adoption of IFRIC 12 (see nete 32)
{2) Ansing from business combinations
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

continued

2 Segmental reporting (continued)

Geographic information — by ongin

2000 2009™
£m £m
United Kingdom
Total revenue from external customers 3,848 6 44111
Less share of jointly controlled entities’ revenue (469 6) (6077)
Group revenue from external customers 3,3790 3,803 4
Non-current assets 1,3171 1,363 6
Middle East
Total revenue from external customers 504 2 564 4
Less share of jointly controlled entrties’ revenue (313 3) (434 2)
Group revenue from external customers 1909 1302
Non-current assets 56 3 537
Canada and the Cartbbean
Total revenue from external customers 709 8 574 1
Less share of jointly controlled entities’ revenue {70 5) {36 5)
Group revenue from external customers 639 3 5376
Non-current assets 1379 114 6
Rest of the World
Total revenue from external customers 76 4 797
Less share of jointly controlled entitres’ revenue 49 1) (46 7)
Group revenue from external customers 273 33¢
Non-current assets 19 34
Consolidated
Total revenue from external customers 5,139 0 56293
Less share of jontly controlled entities revenue (902 5) (1,125 1)
Group revenue from external customers 4,236 5 4504 2
Non-current assets
Total of geographic analysis above 1,513 2 15353
Retirement benefit assets 09 26
Other investments 419 46 2
Deferred tax assets 1017 1325
Total non-current assets 16577 1,716 6
(1) Restated on adoption of IFRIC 12 (see ngte 32)
Revenue from the Group’s major customer (s shown below
Public Private Canstruction services
Support services Partnership projecis (excluding the Middle East) Total
2010 2009 2810 209 2090 2009 2070 2609
£m fm £m fm £m fm £m fm
UK Government 7825 8238 2227 1753 1,263 0 1,065 6 2,268 2 2,064 7
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3 Group operating profit

2010 2009
£m im
Group operating profit has been arrived at after charging#{crediting)
Depreciation of property plant and equipment 318 347
Amortisation of intangible assets 316 330
Impairment of trade recevables 08§ 29
(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (13) 25
QOperating lease charges 558 826
Foreign exchange loss/gain) 04 (23)
Loss on derivative financial assets and habilities held for trading 12 01
Auditors’ remuneration
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the annual accounts 03 03
Fees payable 1o the Company’s auditor and 1ts assaciates for other services
- Audit of the Company's subsidiaries, pursuant to legislation 09 08
- Other serwices pursuant to legislation 01 o1
— Taxation services 03 03
Fees in respect of Group pension schemes
- Audit 01 o1

Carilion’s share of the fees paid to KPMG Audit Plc and its associates by Group jontly controlled entities in respect of audit services amounted
to £0 2 milhon (2009 £0 1 million)

4 Non-recurring operating items and nan-operating items

2010 2009
Non-recurring operating items £m £m
Rationalisation costs (9 4) 99
Office of Fair Trading penalty - 54
Curtalment gain - 01
94) (15 2)

Rationalisation costs of £9 4 millior in 2010 refate 1o non-recurring redundancy and other associated costs incurred to ensure that the Group's
cost base reflects the expected reduction in our UK construction market as indicated in the UK Government s Emergency Budget on 22 June 2010
and confirmed in the Comprehensive Spending Review in October 2010

Rationalisation costs in 2009 of £9 9 million relate to non-recurrnng redundancy and other associated costs incurred in rationalising the Group's
structure, including ensunng that the size of the Group’s UK construction capability reflects the expected decline in our general construction
markets, while maintaining the capability to support the delwery of Public Private Partnership projects and meet the needs of the support
service business

The Office of Far Trading (OFT) penalty of £5 4 million was imposed on Canlhion JM Limited (CIM) (formerly Mowlem) in 2009 following the
conclusion of the OFT’s Investigation of cover pricing in the construction industry (under the Competition Act 1998} The penalty relates to
CIM’s construction business and relates entirely to the peried prior to CJM s acquisition by Carillion No other member of the Group was subject
to the investigation

In the year ended 31 December 2009, as part of the Group’s strategy for managing defined benefit pension scheme nisk, the benefits for
members of the Alfred McAlpine Pension Plan were no longer linked to final satary resulting i a curtailment gain of £0 1 million (net of
expenses of £3 2 million}

Anincome tax credit of £1 6 mithon (2009 £2 8 mullion) relating to the above has been included within taxation in the income statement

200 2009
Non-operating items £m £m
ProfitAloss) on disposal of jointly controlled entity and other investments 168 (39
Profit on disposal of businesses - 103
168 64

(1} Restated on adoption of IFRIC 12 {see note 32}
Further information on the Group’s sale of businesses and investments can be found in note 29

There 15 no ncome tax assocated with any of the non-operating items in either 2010 or 2009
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

continued

5 Fimancal income and expense

2010 2009
£m £m
Financial income
Bank interest recevable 11 11
Other interest recevable 1046 105
Expected return on retirement plan assets ms9 1018
123 6 134
Financial expense
Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts (33 (10 5)
QOther interest payable and similar charges {11 6) (13 5)
Interest cost on retirement plan oblhgations (115 9) (104 0)
(130 3) (128 0)
Net financial expense {6 8) {14 6)
Other Interest payable and similar charges includes finance lease charges of £3 7 million (2009 £4 1 mullion)
No borrowing costs have been capitalised in either 2010 or 2009 as they are not matenal
6 Payroll costs and employee numbers
2010 2009
£m £fm
Wages and salanes 746 7 B89 5
Social security costs 66 0 802
Pension costs 295 253
Equity settled transactions (39) 39
8383 9989

Penston costs represent amounts In respect of the Group's UK and overseas schemes as described in note 30 and includes a curtailment gain of

£0 4 mullion (2009 £3 3 millon} and a charge of £22 8 mullion (2009 £20 5 million) in respect of defined contribution schemes

Detalled information concerning Directors’ remuneraiion, (ncluding their pension benefits and long term incentive arrangements, 1s set out in

the Remuneration report on pages 46 to 51

The average number of employees during each year including Directors, was

2010 2009

Number Number
Supporti services 17,331 20 350
Public Private Partnership projects 33 37
Middle East construction services €,795 4578
Construction services (excluding the Middle East) 5,593 8032
Corporate centre 304 315

30,056 33,312
UK 19,476 23972
Qverseas 10,580 9,340

30,056 33312

In addition to the above there are 15,441 staff (2009 18,448) employed within the Group’s jointly controlled entittes located in the Middle East
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7 Income tax
Recognised in the income statement

2010 2009
£m Em
Current tax expense
Current year
-UK 22) 09
~ Overseas 38 51
Adjustments for prior years
- UK (34) @an
- Overseas 01 ()]
Total current tax 7 12
Deferred tax expense
Ongination and reversal of temporary differences 16 8 57
Adjustments for prior years - 46
Total deferred tax 168 103
Total income tax expense in the income statement 151 ns
Reconcihation of effective tax rate
2010 2008™
£m fm
Profit before tax 1679 1359
Tax of jointly controlled entities 47 39
172 6 1388
income tax at UK standard corporation tax rate of 28% (2009 28%) 48 3 391
Permanent differences 30 30
Unrelieved trade losses 50 48
Capital items not taxable/not deductible {4 8) 6 5)
Effect of utiisation of brought forward tax losses (56) (38
Effect of tax rates in foreign junsdictions {10 6) (12 4)
Effect of foreign profits exemption - (8 6)
Change i rate 02 -
Over prowded in prior years {51) 02
Recognition of deferred tax on prior year losses {10 6) -
Total tax {including tax of jomntly controlled entities) 198 154
Tax of jointly controfied entties 47} {39)
Group Income tax expense 151 ns

(1) Restated en adoption of IFRIC 12 (see note 32)

On 21 July 2010 the Finance (No 2) Act 2010 was substantively enacted, implementing from 1 Apnl 2011 a reduction in the mainstream corporate
tax rate from 28 per cent to 27 per cent Within the above deferred tax charge of £16 8 milion 1s a charge of £0 2 million with respect to this

change inrate

Following the introduction of the foreign profits exemption in 2003, the profits earned in low tax junsdictions no longer require a provision for
a taxable temporary difference, the impact of which 15 included with ‘Effect of the tax rates in foreign junisdictions’

The release of the over-provision relating to prior years of £5 1 million (2009 £0 2 million} includes an amount of £4 2 millon which 1s
attnbutable to the agreement of certain 1ssues with the tax authonttes Tax of jointly controlled entities of £4 7 milhion 1n 2010 includes a
£1 8 milhon credit ansing from a review of the nature of tax 1ssues i certain entities

Tax liabihty/{asset) recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income

2010 2009
£m fm
Deferred tax on actuarial gamns and losses on defined benefit pension schernes S8 (61 5)
Current tax on foreign exchange translation adjusiments {11) 02
Tax recogrused in statement of comprehensive ncome a7 {61 3)
Deferred tax on equity settled transactions {11) 11
Total tax recognised in equity 36 (60 2)

Deferred tax on actuanal gains on defined benefit pension schemes of £5 8 million in 2010 includes £2 S million in respect of the change n tax

rate from 28 per cent to 27 percent on 1 Apnil 2011
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8 Earnings per share

{a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2010 is based on the profit attributable to equity holders of the parent of
£147 2 million (2009 £120 6 mithon) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue of 399 0 million {2009 396 0 militon),
calculated as follows

In millrons of shares 2010 2009
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 3973 3957
Effect of shares issued in the year 19 o7
Effect of own shares held by Employee Share Ownership Plan and Qualifying Employee Share Ownership Trust 02 o4
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December 3990 3960

{b) Underlying performance

A reconalbation of profit before taxation and basic earnings per share, as reported in the Income statement, to underlying profit before taxation
and earrungs per share 1s set out below The adjustments made in arriving at the underying performance measures are made to dlustrate the
impact of non-trading and nen-recurnng items

2010 2004"
Profit Prafit
before tax Tax before tax Tax
£fm Em fm £m
Profit before taxation
Profit before taxation as reported in the income statement 1679 151 1359 15
Amartisation of intangible assets anising from business combinations 276 87 308 86
Curtalment gain - - 01 -
Rationalisation costs 94 16 99 28
Office of Fair Trading penalty - - 54 -
Profit on disposal of investments and businesses {16 8) - (6 4) -
Underlying profit before taxation 1881 254 1755 229
Underlying taxation (25 4) (229)
Uinderlying profit atiributable to non-controlling interests™ (56) (5 0}
Underlying profit attributable to shareholders 1571 1476

{1) Restated on adoption of IFRIC 12 (see note 32}
{2) Areconahation of non cantrelling interests as reporied in the income statement ta underlying prafit attributable 10 non contreling interests shown above s set out below

2010 2009
£m £m
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests as reported i the Income statemeant 56 38
Rationalisation costs (net of tax) - 12
Underlying profit attnbutable to non-controlling interests 56 50
2010 2009"
Pence per Pence per
share share
Earmings per share
Basic earnings per share 369 305
Amortisation of intangtble assets ansing from business combinations 47 56
Raticnalisation costs - Group 20 18
- attnbutable 10 non-controlling interests - o3
Office of Fair Trading penalty - 14
Profit on disposal of investments and businesses (42) 0N
Underlying basic earnings per share 394 373
Underlying diluted earrungs per share {post-tax basis) 392 371

{1) Restated on adoption of IFRIC 12 (see note 32)
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8 Earnings per share {continued)
{c) Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share 1s based on profit as shown in note 8(a) and (b) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares

outstanding calculated as follows

In millitons of shares 2010 2009
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 3990 3860
Effect of share options in 1ssue 17 22
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) at 31 December 4007 3982
9 Dividends
The following dividends were paid by the Company
2010 2008
Pence per Pence per
m shara fm share
Previous year final dwvidend 39.9 100 352 89
Current year intenm dividend 19.2 48 182 46
591 148 534 135
The following dividends were proposed by the Company
2010 2009
Pence per Pence per
£m share £m share
Interim 19.2 48 18 2 46
Final 42.8 107 397 100
620 155 579 146

The final dividend for 2010 of 10 7 pence per share was approved by the Board on 2 March 2011 and, subject to approval by shareholders at the
Annual General Meeting, will be pard an 17 June 2011 to shareholders on the reguster on 17 May 2011 The record date and the payment date for
the final divided are subject 1o change due te the iming of the effective completion of the proposed acquisiion of Eaga plc Any change to the

aferementioned daies will be notified to shareholders via a regulatory announcement

10 Property, plant and equipment

PMant,
Land and equipment
buildings and vehicles Total
£m im £m
Cost
At 1 January 2010 295 1598 ° 1893
Additions 29 164 193
Disposals {2 6) (347) (37 3)
Redassification (to intangible assets) - (0 4) (0 4)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 24 72 96
At 31 December 2010 322 148 3 180 5
Depreciation and impairment losses
At 1 January 2010 - 211 211
Depreciation charge for the year 33 285 318
Disposals (20) {311) {331
Effect of movements in forergn exchange rates L) 31 3s
At 31 December 2010 17 216 233
At 1 January 2010 295 1387 168 2
At 31 December 2010 305 1267 157 2
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10 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

included in the net book value of plant egquipment and vehicles 1s £41 9 milllon {2009 £40 2 million) in respect of assets held under finance
leases and hire purchase contracts The leased equipment secures lease obligations as disclosed in note 19

Plant
Land and equipment
buildngs and vehicles Total
£m fm fm
Cost
At 1 January 2009 205 1759 196 4
Additions 174 315 489
Disposals 77) (38 6) (46 3)
Disposals arising from sale of businesses {see note 29} 02 Q2 (9 4)
Reclassification (to intangible assets) - (14) (14
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 05 16 11
At 31 December 2009 295 1598 1893
Depreciation and impairment losses
At 1 lanuary 2009 15 277 292
Depreciation charge for the year 38 309 347
Disposals {53) (330 (38 3)
Disposals ansing from sale of businesses (see note 29) - [Elr)] BN
Reclassification (to intangible assets) - Q) 10
Effect of movements in fereign exchange rates - 02 02
At 31 December 2009 - 211 211
Net book value
At 1 January 2009 150 148 2 1672
At 31 December 2009 295 1387 168 2
11 Intangible assets
Customer Total ansing Computer
contracts and  from business software
Goodwill hists combinations and heences Total
Em £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2010 1,1013 2409 1.3322 165 13587
Additions - - - 100 100
Disposals - - - ©1) o1
Reclasstfication (from property, plant and equipment} - - - 04 04
Effect of movemenits in foreign exchange rates 09 02 11 02 13
At 31 December 2010 1,022 2411 13433 270 1.3703
Amortisation and impairment losses
Al 1 January 2010 - 1097 1097 77 1174
Amorusation for the year - 276 276 40 316
Disposals - - - on (o1
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates - 01 01 01 0z
At 31 Decernber 2010 - 1374 1374 17 1491
Net book value
At 1 January 2010 11013 1312 1,232 5 88 12413
At 31 December 2010 1,102 2 1037 1,205 9 153 1,221 2
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11 Intangible assets (continued)

Customer Total ansing Computer
contracts and trom business software
Goodwill lists combinations. and cences Total
Em £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2009 1,100 8 250 6 13514 133 1,3647
Additions - - - 43 43
Disposals - - - (2 5} 25)
Disposals ansing from sale of businesses (see note 29) - @3 (9 8) - 98
Reclassification (from property, plant and eguipment) - - - 14 14
Effect of maovements in foreign exchange rates 05 01 06 - 06
At 31 December 2009 1,013 2409 1,342 2 165 1,358 7
Amortisation and impairment losses
At 1 January 2009 - 808 808 70 878
Amortisation for the year - 308 308 22 330
Disposals - - - (2 5) 25)
Disposals arising from sale of businesses (see note 29) ~ (20) 20) - 20)
Reclassification (from property, plant and equipment) - - - 10 10
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates - 01 01 - 01
At 31 December 2009 - 1097 1097 77 1174
Net book value
At 1 January 2009 1,1008 1698 1,270 6 63 1,276 9
At 31 December 2009 1,101 3 1312 1,2325 88 1,2413
impairment tests for cash generating units containing goodwll
The following units have sigrificant amounts of goodwill
2010 2009
£m £m
Construction services (excluding the Middle East) segment
UK construction 2330 2330
Canada construction 114 105
244 4 2435
Support services segment
Business services 8057 8057
Infrastructure services 521 521
8578 8578
Total goodwill 1,102 2 1,101 3
{1} Fallowing a Group reoq, the Bwiding and Inf ture units within Construction services (excluding the Middle East) segment were merged 1o farm the UK censtruction umt

Accordingly the 2009 disclosure has been amended 1o reflect this change

Each year and whenever events or a change in the economic environment indicates a risk of impairment, the Group reviews the value of goodwill
balances allocated to 1ts cash generating units In the absence of any identified imparment risks, tests are performed based on internal valuations
of each cash generating unit (CGU)

Management consider Support services, Public Private Partnerships projects, Middle East construction services and Construction services
(excluding the Middle East) as distinct reporting segments Goodwill has been allocated to the applicable cash generating units (CGUs), within the
Construction services {excluding the Middie East} and Support services reporting segments detalled above Our CGUs have been identified within
our reporting segments as those businesses that generate cash inflows largely independently of other businesses within the Group and which
are subject to independent management

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations The value in use in 2010 was determined on a similar basis
10 2009 The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to
revenue and direct costs dunng the peniod These assumptions were reviewed in 2009 and rewisited in 2010 in the light of the challenging
economic environment The impact of the Comprehensive Spending Review on the financial stabiity of our custormers partners and suppliers
will be mitigated by continuing to apply ngorous selectvity cnitena in relation 1o therr financial stability, the security of project funding and
contractual terms and conditions
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11 Intangibie assets (continued)

Discount rates have been estimated based on pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments cf the time value of money and the risks
specific to the CGUs Whilst the Group has four CGUs the risks and rewards associated with Construction services {excluding the Middle East)
are consistent, and therefore one discount rate has been applied to each CGU Similarly the risks and rewards encountered in the Support
services CGlUs are consistent so one discount rate has been applied to each CGU In determining the discount rate management have sought
to arrive at a pre-tax Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) using the capital asset pricing model to determine the cost of equity and

then weighting the overall cost of capital for the Group by equity and debt The rate used to discount the forecast cash ftows for the CGUs

in Construction services (excluding the Middle East} was 12 0 per cent (2009 12 4 per cent) and for the CGUs in Support services was 9 4 per
cent {2009 95 per cent) The annual growth rates are based on internal assessments Growth is expected in the Business services CGU at

5 0 per cent for the next five years, 2 5 per cent growth per annum for years six to ten which reflects expected changes to the Reta:t Price Index
and no growth thereafter In respect of the Construction services (excluding the Middle East) segment, the cash flow forecast used assumes no
growth, fully reflecting the expected reduction in UK construction revenue which 1s largely offset by revenue growth in Canada These growth
rates do not exceed the long-term industry average and reflect the synergies from recent acquisitions

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derved from the most recent financial budgets approved by managament for the following year and
extrapolates cash flows based upen the growth rates indicated above Sensitvity analysis on the discount rate shows that the discount rate
would have to increase to 12 9 per cent for Support services and to 23 5 per cent for Construction services {excluding the Middle East) before an
impairment was triggered In addition management have considered whether there would have been an imparrment if the Building and
Infrastructure units had remained separate Management have concluded that no such mpairment would have ansen

As at 31 December 2010, based on internal vaiuations, Carillion plc management concluded that the recoverable value of the cash generating
units tested exceeded their carrying amount

Amortisation charge

The arnorusavion charge of £31 6 muthon {2009 £33 0 rmithon) 1s recognised 1n adrimsirative expenses 1N the income statement Amoriisation
of the intangible assets of £119 0 million arising on the acquisimon of Mowlem in 2006 will be 79 per cent complete by 2016 The remaining
amortisation charge 1s incurred over the following 25 years Amortisation of the intangible assets of £125 4 million arising on the acquisition
of Alfred McAlpine in 2008 will be 84 per cent complete by 2013 with the remaining amortisation charge continuing until 2019

12 Investments n Jointly controlled entities

Equity Loan Total
o Goodwill Total
£m fm £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2010 586 15 1001 21 102 2
Equity investments 09 - 09 - 09
Disposals on {12 2) (123) - (123)
Net loans advanced - 336 336 - 336
Reclassifications 84 {8 ) - - _
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 12 0s 17 - 17
At 31 December 2010 690 550 124 0 21 1261
Share of post acquisition results
At 1 January 2010 236 - 236 - 236
Share of resuits for the year after taxation 46 0 - 460 - 46 0
Share of change in fair value of cash flow hedges {net of tax) {13 4) - (13 4) - {13 4)
Disposals 03 - 03 - 03
Distnbutions received (50 3) - {50 3) - {50 3)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 25 - 25 - 25
At 31 December 2010 87 - 87 - 87
Net book value
At 1 January 2010 822 a5 1237 21 1258
At 31 December 2010 777 550 1327 21 134 8

Equity investments of £0 9 million include £3 5 million relating to the acquisition In cash of interests in a number of development jointly
contralled entities in Canada and £0 4 million relating to the acquisiion in cash of interests in a number of PPP jointly controlled entities
During the year, the Group disposed of its equity investment in a PPP jointly controlled entity as disclosed in note 29
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12 Investments in jointly controlled entities {continued)

Equity Loan Total
investments™ advances nvestments™ Goodwill Total!
£m Em £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 January 2009 146 6 518 198 4 21 2005
Equity investments 28 - 28 - 28
Disposals (56 2} (24 0) (80 2) - (80 2)
Net loans advanced - 124 124 - 124
Redassification to other investments {see note 13) (35 4) - (35 4) - (35 4)
Effect of movements i foreign exchange rates 08 13 21 - 21
At 31 December 2009 586 415 1001 21 1022
Share of post acquisition results
At 1 January 2009 42 3 - 423 - 423
Share of results for the year after taxation 592 - 59 2 - 592
Share of change in fair value of cash flow hedges {net of tax) 42 - 4 2) - 4 2)
Disposals {15 8) - (15 8) - (15 B)
Distributions received @7 - a1 7) - 417)
Reclassification 1o other investments {see note 13) (10 8} - (10 8) - (10 8)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates (L) - S4 - (54)
At 31 December 2009 236 - 236 - 236
Net book value
At 1 January 2009 188 9 518 2407 21 242 8
At 31 December 2009 822 415 1237 21 125 8

Equity investments of £2 8 milhon relates to the acquisition in cash of interests in a number of PPP jointly controlled entities During 2009, the
Group disposed of four PPP invesiments as disclosed in note 29

As disclosed in note 35 the Group has equity interests in a number of PPP jointly controlled entities that are in excess of S0 per cent of the 1ssued
share capital of the entities concerned The Group accounts for these interests using the equity method as the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of the entities 1s shared under the terms of the shareholder agreements

The Group's aggregate share of net assets of jointly controlied entities is analysed below Borrowing within jointly controlled entities amounting
to £921 9 million (2009 £736 7 million) are without recourse to the Carillion Group

2010 2008
PPP pPP

projects Other Total projects Other Total

Em £m £m £m £m fm

Non-current assets 1,145 6 94 4 1,240 0 8504 811 9315

Cash 734 346 108 O 346 666 101 2

Other current assets 779 378 9 456 8 416 3878 429 4

Share of gross assets 1,296 9 5079 1,804 8 9266 5355 14621
Current borrowing {26 6) {18 3) {44 9) (19 5) (34 2) (537)
Current habilities (67 0) {353 0) (420 0) (36 5) (379 6) (416 1}
Non-current borrowing (845 6) (31 4) (877 0) (660 8) (222) (683 0)
Non-current liabilities (344 3) {(55) (349 B) (2007 (16) (202 3)
Provisions 77 - 7 (10 3) - (10 3}
Share of gross habilities {(1.291 2) {408 2) {1,699 4) (927 8) (437 6} (1 365 4}
Share of net assets excluding derivatives 57 997 1054 12 979 967
Financral instrument denvatives {25 6) - {25 6) (12 4) - 12 4)
Share of net {Labilities)/assets (19 9) 99 7 798 (i3 6) 979 843
Loan advances 550 - 550 415 - N5
Total investment in jointly controlled entities 351 997 1348 279 979 125 8

{1) Restated on adoption of IFRIC 12 (see note 32)

Non-current assets within PPP projects include cumuliative capitalised interest amounting to £3 8 million (2003 £3 8 milion) On adoption of
IFRIC 12 capitalised interest on other current assets has been written off through reserves as a pnor year adjustment

Financial mmstrument denvatives within PPP projects relate to interest rate swaps entered into by the jontly controlled entities concerned as a
means of hedging interest rate nisk and are stated net of deferred tax In accordance with International Accounting Standard 39 ‘Financial
instruments Recognition and measurement’, these denvatives are accounted for as cash flow hedges with the effective portion of movements
in fair value each year recognised in the hedging reserve
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13 Other investments

£m

Farr value

At 1 January 2010 600

Additions 39

Disposals (141)

Increase in faw value 59

At 31 December 2010 557

Impairment losses

A1 1 January and 31 December 2010 138

Net book value

At 1 January 2010 46 2

At 31 December 2010 419
£m'

Fair value

At 1 January 2009 138

Reclassification from investrments in jointly controtled entities 46 2

At 31 December 2009 600

Impatrment losses

At 1 January and 31 December 2009 138

Net book value

At 1 January 2009 -

At 31 December 2009 46 2

{1} Restated on adoption of {FRIC 12 (see note 32)

Following the disposal of the Group's 32 5 per cent interest in Aspire Defence Holdings Limited on 4 December 2009 the remaining 17 5 per cent
non-guoted eguity interest that the Group retained was reclassified to other non-current investments Upon reclassification, the Group's interest
was recognised at fair value, which equated 1o book value on the date of reclassification Fair value 1s based on the discounted future cash flows
expected to arise from the investment On 21 December 2010 the Group disposed of a further five per cent of its equity interest and as a result

the Group s equity interest was 12 5 per cent at the balance sheet date (see note 29)

The remaining other investments cost of £13 8 million relates to the non-queoted equity investment in the Alice Springs to Darwin raillway
The investment has been fully impaired following the project being placed i admunistration

14 Deferred tax assets and habilities
Recognised deferred tax assets and habilities

Deferred tax assets and habilities are attributable to temporary differences relating to the following

Assets Uabilities Net
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
£fm fm £m £Em £m fm
Property, plant and equipment 105 169 - - 105 169
intangible assets - - (27.8) (36 5) (27 8) (36 5)
Employee benefits 673 827 - - 673 827
Working capital 48 80 - - 438 80
Tax value of carry forward losses recognised 189 241 - - 189 24
Tax assets/(liabilities) 1015 1317 (278) (36 5} 737 952
Set off of tax 02 08 {0 2) (0 8) - -
Net tax assets/(habilities) 1017 1325 (28.0) (373) 737 952
Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recogmised in respect of the following items
2010 2009
fm £m
Tax losses 64 0 810

The tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation Deferred tax assets have not been recognised 1n respect of these losses due to the lack

of certainty concerning the quantum and timing of future years taxable profits of the companies concerned
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14 Deferred tax assets and habilities {continued)

Following the introduction of the foreign profits exemption with effect from 1 July 2009, no deferred tax habiity 1s required to be recognised in
relation to taxable temporary differences arising on unremitted earnings from overseas businesses

Movements in temporary differences durning the year are as follows

Balance Balance

1 January Recognised Recognised 31 December

2010 n income m equity 2010

£y £m £m £m

Property plant and equipment 169 {6 4) - 105
Intangtble assets {36 5) B7 - (27 8)
Employee benefits 827 (96) (5 8) 673
Working capital 80 32) - 48
Tax value of carry forward losses recognised 241 52) - 189
Equity settled transactions - 1) 11 -
952 (16 8) a7 737

Balance Balance

1 January Recognrsed Recognesed 31 December

2009 Dispasals Inincome v equity 2009

fm £m fm Em £m

Property, plant and equipment 189 [§R1)] (10 - 169
Intang ble assets 473 22 86 - (36 5)
Employee benefits 329 - nzn 615 827
Warking capital 237 - (1s7) - 80
Other items (127 - 127 - -
Tax value of carry forward losses recognised 284 - (43) - 241
Equity settled transactions - - 11 an -
439 12 (103) 604 95 2

The UK Government’s Emergency Budget on 22 June 2010 announced that the UK corporation tax rate will reduce from 28 per cent to 24 per
cent over a perod of four years from 2011 The first reduction in the UK corporation 1ax rate from 28 per cent to 27 per cent was substantively
enacted on 21 July 2010 and will be effective from 1 Apnl 2011 and its impact 1s hughhghted in note 7 It has not yet been passible to quantify the
full anticipated effect of the announced further three per cent rate reduction although this wilf further reduce the Group s future current

tax charge and reduce the Group's deferred tax assets and liabihities accordingly

15 Inventories

2010 2009
£m fm

Raw materials and consumables 212 16 3
Development wark in progress 194 209
406 372

The amount of inventones recognised as an expense dunng the year was £26 3 million (2009 £28 1 million) and the amount of any wnite down
of inventories recognised as an expense was £120,551 (2009 £106 B45) Development work in progress of £13 5 milhan (2009 £13 9 million) 1s
expected to be recovered after more than 12 months

16 Construction contracts
Contracts in progress at the balance sheet date

2010 2009

£m £m

Due from customers for contract work 3380 3288
Due to customers for contract work (202 6) {188 1)

The aggregate amount of costs incurred plus recognised profits {less recogmised losses) for all contracts in progress at the balance sheet date
was £4 806 2 million (2009 £5 866 8 milhion) Advances receved from customers relating to contracts in progress amounted to £170 8 million
(2009 £166 1 million)

The amount of construction contract revenue recognised In the year amounted to £2 393 2 milhon (2009 £2,632 8 million)
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17 Trade and other recervables

2010 2009

£m fm
Trade recevables 2801 3040
Amounts gwed by customers on construction contracts 3380 3288
Other recevables and prepayments 3200 3037
Amounts awed by Jointly controlled entities 108 5 856
Amounts owed under joinily controlled operations 58 163

1,052 4 1,038 4

In 2009 trade receivables have been restated to include both balances previously analysed as amounts owed by customers on construction
contracts, and to exclude balances which have now been analysed as amounts owed by jointly controlled entities

At 31 December 2010 retentions of £64 8 millien (2009 £67 2 million) relating to censtruction centracts and other amounts recoverable after
more than one year of £24 3 million (2009 £23 9 million) are included above as they are recoverable within the normal operating cycle of
the Group

18 Cash and cash equivalents and net cash
Cash and cash equivalents and net cash comprise

2010 2009
£m fm
Cash and cash equwvalents 3967 2672
Bank overdrafts (5 6) (14 8}
Net cash and cash equivalents 3911 2524
Bank loans (201 9) {141 4
Finance lease obhgations (53 8) (64 6}
Other loans {15 7) (215)
Net cash 1202 2449
Reconalliation of cash flow to movement in net cash
2010 2009
£ Em
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 1361 49
(Draw down)/repayment of bank and other loans (50 2) 2336
Praceeds from finance leaseback (3 8) -
Payment of finance lease labilties 173 168
Change in net cash resutting from cash flows 99 4 2553
Finance lease additions [ Y] 04
Currency translation differences (37) 33
Change in net cash 953 2516
Net cash/(borrowing) at 1 January 249 (226 7)
Net cash at 31 December 120 2 249

19 Borrowing
This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group s interest-bearing loans and borrowings For more information about
the Group's exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk, see note 26

2010 2009
£m fm
Current habilities

Bank overdrafts 56 148
Bank loans 108 1o
Finance lease obligations 202 16 4
Other loans 154 18
52 0 540

Non-current habvlities
Bank loans 1906 1304
Finance lease obhigations 336 48 2
Other loans 03 97
2245 188 3
Total borrowing 276 5 2423

Bank locans and overdrafts are largely unsecured and bear interest at floating rates inked to London Interbank Offered Rate Within bank loans
of £10 8 million in current liabiities are loans amounting to £3 0 milllon which are secured on the assets to which they relate Other loans and
finance lease obligations are secured on the assets to which they relate
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19 Borrowing {continued}

Finance lease habilities
Finance lease liabiities are payable as follows

Minimum Minsmum

lease lease
payments Interest Principal payments Interest Principal
2010 2010 2010 2009 2009 2009
Em fm im £m £m £m
Less than one year 229 27 202 198 (34 164
Between one and five years 359 (23) 336 522 {4 0) 4382
588 (50) 538 720 (74) 646

Under the terms of the lease agreements no contingent rents are payable

20 Trade and other payables

2010 2009
£m £m

Trade payables 606 6 599 6
Amounts owed to customers on construction contracts 202 6 1881
Other tax and socal security costs 292 a3 2
Amounts owed to jointly controlled entities 255 408
Amounts owed under jointly controlled operations - 154
Other creditors 2497 2121
Accruals and deferred income 593 2 584 4
1,706 8 16836

Within trade and other payables are £39 3 miflion (2009 £36 0 million} of liabilities due in more than one year but are payable within the normal
operating cycle of the Group All other trade and other payables are due within one year

21 Provisions

Onerous
Ratonalisation laases Tatal
£m im im
At 1 January 2010 59 161 220
Provisions created 94 02 96
Discount unwind - 14 14
Prowisionts utilised {10 4) (34) {13 8)
At 31 December 2010 49 143 192
Disclosed within
Current habilities 49 B6 135
Non-current habilities - 57 57
49 143 192

The rationalisation proviston at 1 January 2010 relates to a review of the Group's requirement following the acquisition of Alfred McAlpine and
the Vanbots Group in 2008 and a review of the Group’s requirements following the rationalisation of the operating structure at the end of 2009
The provisicns created in the year of £9 4 million relates to non-recurring redundancy and other associated costs incurred to ensure that the
Group’s cost base reflects the expected reduction in our UK construction market as indicated in the UK Government Emergency Budget on 22
June 2010 and confirmed in the Comprehensive Spending Review in October 2010

The onerous lease provision at 1 January 2010 relates to a nurnber of onerous leases acquired with Mowlem and Alfred McAlpine and prowvisions

created for property interests retained in the disposal of Canlion IT Services Limited and Enviras Group Limited The provision s expected to be
utiised over a perod of five years
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21 Provisions (continued}

Onerous
Restructuring leases Total
£m fm £m
At 1 January 2009 150 16 4 314
Provisions created 43 15 63
Discount unwind -~ 07 o7
Provisions utiised {139 (25) (16 4}
At 31 December 2009 59 161 220
Disclosed withan
Current habihities 59 66 125
Non-current liabthties - 95 95
59 161 220
22 Share capital
2010 2009
Number Number
milhon £m milhon £m
Issued and fully paid
At 1 January 3973 198 6 3557 197 8
New share capital 1ssued 24 12 16 08
At 31 December 3997 199 8 3973 198 6

The Company has one class of ordinary share which carries no night to fixed income

23 Reserves
Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the finanaal statements of foreign operations
as well as from the translation of labilittes that hedge the Group's net investment in foreign operatiens The translation reserve also includes any

related current taxation

Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve comprises the effective partion of the cumulative net change in {far value of cash flow kedging instruments related to
hedged transactions that have not yet occurred, together with any related deferred taxation

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve includes the cumulative net change in the fair value of avallable-for-sale investments until the investment 1s derecognised

together with any related deferred taxation

Merger reserve

The merger reserve arose on the demerger from Tarmac plc on 29 July 1999 The reserve increased on acquisition of Mowlemn on 23 February
2006 and Alfred McAlpine on 12 February 2008 whereby the consideration included the issue of Canllion plc shares The Group has opted 1o
credit the merger reserve rather than the share premum account as permitted by The Companies Act The £26 3 millon transfer to the retaned
earnings reserve during the year represents the amortisation of intangible assets recognised on the Mowlem and Alfred McAlpine acquisitions

Retained earnings

Retained earnings include the reserve for the Company's own shares which comprises of the cost of the Company’s shares held by the Carillion

Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESCP) The shares held by the ESOP may subsequently be awarded to employees under the Group's share
incentive schemes The movements in the reserve for own shares included within retained earnings are as follows

2010 2009

£m fm
At 1 January (11 (13
Share options exercised by employees (exercise price) 37 05
Proceeds from exercise of share options 23 -
Share options exercised {transfer to retained earnings) 06 39
Acquisition of own shares {56) (4 2)
At 31 December (01) (n
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23 Reserves (continued)

At 31 December 2010 the ESOP held 38 302 (2009 362,508} of the Company’s shares and had a market value of £0 1 rmillion (2009 £1 1 rrullion)
Duning the year the Company acguired 2 3 miltion of 1ts own shares for £5 6 million to meet the plan s future commitments The ESOP has elected
to wawve all dividends except for a total payment of 1 pence at the time each dvidend s pard

In addition to the ESOP, the Company has also established a Qualfying Employee Share Ownership Trust ('QUEST’) Dunng the year, 4 704 ordinary
shares (2009 91,376) In the Company held by the QUEST were transferred to employees of the Group following the exercise of options under the
Sharesave Scheme

At 31 December 2010 the total number of shares held under the QUEST amounted to 129,979 (2009 134 683) and had a market value of
£0 5 millon (2009 £0 4 milhon) The QUEST has elected to waive all dwvidends in excess of 0 01 pence per share

24 Share-based payments
The Group has established a share option programme that entitles key management personnel and senior employees to shares in the Company
Full details of share option schemes can be found in the Remuneration report on pages 46 to 51

The recognition and measurement principles (n International Financial Reporting Standard 2 ‘Share-based payment’ (IFRS 2) have not been
apptied to grants of options before 7 Noverber 2002 in accordance with the transitional provisions in Internattonal Financial Reporting
Standard 1 ‘First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards’ and 1FRS 2

The terms and conditions of option schemes within the scope of IFRS 2 are as follows, whereby ali aptions are settled by physical delivery
of shares

Number of Contractual iife Exercise
Grant date nstruments Vasting conditions of options price
ESQS option grant at 1 July 2003 11015 Three years of service and increase 10 years 163 4p

in EPS of RPI plus @ minimum of 4%
over a rolling three year period
ESOS option grant at 15 March 2005 45,386 Three years of service and increase 10 years 242 75p
in EPS of RPI plus a mimimum of 4%
over a rolling three year period
LEAP option grant at 4 Apnl 2008 897,461 Three years of service and increase 3 years nil
In EPS af RPI plus a minimum of 3%
over a rolling three year period
LEAP option grant at 7 Apnl 2009 1,195,610 Three years of service and increase 3 years nil |
in EPS of RP} plus a mimimurn of 3%
over a rollng three year penod
LEAP option grant at 17 March 2010 929 829 Three years of service and increase 3 years ni
in EPS of RPI glus a mimmum of 3%
over a roling three year penod

Total share options 3,079,301

The number and weighted average exerase pnices of all of the Graup's share options is as follows

Weighted Weighted

average Number average Number

exercise price of options exercise price of options

2010 2010 2009 2008

At 1 January 116 4p 5,931,478 1358p 6677809
Forfeited during the year 222 8p (2,036,889) 131 8p (952 345) |
Exercised during the year 114 0p (1,962,762) 702p (1,290 975} .

Granted during the year - 1,147,474 - 1,495,989

At 31 December 42p 3,079,301 1M64p 5,931,478

Exercisable at the end of the year 227 3p 56,401 250 4p 2,757 597

The range of option prices for those options exercisable at the end of the year 1s 163 4 pence — 242 75 pence and the weighted average
remaining contractual term 1s four years The weighted average share price during the year was 324 6 pence
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24 Share-based payments (continued)

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted are measured by reference to the fair value of share options granted The
estimate of the farr value of the services recewved 1s measured based on a Black-Scholes model using the following assumptions

2010 2009 2008 2007

LEAP LEAP LEAP LEAP
Fair value of share options and assumptions
Fair value at grant date 275 9p 232 5p 358 5p 392 0p
Share price at grant date 318 6p 258 5p 383 8p 421 0p
Exercise price nil nil nil nl
Expected volatility 1970% 18 04% 16 01% 2197%
Option hfe 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years
Expected dividend yield 4 80% 354% 2 27% 2 34%
Risk-free interest rate {based on national government bonds) 122% 2 16% 396% 535%

The expected volatility 15 based on the histaric volatility (calculated based on the weighted average remaining life of the share options), adjusted
for any expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available information

Employee (income)/expense

2010 2009
£m £fm
Equity settled share options granted in
2006 {2 2) 05
2007 10) 12
2008 {06) 13
2009 {0 9) 09
2010 08 -
Total (imncome)/expense recognised as employee costs {(39) 39

Share option income in 2010 of £3 9 millien anses from a change in the estimated number of shares expected to vest The Income recognised
for share options granted in 2006 of £2 2 million could only be recognised after the vesting peried expired on 31 fuly 2010

The expected Iife of the options 15 taken to be the full vesting peniod, as historical exercse patterns have shown this to be appropriate The

estimated number of shares that will eventually vest ignores the possibility that market conditions will or will not be achreved given that these
market conditions are already included in the fair value of the options

25 Guarantees and contingent habilities

2010 2008
£m £m

Guarantees In respect of interest payments in Construction services {excluding the Middle East)

Jointly controlled entities 11 -
Guarantees in respect of letters of credit 1ssued by banks in relation to deferred equity

payments in PPP jointly controlled entties 770 524
Guarantees in respect of letters of credit i1ssued by banks in relation to

performance of contracts for PPP customers 66 6 300

Guarantees and counter indemnities have been given to finanoial institutions in respect of the provision of performance and other contract related
bonds that are 1ssued in the narmal course of business

Claims under contracts and other agreements, including joint arrangements are outstanding in the normal course of business

The Group In the normal course of 1ts construction activities, 1s the subject of certain legal proceedings The resolution of these proceedings is
regarded as unhkely to succeed or to have a matenal effect on the Group’s financial position

There are no habilities of jointly controfled entities for which the Group 15 contingently hiable
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26 Financaial mstruments
Categories of financial instruments

toans and Financial Financal
receivables at habil at Availakl trabaly held
amortised cost  amortised cost for sale for trading Total
31 December 2010 £m £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Other non-current mvestments - - 419 - an9
Cash and cash equivalents 3967 - - - 3967
Trade recenables 2801 - - - 2801
676 8 - 419 - 7187
Finanaial habilities
Bank overdrafts - {5 6) - - {5 6)
Bank loans - (201 4) - - {201 4)
Finance lease obligations - (53 8) - - (53 8)
Other loans - (157) - - (157)
Trade payables - (606 &) - - (606 6)
Denvative financial instruments - - - {0 2) {02)
- (8831) - {0 2) (883 3)
Loans and Financial Financial
recevables at liabilities at Avallable assets held
arnoruised ¢ost amortised cost for sale for trading Total
31 December 2009 £m £m £m £m im
Financial assets
Other non-current investments - - 46 2 - 46 2
Cash and cash equivalents 2672 - - - 2672
Trade recewables™ 3040 - - - 304 0
Dervative financial instrurnents - - - 10 10
5712 - a6 2 10 618 4
Financial liabilities
Bank overdrafts - (14 8) - - (14 8)
Bank lpans - 141 4) - - {141 4)
Finance lease obligations - (64 6) - - (64 6)
QOther loans - (21 5) - - (21 5)
Trade payables - (599 6) - - (599 6)
- (841 9) - - (841 9)

(1) Re presented as disclosed in note 17

Financial risk management

Financial nsk management 1s an integral part of the way the Group 1s managed In the course of its business, the Group 15 exposed primarily to
foreign exchange risk, inierest rate nsk, iguwdity nsk and crecht sk The overall aim of the Group’s financial nsk management policies are to

minimise potential adverse effects on financial performance and net assets

The Group's treasury department manages the principal financial nisks wathin policies and operating parameters approved by the Board of

Directors Treasury is not a profit centre and does not enter into speculative transactions

Foreign currency risk

The Group operates in a number of overseas regions primarnly the Middle East, Canada and the Caribbean In order 1o protect the Group’s balance
sheet from the impact of foreign exchange rate vofatility, foreign currency denomunated net assets that exceed £10 milion equivalent are hedged,
as a minimum, to at least 60 per cent of the net asset value Net nvestment hedging of overseas operations 15 achieved through borrewing
dencminated in the relevant foreign currencies or where this is not practicable m a currency which the refevant currency closely follows

Group policy 15 1o recogruse gains and losses from the effective portions of the hedges in equity and to recognise ineffective portions immediately

In the income statement

Profits anising within overseas operations are not hedged unless 1115 planned to make a distribution Such distnbutions are then treated as

currency transactions and hedged accordingly

Primanily the Group has relatively small and infreguent transactional foreign currency exposures Any individual exposures that are significant are

hedged using forward contracts or other appropnate nsk management techniques
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26 Financal instruments (continued)

Foreign currency exposure
The carrying amount of the Group's borrowing denominated m foreign currency 1s as follows

2010 2009
fm £m

United States of Amenica Dollar (17 6) {15 6)
Canadian Dollar {82 0) (91 6}
Urnuted Arab Emurates Dirham {79 (76}
Other 21 (G 5)
(109 6) 115 3)

Of the total foreign currency borrowing of £109 6 mihon (2009 £115 3 midlion) the amount of borrowing used for hedging overseas currency
asset amounts to £65 4 million (2009 £61 6 million) The whole of the foreign exchange loss of £3 8 million (2009 £1 0 million gain) on
translation of the borrowing into sterling has been recognised in the translation reserve as these hedging loans are effective hedges

The Group does not have a significant amount of foreign currency exposure in respect of financial assets

Each movemnent of five per cent in exchange rates against stering would have changed reported profit before tax and equity as follows

Five per cent increase Frve per cent decrease

Profit Equity Profit Equity

£m im £m Em

Urited States of Amenca Dollar - 08 - {0 8)
Canadhan Dollar {04) (43) 05 48
Euro {02) 04 o2 (0 4)
United Arab Emirates Dirham {16) (35 18 39
Oman Rials 10 {0 3) (01 14
Danish Kroner - 11 - {12)
Other 02) (0 9) 02 09

Interest rate risk

The Group's interest beanng debt 1s predominantly stering borrowing to fund ongoing working capital requirements and foreign currency
denominated borrowings for hedging net assets of overseas operations Such borrowing 1s subject to floating rates of interest linked to London
Interbank Offered Rate No nterest rate hedging is currently undertaken by the Group's subsidianes However, a number of the Group‘s Public
Private Partnership jointly controlled entities have entered into interest rate swaps

A one percentage point rise in interest rates in respect of US dollar denomenated borrowings would increase the annual net interest charge by
approximately £0 2 milion, in respect of Canadian dollar denominated borrowings an increase of £0 & million, in respect of sterling denominated
borrowings an increase of £0 8 milhon and in respect of United Arab Emirates Dirham denominated borrowings an ncrease of £0 1 mithon

Liguidity nsk

The Group's policy on kquidity risk is to ensure that sufficient borrowing facilities are avallable to fund ongoing operations without the need to
carry sigmificant net debt over the medium term The Group's prinapal borrowing facilities are provided by a group of core relationship banks

in the form of a syndicated faclity a bilateral facility and short term overdraft facilities The quantum of committed borrowing facilities available
to the Group I1s reviewed regularly and 1s destgned to exceed forecast peak gross debt levels The average net borrowing during 2010 was

£41 8 million {2009 £274 4 milkon)

Matunty of financial habilities
The contractual matunty profile of the Group’s liabilities 1s as follows

Trade and Bank Bank Other Finance

other payables overdrafts loans loans leases Total

31 December 2010 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Less than one year (606 6) {56) (12 9) {15 5) (22 9) {663 5)
Between one and two years - {1921} o1 {19 %) 217
Between two and three years - - - (04 (14 2) (14 6)
Between three and four years - - - - (20) 20)
Between four and five years - - - - 02) (02)
(606 6) (1] {205 0} {16 0) (58 8) (892 Q)
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26 Financial instruments (continued)

Trade and 8ank Bank Other Finance

other payables overdraits loans loans leases Total

31 December 2009 £m £m £m £m £m fm
Less than one year {599 6) (14 8) (13 3) {12 5} {19 8} (660 0)
Between one and two years - - {25) 4 4) (21 3) (28 2)
Between two and three years - - (131 1) (3 5) (179) (152 5)
Between three and four years - - (05) (30} {12 3) (15 8)
Between four and five years - - - - 07 07)
(599 6} (148) (147 4) (23 4) (720 (B57 2)

Borrowing facihities

The Group has the following undrawn commutted borrowing facilities available at the year end in respect of which all conditions precedent had

been met
2010 2009
£m £m
Expiring withtn one year 72 74
Expiring between one and two years 4493 -
Expiring between two and five years - 5110
456 5 518 4

In February 2011, the Group refinanced its banking facilities, to compnise a £737 5 million five year facility maturing in March 2016 and
a £15 0 milhion 364-day facilty Undrawn committed borrowing facilities measured against the new faalities at 31 December 2010 would be

£7 2 million expiring within one year and £546 8 million expinng after five years

Credit nisk

Credit sk anses on financial instruments such as trade recewables short-term bank deposits and foreign curency hedging contracts Policies and
procedures exist to ensure that customers have an appropriate credit history Short-term bank deposits and foreign currency hedging transactions
are executed only with highly credit-rated authonsed counterparties based on ratings issued by the major rating agencies Counterparty exposure
posittons are momtored regularly so that credit exposures to any one counterparty are approved at main Board level or within predetermined
hmuts The maxmum exposure 1o credt risk 1s represented by the carmying value of each financial asset

The maximum exposure to credit risk for recervables at 31 December by gecgraphic region was

2010 2009
£m £m
United Kingdom 150 2 1978
Middie East 398 329
Canada and the Caribbean 867 716
Rest of the World 34 17
2801 3040

The maximum exposure to credit nisk for recevables at 31 December by segment was
2010 2009
£m fm
Support services 124 8 1370
Public Private Partnership projects o1 01
Middle East construction services 398 329
Construction services {excluding the Middle East} 1154 1340
2801 3040

The Group’s most significant cusiomer the UK Government, accounts for £46 6 million of the trade recewables carrying amount at

31 December 2010
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26 Financial instruments (continued)

Trade receivables included in the balance sheet are net of an impairment provision which has been estimated by management following a review
of indmidual receivable accounts and s based on prior experience and known factors at the balance sheet date Recewvables are written off against
the iImpairment provision when management considers that the debt i1s no longer recoverable The ageing of trade recevables is as follows

2010 2009

Net Net
trade recevables Impairment  trade recevables Impairment
fm £Em fm £m
Not past due 1773 - 1811 -
Past due less than three months 721 05 850 08
Past due between three and six months 131 16 194 46
Past due between six and 12 months 43 05 81 15
Past due more than 12 months 133 52 104 27
2801 78 3040 96
2010 2009
(1] fm
At 1 January 26 16 8
Provision created 05 29
Provision utilised (14) (76)
Provision released 09 (25
At 31 December 78 96

Whilst uncertainty surrounding counterparty nisk has increased, on balance the Group believes that debtors will meet their payment obhgation in
respect of the amount of trade receivables recognised tn the balance sheet that are past due and unprovided as at 31 December 2010

Overall, the Group considers that 1t 1s not exposed to a sgrificant amount of credit risk

Denvative financial instruments

2010 2009

Assets Liabilities Assets tiabilities.

im Em £m fm

Forward foreign currency contracts - (0 2) 10 -

The movement in fair value of forward foreign currency contracts has been recogmised in administrative expenses in the income statement

In addition to the above, a number of the Group’s Public Private Partnership (PPP} jointly controlled entities have entered mto interest rate
derivatives as a means of hedging interest rate nsk Interest bearning debts and the assocated interest rate derivatives within these PPP jointly
controlled entities are without recourse to the Group The hfe of these hedge arrangements track PPP cantract terms and hedge future
movements across a range spanning up untl February 2040 The fair value of these denvatives 1s based on quoted prices in active markets,
with the movement in fair value each year recognised in the share of change In fair value of effective cash flow hedges within jointly controlled
entities in the statement of comprehensive iIncome At 31 December 2010 the Group's share of the total net fair value babihity of interest rate
dernvatives in PPP jointly controlled entities amounted to £107 4 million (2009 £31 6 milkon} of which £35 1 million 2009™ £17 2 million)
(and the related deferred tax asset of £9 5 million (2009 £4 8 million)} has been recognised In the hedging reserve

Fair values

Financial instruments carnted at fair value in the balance sheet are non-current asset investments and denvative financial instruments The fair
value of non-current asset investments 1s determined based on a level 3 valuation method, using valuation techniques that include snputs that
are not based on market data Fair value 1s calculated by discounting expected future cash flows using asset specific discount rates, with the
movement in fair value each year recogrised in the far value movement on available for sale assets in the statement of comprehensive income
The fair value of derivative financial instruments 1s based on a level 2 valuation method, using inputs from quoted prices in active markets, with
the movement in farr value each year recogmsed in administrative expenses in the income statement

The movement in the fair value of non-current asset investment derived using a level 3 valuation method 1s shown below

Em
At 1 January 2010M a6 2
Addittons 39
Disposals (14 1)
Recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 59
At 31 December 2010 419

{1) Restated on adoption of IFRIC 12 (see note 32)

The fair value of non-current investments 1s most sensitive 1o movernents in the discount rate used A one percentage paint increase in the
discount rate would reduce the fair value by £4 5 million
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26 Financial instruments (continued)

Where there are differences between the amortised cost carrying value and fair value of the Group’s principal financial instruments at

31 December 2010 these are shown below

2010 2009
Carrying Carrying

value Fair value value Fair value

£m £m fm fm

Trade recevables 2801 2791 3040 3031
Trade payables (606 6) {606 6) (599 6) (599 6}
Cash and cash equivalents 3967 3967 2672 2672
Bank overdrafts (56) (56) (14 8) {14 8}
Bank loans {201 4) {201 4) (141 4) (141 4)
Finance lease obligations (53 8) (479) {64 &) (56 6}
Other loans {157} (157) (215) (215}

Fair value 1s calculated by discounting future cash flows using appropriate interest rates Finance lease obligations are valued by calculating the

present value of the future minimum lease payments

Capital nsk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for

shareholders and for other stakehoiders and to maintamn an optimal debt and equity structure

in erder to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of the dwvidends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, 1ssue new shares or sell assets to raeduce debt The Group has a policy of progressively mcreasing dividends paid to shareholders
breadly i kne with underlying earnings per share growth, after taking account of the investment needs of the business No changes were made

in the objectives, policies or process duning the years ended 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009

2010 2009
m £m
Total borrowings 2709 2275
Less net cash and cash equivalents (ncte 18) (3911) (252 4)
Net cash {120 2) (24 9}
Total equity 865 2 7721
Total capital 7450 747 2
{1) Restated on adoption of IFRIC 12 (see note 32)
27 Financal and capital commitments
2010 2009
£m £m
Commitments for equity and subordinated debt investments in PPP jointly controlled entities 108 0 752
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows
2010 2009
Property Other Property Gther
£m fm fm £m
Within one year 130 281 160 315
Between cne and five years 362 a2 8 408 528
Over five years 287 43 319 13
779 752 887 856

The Group leases properties and vehicles for operational purposes Property leases vary considerably in length up to @ maximum period of
99 years Vehicle leases typically run for a peniod of 3 5 years None of the leases includes contingent rentals

The total future minimum sub-lease payments expected to be received under non-cancellable sub-leases amount to £5 0 millian

(2009 £3 9 milhon) at the balance sheet date
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28 Related parties
The Group has related party relationships with its key management personnel and jomtly controlled entities

Transactions with key management personnel
The Group’s key management personnel are the Executive and Non-Executive Direciars as identified in the Remuneration report on page 47

In addition to their salaries, the Group also provides non-cash benefits to Executive Directors, and contnibutes to a post-employment defined
benefit plan or a defined contnibution plan on their behalf Executive Directors also participate 1n the Group’s share option programme

Non-Executive Directors receive a fee for their services to the Canllion plc Board

Full detalls of key management personnel compensation is given in the Remuneration report on pages 46 to 51

Other than disclosed in the Remuneration report, there were no other transactrons with key management personnel in either the current or
preceding year The IFRS 2 cost credited to administrative expenses relating to share optons of key management personnel amounted to

£1 2 million (2009 £2 0 milhion charge}

Transactions with jointly controlled entities

The table below summarises the principal receivable and payable balances, together with sales to the Group's jointly controlted entities, whic
in the normal course of busness and on commercal terms

h are

2010 2009
Sales Recervables Payables Sales Recervables Payables
fm im £m f£m £m £m
PPP jointly controlled entities

Aspire Defence Hold:ngs Ltd 20213 30 (10 0) 1914 19 {100)
The Hospital Company (Southmead) Ltd 156 0 24 - - - -
Vanmed Construction Company (Canada) 64 4 192 - 297 86 -
Inspiredspaces STAG Ltd 633 - - 406 51 -
Inspiredspaces Nottingham Ltd 58 7 - - 45 3 66 -
Holdfast Training Services Ltd 499 40 - 320 05 (4 5}
Inspiredspaces Tameside Ltd 416 01 - 79 02 -
Eastbury Park Holdings Ltd 351 03 - 451 21 -
Inspiredspaces Tameside (Projectco2) Lid 341 - - - - -
COE (CAMH) Limited Partnership (Canada) 319 88 - 79 08 -
Canllon Secure Solutions (Canada) 276 64 - - - -
The Healthcare Infrastructure Company of Canada (WQOHC) Inc 267 27 - 304 26 -
Inspiredspaces Durham (Projectcol) Ltd 263 41 - - - -
Chrwcenta (Hertfordshire) Lid 208 - - 139 - -
Inspiredspaces Tameside (Projectcot) Ltd 205 31 - 167 15 -
Inspiredspaces Rochdale Ltd 189 - - - - -
The Hospital Company (Portsmouth) Holdings Ltd 182 - - 348 o1 -
Inspiredspaces Wolverhampton (Projectcol) Ltd 13 15 - - - -
Inspiredspaces STAG (Projectco2) Lid 107 03 - - - -
Vanbrook Construction Company (Canada) 104 08 - 231 77 -
Inspiredspaces Rochdale (Projectcol) Ltd 104 18 - - - -
Inspiredspaces Durham Ltd 102 - - 141 A -
The Healthcare Infrastructure Company of Canada (ROH) Inc 70 07 - 61 08 -
Inspiredspaces Nottingham {Projectco1) Lid 60 34 - 226 33 -
LCED (Sault} Limited Partnership (Canada) 45 58 - 204 85 -
Education 4 Ayrshire (Holdings) Ltd 09 01 - 55 18 -
Integrated Accommadation Services Ltd 02 108 - 120 13 -
Other 217 58 - 399 34 (52)
989 6 851 (10 Q) 639 4 679 {197)

Other jointly controlled entities
CarilhonEnterprise Ltd 366 46 - 45 3 - (32
Modern Housing Solutions (Prime) Lid 66 - - 09 - -
Al Futtaim Canllion LLC 44 35 {(15) 39 30 07
Carnllion Richardson Worcester 30 01 - - - -
Al Futtaim Canllion {(Abu Dhaby) LLC 21 17 - - - -
Carilhon Richardson Partnership - 104 - - 143 &2)
Carnllion Richardson - - 117) - - (10 8)
Other 14 31 (2 3) 13 04 02
1,043 7 1085 (25 5) 690 8 856 (40 8)

Comparatwve figures for 2009 have been re-presented to inctude a number of Canadian PPP jointly controfled entities
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29 Disposals

Disposals in 2010

Following completton of legal and other due diigence procedures in 2010, the prowisional profit on disposal of Cariflion IT Services birited

and Enviros Group Limited 1n 2009 of £10 3 million was unchanged The following cash transactions occurred in relation to amounts provided in
2009 on the disposal of Canllion [T Services Limited and Enviros Group Limited, which are disclosed in the cash flow statement within disposal
of businesses

£m
Deferred constderation recewed 16
Transaction and other costs paid (63)
Net cash outflow @7}
Duning 2010, the Group disposed of its equity investment in a Public Private Partnership jointly controiled entity The disposal generated a cash
consideration of £31 3 million and a non-operating profit of £16 3 million
Duning 2010 the Group disposed of a further five per cent of its non-quoted equity interest in Aspire Defence Holdings Limited, a Public Private
Partnership project The disposal generated a cash consideration of £14 5 million and a non-aperating profit of £0 S milion
Disposals in 2009
On 30 June 2009, the Group disposed of the entire 1ssued share capital of Carilhon IT Services Limited for total cash consideration of
£36 0 millilon and on 30 October 2009 disposed of the entire 1ssued share capital of Enviros Group Limited for a total cash consideration
of £26 4 million
The disposals had the following effect on the Group s assets and habihities
Net assets at the date of disposal
Canlhon iT Enviros Group
Services Limited Limited Total
£m fm £fm
Properiy plant and equipment 4 8) (09 (57)
Intangible assets (22 (56) (78)
Inventories 03) - 03)
Deferred tax assets - 0 (10)
Trade and other receivables (21 3) (8 4) 297
Cash and cash equivalents ©5) (3} (18)
Trade and other payables 85 57 142
Deferred tax habiluies 06 16 22
Net identifiable habihues (20 G} (9) 299)
Total consideration 360 28 o 640
Transaction costs 77 (23) (10 0)
Other costs of disposat (6 8) (70) {13 8)
Profit on disposal 15 88 103
{1} Includes £1 6 millon of deferred consideration payable on agreement of completion accounts
Cash flows associated with disposals are incuded in the cash flow statement as follows
Canllion IT Enviros Group
Services Limited Limited Total
£m £m £m
Cash proceeds receved 360 264 624
Disposal costs paid 310 03 (34)
Cash and cash equivalents disposed ©5) (13) (18}
Net cash inflow on disposal 324 248 572

During 2008, the Group disposed of equity investments in four Public Private Partnership jointly controlled entities The disposals generated cash
consideration of £100 4 million (after deducting disposal costs of £0 3 milhon) and a non-operating loss of £3 8 million {restated ~ see note 32)
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30 Retirement benefit obligations
Carillion operates a number of pension schemes for eligible employees as disclosed below

Principal defined benefit schemes

Carnillion Staff and ‘B’ Pension Schemes

Both schemes are defined benefit schemes and were dased 10 new entrants on 1 April 2003 Existing members no longer accrue benefits for
future service with effect from S Apnl 2009 but instead are eligible to participate in the Cantlion 2009 Pension Plan which 15 a defined
coentribution scheme

An actuanal valuation of the Staff and ‘B’ schemes was undertaken by the Trustees’ independent actuaries as at 31 December 2008 using
the projected unit credit method The market value of the schemes' assets at that date were £507 0 milllon and £98 9 million respectively
which represented approximately 97 per cent and 76 per cent of the benefits that had accrued to members at that date on an ongoing basis
after allowing for future increases in salanes The next actuanal valuation of the schemes by the Trustees independent actuanes is due at

31 December 2011

Regular ongong contributions are no longer payable following the closure of the Staff and ‘B’ schemes to future accrual on 5 Apnl 2009
(2009 £2 4 milhon and £0 2 million respectively)

As part of the deficit recovery plan agreed with the Trustees of the Staff and ‘B’ schemes, payments were made to the schemes during 2010 of
£2 3 milion and £2 1 million respectively (2009 £2 6 million and £0 3 milion respectively) Recovery payments of £0 5 millkon and £2 1 mitlion
to the Staff and ‘B’ schemes respectively are scheduled to be made in 2011

The Pension Protection Fund (PPF} levy is payable in addition to the funding plan The PPF levtes for the year ended 31 March 2010 were £18
millien (2009 £1 0 million) for the Staff scheme and £27,000 (2009 £16,000) for the 'B’ scheme

Mowlem Staff Pension and Life Assurance Scheme
The Mowlem Staff Pension and Life Assurance Scheme was part of Mowlem, which was acquired on 23 February 2006

The majonity of employees who participate in the scheme are in defined benefit arrangements The defined benefit section of the Mowlem Staff
Pensicn and Life Assurance Scheme closed 10 new entranis on 1 January 2003 Existing members will no longer accrue benefits for future service
with effect from 5 Apnl 2009 but instead are ehgible to participate in the Carillion 2008 Pension Plan, which s a defined contnbution scheme

A defined coninbution section was opened for new employees from 1 April 2003 Existing final salary members could opt to continue on that
hasis from 1 Apnl 2003 if they agreed to pay a higher member contnbution or could pay the same rate and accrue benefits on a Career Average
Revalued Earmings {CARE} basis from that date

An actuanal valuation of the Mowlem Staff scheme was undertaken by the Trustees’ independent actuaries as at 31 December 2008 using the
attained age method The market value of the schemes assets at that date were £381 7 million representing approximately 73 per cent of the
benefits that had accrued to members at that date on an ongoing basis, after allowing for future increases in salaries The next actuanal valuauon
of the schemes by the Trustees’ independent actuanes 1s due at 31 December 2011

Regular ongoing contributions are no longer payable following the closure of the scheme to future accrual on 5 Apnl 2009 (2009 £1 7 mullian)

As part of the deficit recovery plan agreed with the Trustees, payments were made to the Mowlem Staff scheme in the year of £10 2 million
(2009 £5 9 million} Recovery payments of £10 1 million are scheduled to be paid in 2011

The Pension Protection Fund (PPF) levy is payable in addition to the funding plan The PPF levy for the year ended 31 March 2010 was £3 2 million
(2009 £1 6 million)

Canlbon Public Sector Pension Scheme
The scheme 15 a defined benefit scheme and rematns open 1o eligible employees iransfernng from the public sector as part of the commeraoal
obligatiens under PFI, PPP and Best Value contracts with public sector employers

An actuanal valuation of the scheme was undertaken by the Trustees’ independent actuaries as at 31 December 2007 using the attained age
method The market value of the schemes’ assets at that date was £905 3 million which represented approxmately 89 per cent of the benefits
that had accrued to members at that date on an ongoing basis, after allowing for future increases in salaries The next actuanal valuation of the
scheme by the Trustees independent actuanes is due at 31 December 2010

The regular ongoing employer contributions paid durmg the year were £3 4 milhon (2009 £3 3 million) The Group expects to pay regular
contrnbutions amounting to £3 4 million, representing 27 5 per cent of pensionable salaries, during 2011 If any employees are admitted into the
Scheme through PFI PPP or Best Value contracis dunng 2011 the level of contrnibutions will increase

As part of the deficit recovery plan agreed with the Trustees, payments of £2 5 rmilhon were made dunng 2010 (2009 £4 7 milion) Further
payments of £2 3 millicn: are scheduled to be paid in 2011

The Pension Protection Fund (PPF) levy 15 payable in addition to the above The PPF levy for the year ended 31 March 2010 was £0 5 mullion
(2009 £0 4 milion)
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30 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

Shared Cost Sections of the Railways Pension Scheme {(RPS)

Employees of GTRM and Centrac, and former employees of British Rail transferred to these businesses, have pension provisien via Shared Cost

Sections of the Ralways Pension Scheme Both the GTRM and Cenirac Sections are closed to new entrants Shared cost arrangements are such
that the employer and members share the cost of future service habiliies on a 60/40 split respectively and any surplus or deficit emerging over

time 1s dealt with on a similar basis

Independent actuanes appointed by the Rallways Pension Trustee Company Limited carned out a formal valuation of the Railways Pension
Scheme at 31 December 2007 using the projected umit credit method for GTRM and the attained age method for Centrac The market values of
the scheme assets of the GTRM Section and Centrac Section at 31 Decernber 2007 were £152 9 milion and £22 1 million respectively, which
represented approximately 99 per cent and 106 per cent of benefits that had accrued to members at that date on an ongeing basis, after taking
account of future increases in salaries, contributions payable and reserves The next actuanal valuation of the schemes by the Trustees’
tndependent actuaries 1s due at 31 December 2010

The regutar engoing contributions paid by the employer during the year were £1 4 milhon (2009 £1 6 million) The Group expects to pay regular
ongoing contributions in 2011 amounting to £1 5 million and £0 2 million, representing 21 5 and 19 6 per cent of pensionable salanes for the
GTRM and Centrac sections respectively

Deficit recovery plan payments of £0 6 million were made dunng 2010 (2009 £n#) As part of the defiat recovery plan agreed with Trustees a
payment of £0 & million 1s scheduled to be paid in 2011

The Penston Protection Fund (PPF) levy 1s payable in addition to the funding plan The PPF levy for the year ended 31 March 2010 for both
sections totalted £1 6 multon (2009 £0 6 million)

Alfred McAlpine Pension Plan

The Alfred McAlpine Pension Plan was part of Alfred McAlpine, which was acquired on 12 February 2008 The pension plan 15 a defined benefit
arrangement which was dosed to future service accrual on 31 July 2003 Duning 2009, 1t was agreed that the benefits for members will no longer
be hinked to final salary with effect from 31 December 2009

An actuanal valuation of the pension plan was undertaken by the Trustees’ independent actuanes as at 31 December 2008 using the projected
urut credit method The market value of the plan assets at that date were £233 4 millton, which represented approximately 65 per cent of the
benefits that had accrued to members at that date The next actuanal valuation of the schemes by the Trustees’ independent actuarnes is due at
31 December 2011

Regular angoing employer contributions are no longer payable following the closure of the scheme to future accrual (2009 £0 2 million)

As part of the deftcit recovery plan agreed with the Trustees payments were made 1n 2010 of £10 8 million (2009 £9 3 million) Recovery
payments of £8 5 million are scheduled to be paid in 2011

The Pensian Protection Fund (PPF) levy 1s payable in addition to the funding plan The PPF levy for the year ended 31 March 2010 was £0 7 million
(2009 £0 2 million)

Other defined benefit schemes

The PME 5taff Pension and Life Assurance Scheme

The PME Staff Pension and Life Assurance Schemne 1s a defined benefit scheme and 1s closed to new entrants Existing members will no longer
accrue benefits for future service with effect from 5 Apnl 2009 but instead are ehgible to participate in the Carilhon 2009 Pension Plan, which 1s
a defined contnbution scheme

The defiat in the scheme at 31 December 2010 1n accordance with 1AS 19, 15 £5 0 million (2009 £7 3 mullion)

An actuarnal valuation of the scheme was undertaken by the Trustee’s independent actuaries as at 31 December 2008 using the attamned age
method The market value of the scheme's assets at that date was £46 0 millon which represented approximately 78 per cent of the benefits
that had accrued to members at that date on an ongoing basis, after allowing for future increases in salanies The next actuanal valuation of the
schemes by the Trustees’ independent actuanes is due at 31 December 2011

Regular ongoing contributions are no longer payable following the closure of the scheme to future accrual on 5 Apnl 2009 (2009 £0 5 millon)

As part of the deticit recavery plan agreed with the Trustees, a payment of £1 3 mithon was made during 2010 Recovery payments of
£0 9 milhon have been schedulted to be pad in 2011

The Pension Frotection Fund (PPF} levy 15 payable in addition to the funding plan The PPF levy for the year ended 31 March 2010 was £0 1 million
(2009 £0 1 million)
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30. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

Canllion Canada Inc

The Canllion Group operates a defined benefit scheme for employees of Carilllion Canada Inc managed locally which was closed to future
accrual with effect from 31 December 2010 In addition certain executives have supplemental arrangements in place namely the Senicr Executive
Retirement Plan and the Post Retirement Benefit Plan The net deficit in total for these three schemes at 31 December 2010, calculated n
accordance with 1AS 19, 1s £6 8 million {2009 £4 2 million)

Contnbutions during the year were £mil (2009 £nil) in respect of the Canlion Canada Inc defined benefit scheme and £0 4 million {2009
£0 4 million) In respect of other post-retirement benefits for senior Canadian employees Contributions for 2011 are estimated to be £0 2 milion

Mowlem {1993) Pension Scheme
The Mowlemn (1993) Pension Schemne was part of Mowlem, which was acquired on 23 February 2006 The scheme 15 a defined benefit
arrangement

The deficit in the scheme at 31 December 2010 calculated in accordance with 1AS 1915 £4 1 million (2009 £8 8 million)

An actuanal valuation of the Mowlem (1993) scheme was undertaken by independent actuaries as at 31 December 2008 using the attained age
method The market value of the schemes’ assets at that date were £49 1 million, representing approximately 76 per cent of the benefits that had
accrued to members at that date on an ongoing basis, after allowing for future increases in salaries The next actuarial valuation of the scheme by
the Trustees' independent actuanes is due at 31 December 2011

The regular ongoing contributions paid during the year were £2 4 milhon {2009 £2 7 milhon} The Group expects to pay regular ongoing
contributions amcunting to £2 4 million, representing 27 7 per cent of pensionable salary to the Mowlem (1993} scheme during 2011

As part of the defiat recovery plan agreed with the Trustees, payments were made to the scheme during 2010 amounting to £3 9 million
(2009 £3 9 millon) Recovery payments of £3 6 millon are scheduled to be made in 2011

The Pension Protection Fund (PPF) levy 1s payable in addition to the funding plan The PPF levy for the year ended 37 March 2010 was £0 3 milhon
(2009 £0 6 milhon)

ESPS Scheme
The ESPS scheme was part of Alfred McAlpine, which was acquired on 12 February 2008 and 15 a defined benefit arrangement

The deficit in the scheme at 31 December 2010, calculated in accordance with 1AS 19 15 £15 4 mulion (2009 £18 4 milhon)

An actuanal valuation of the scheme was undertaken by the Trustees’ independent actuanies as at 31 March 2007 using the projected unit
credit method The market value of the plan assets at that date were £47 1 milion which represented approximately 76 per cent of the benefits
that had accrued to members at that date The next actuaral valuation of the scheme by the Trustees’ independent actuaries as at 31 March
2010 15 currently being undertaken

The regular ongoing employer contributions paid during the year were £0 4 milion (2009 £0 5 million) The Group expects to pay regular
ongoing contributions of £0 4 million in 2011, representing 25 6 per cent of pensionable salary

As part of the defiat recovery plan agreed with the Trustees, payments were made in the year of £11 mullion {2009 £1 0 milion) Recovery
payments of £1 5 million are scheduled to be made in 2011

The Pension Protection Fund (PPF} levy 1s payable in addition to the funding plan The PPF levy for the year ended 31 March 2010 was £0 4 milion
(2009 £0 3 milhion)

Bower Group Retirement Benefit Scheme

The Bower Group Retirement Benefit Scheme was part of Mowlemn, which was acquired on 23 February 2006 The scheme 1s a defined benefit
arrangement and 1s closed to future accrual

The deficit in the scheme at 31 December 2010 calculated in accordance with 1AS 19 1s £2 0 million (2009 £2 2 million)

An actuanal valuation of the scheme was undertaken by the Trustees’ independent actuanes as at 28 February 2007 using the projected unit
credit method The market value of the plan assets at that date were £7 4 million, which represented approximately 70 per cent of the benefits
that had accrued to members at that date An actuarial valuation of the scheme by the Trustees” independent actuaries as at 28 February 2010
15 currently being undertaken

As the scheme 1s closed to future accrual the Group does not make any regular ongoing coniributions to the scheme

There were £0 4 million of deficit recovery payments made during 2010 (2009 £nil} Recovery payments of £0 8 million are expected to be made
duning 2011

The Pension Protection Fund (PPF) levy 15 payable in addition to the funding plan The PPF levy for the year ended 31 March 2010 was £0 1 million
(2009 £01 milhion)
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30 Retirement benefit obligations {continued)

Alfred McAlpine (Ireland) Pension Plan and Inshenco Pension Plan

The Group has two small defined benefit pension schemes for the employees of operations in the Republic of Ireland, the Alfred McAlpine
(Ireland) Pension Plan and the Inshenco Pension Plan The deficit in the schemes in the Group balance sheet at 31 December 2010, calculated in
accordance with IAS 19,15 £ml (2009 £0 4 mdhon) and £0 5 million (2009 £0 5 million) for the Alfred McAlpine {treland) Pension Plan and the
irishenco Pension Plan respectively

Defined contribution schemes

The Group operates four principal UK defined contribution schemes, the Carilion 2009 Pension Plan, the Carillion Pension Plan, the PME Defined
Contribution Plan and the Carilhon Retirement Plan (closed to new entrants since 2001} In addition, the Group operates two Stakeholder Plans
(‘Stakeholder Plus' and the Aifred McAlpine 2003 Pension Plan)

The Canliron 2009 Pension Plan commenced on & Apnl 2009 for existing employee members of the Canllion Staff, Canllion ‘B' Mowlem Staff
and PME Staff Pension and Life Assurance Schemes which closed to future service accrual on 5 April 2009 Under the plan employees contribute
a minimum of 5 0 per cent and the employer a minimum of 10 O per cent of basic salanes Death n service lump sum benefits are provided

i addition  The employer meets the cost of administration and managing the Plan Employer contributions during the year were £12 8 million
(2009 £9 6 mullian)

The Carnlhon Pension Plan commenced on 1 Aprit 2003 The majonty of new employees across the Group are ehgible to join this Plan Employees
contribute a minimum of 5 0 per cent and the employer a mimmum of 7 0 per cent of basic salaries Up to 3 0 per cent of any additional
voluntary contributions paid by employees 1s matched by the employer resulting in a maximum employer contribution of 10 0 per cent of basic
salary The employer meets the cost of administration and managing the Plan equivalent to a further 2 0 per cent of basic pay Employer
contnbutions during the year were £4 2 million (2009 £4 1 million)

Dunng the year the defined contribution section of Mowlem Staff Scheme was closed to any further contributions Employer contrbutions during
the year were £nil (2009 £0 2 milhon)

Employees of Carilion Services Limited wha are not ehgible for the Carllion Pension Plan are invited to participate in the Canllion Stakeholder Plus
managed by BlackRock Pensions Limited Employees contribute 5 O per cent and the employer 6 5 per cent of basic salary Death in service lump
sum benedits are provided in addition Employer cantrtbutions during the year were £0 7 million {2009 £0 7 million)

The PME Defined Contribution Plan commenced in April 1999 All new PME employees are offered membership of the Plan Employees
contribute 4 0 per cent of basic pay and the employer pays 5 0 per cent of basic pay (inclusive of a 1 0 per cent allowance for insurance premiums
and audit fees) Employer contributions during the year were £0 6 million (2009 £0 7 mullion)

Emplayer contributions to the Canllion Retirement Plan duning the year were £47,847 (2009 £74,635)

Employees of businesses acquired on the purchase of Alfred McAlpine may be eligible to participate in the Alfred McAlpine 2683 Pension Plan
managed by Zurich Assurance Employees contribute between 3 O per cent and 9 O per cent depending upon job grade and the employer
contributes matching amounts Death in service lump sum benefits are provided in addition Employer contributions dunng the year were

£3 9 million (2009 £3 5 million)

Stakeholder pensions are also provided by B&CE Insurance and Scottish Widows where required by Working Rule Agreements and defined
contribution pensions provided where required by the Joint Industries Board Working Rules Agreements

Various companies within the Group participate in admission agreements with local authonties in order to allow former public sector employees
to continue membership of the Local Government Pension Scheme Contnibutions during the year, which have been accounted for on a defined
contribution basis were £0 6 million (2009 £0 5 million)

1AS 19 disclosures
The weighted average of the principal assumptions used by the independent qualified actuanes in providing the IAS 19 position were

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

UK Canada UK Canada

Rate of increase n salaries 4 40% 200% 4 40% 300%
Rate of increase in pensions* 340% 2 00% 340% 2 00%
Inflation rate (RPI} 340% 2 00% 3 40% 200%
Inflation rate (CPY) 280% N/A N/A Nia
Discount rate 5 40% 533% 5 80% 6 25%

Where schemes have adopted the 2 & per cent per aanum cap on increases 1o pensions in payment the assumption s 2 4 per cent per annum {2009 2 4 per cent p a) rather than the higher
amournt shown above

For the majonity of schemes, the inflation assumption for certain benefits 1s now based on the Consumer Price Index (CPI} rather than the Retail
Price Index (RPI) following the change announced by the UK Government in 2010

The market values of the schemes’ assets, which are not intended to be realised in the short term, may be subject to significant change before

they are realised The present values of the schemes' habilities are calcutated by reference to the investment return on Grade AA corporate bonds
The assumptions used do not necessarily represent the snvestment return that may be achieved
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30 Retirement benefit obhigations (continued)

For all schemes except the Railways Pension Scheme, the mortality assumptions adopted have been updated in 2010 and are SINA (YoB) mc tables
with a 1 per cent floor and scheme specific age ratings The Raitways Pension Scheme uses scheme specific assumptions based on industry

experience

The Iife expectancies at 65 for males aged 45 — 65 are shown below

Valuation at 31 December 2008

Non retired members (aged 45 years currently)

Retred members {(aged 65 years currently)

Carllion Staff

PAS2(YOB) MC + 2 years 21 3 years

PAS2(YOB) MC + 2 years 20 3 years

Mowlem Staff

PA92(YOB) MC 21 3 years

PAS2(YOB) MC 22 0 years

Carnliion 'B*

PA92(YOB) MC - 2 years 29 8 years

PA9Z({YOB} MC - 2 years 28 6 years

Alfred McAlpine Pension Plan

PA92(YOB) MC + Oyears 23 1 years

PAS2(YOB) MC + 2 years 20 3 years

PME Staff Pension and Life Assurance Scheme

PA92(YOB) MC 23 1 years

PAS2(YOB) MC 22 O years

Mowlem (1993)

PAS2(YOB) MC + 2 years 21 3 years

PA92(YOB) MC + 2 years 20 3 years

The previous bases at ihe iast valuation for the Carilion Staff Scheme, the Mowlem Staff scheme, the Canthon '8° the Mowlem (1993} Scheme,
and Alfred McAlpine Pension Plan was the 'PAS2(YOB=1965)mc + 2 years’ table for non retired member’s mortality and the PA92(YOB=1935)mc
+ 2 years’ for retred members’ This is still being adopted for the Carilion Public Sector scheme until the next valuation For the Planned
Maintenance Engineenng Scheme the previous base was PA92(YOB) MC for both retired and non retired members

The Canadian Actuary annually undertakes an actuaral vatuation and accounting exercse for reporting on local employee benefits under the
local GAAP, CICA 3461 The same assumptions have been used for local medical and dental inflation rates in relation to the Post Retirement
Benefit Plan The immediate trend rate 1s seven per cent per annum with an ultimate trend rate of three per cent per annum (2030} An increase
of one per cent In the valuation trend would increase llabihties by £0 8 million and the total service cost by £0 1 miflion A decrease of one per
cent in the valuation trend would reduce habilities by £0 & million and total service cost by £0 1 millon The overall expected rate of return on
assets 1s determined by reference to local long term interest rates, the yield on gilts or Treasury stock and the Actuary’s recommendation on the

allowance for the potential long-term extra return from investing in

equities

Canllion has adopted immediate recognition of any actuarnal gains or losses through the Statement of Comprehensive Income as permitted

under IAS 19

The 1AS 19 position for the schemes is as follows

Expected Alfred
rate of Carillion Mowlem Canlion  McAlpine Public Railways Other
raturn % Staff Staff 8 Pension Plan Sectar Pension Schemes Total
31 December 2010 UK Canada £m £m £m £m m £m £m £m
Equities 765 8 57 1871 264 4 264 1779 B26 174 108 6 964 4
Government bonds 390 410 146 3 155 326 520 201 184 427 3276
Corporate bonds 525 - 2288 160 9 436 638 277 56 46 6 5770
Other 050 220 29 61 15 29 02 18 42 196
Market value of scheme assets 5651 446 9 1041 296 6 1306 143 2 2021  1,B886
Present value of funded
scheme obligation (584 1) (546 9) {1236) (3433) (1347) (160 1) (2282) (2,1209)
Present value of unfunded
scheme oblgation - - - - - - 7 (z7)
Minimum funding requirement - - - - (9 4) - - (9 4)
Total deficit (190 (1000) (195) (467) (135) (16 9) {338) (249 49)
Related deferred tax assat 673
Net pension hability {182 1)
{3) All schemas are funged except for the Senior Executive Reurement Plan and the Post Retirement Benefit Plan held in Canada
Expected Alfred
rate of Carnillion Mowlem Canlicn  McAipine Pubhg Rallways Qthes
returm % Staff staff B Pension Plan Sector Pension Schemes Total
31 December 2009 UK Canada £m £m £m £m £m £m im £m
Equities 820 8 57 1832 2301 245 164 4 731 90 5 943 8601
Government bonds 435 520 1735 142 407 43 2 230 97 44 3 3486
Corpaorate bonds 550 - 1736 159 8 327 563 173 213 3B6 4996
Other 100 325 37 44 11 56 12 33 38 331
Market value of scheme assets 5340 408 5 990 2695 146 1348 1810 1,741 4
Present value of funded
scheme obligation (573 0} (497 3) (1119) (3378 (1227} (163 0) 2160y (20217
Present value of unfunded
scheme obhigation - - - - - - (6 8} (6 8)™
Minimum funding requirement - - - - 67) - - 67}
Total deficit (390} (88 8) (12 9) (68 3) {14 8) (28 2) 41 8) (293 8)
Related deferred tax asset 827
Net pension liability (VAN Y
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30, Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

Expense recagnised in the income statement

2010 2009
£m fm
(Charge)/credit to aperating profit
Current service cost relating to defined benefit schemes 70 81
Curtailments 04 33
Total 67 {4 8)
Credit/(charge) to other finance income
Expected return on pension scheme assets 1119 1018
Interest cost on penston scheme labilities {115 5) (104 0)
Net finance charge (36) (z2)
Total actuanal {losses)/gatns recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income
Effects of changes in assumptions underlying the present value of scheme habilities (612) (3192)
Difference between actual and expected return on scheme assets 758 859
Movement in minimum funding requirement 27 133
Total actuanal gains/{losses) recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income 19 (2200
2010 2009
£m £m
Changes in defined benefit obligation
Obhgation at 1 January (2,028 5) {1,683 6)
Current service cost {71) (81)
Interest cost {115 5) (104 0)
Contributions from scheme members (10) 27
Benefits paid 860 867
Curtalments 04 33
Actuarial losses (612) (319 2)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 7 09
Obligation at 31 December {2.128 6) (2,028 5)
2010 2009
fm fm
Changes in the fair value of scheme assets
Fair value at 1 January 17414 1,594 5
Expected return on scheme assets 119 1018
Contributions from the employer 432 425
Contributions from scheme members 10 27
Benefits paid (86 0) 86 7)
Actuanal gains 758 859
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 13 07
Fair value at 31 December 1,888 6 1,741 4
The amount included in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit schemes is as follows
2010 2009
£m £m
Present value of defined benefit chligation (2,128 6) {2,028 5)
Farr value of scheme assets 1.888 6 17414
Mimimum funding requirement 94) (67}
(249 ) (293 8}
Schemes in surplus (within non-current assets) 09 26
Schemes in deficit (within non-current habihities) (250 3) (296 4)
(249 4) (293 8)

The actual return on plan assets was £187 7 million (2009 £187 7 mitlion)
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30. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

History of expenence gains and losses

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
fm £m fm fm £m
Present value of the defined benefit cbligation (2,128 6) (2,028 5) (1,683 6) (1,591 3) {1,589 0y
Fair value of scheme assets 1,888 6 17414 1,594 5 1,5670 14761
Minimum funding reguirement (94) 67 (20 0) (21 6) {12 8)
Deficit {249 4) (293 8) (109 1) (459) (125 7)
Experience gains and losses on scheme obligation {(Em) (612) (3192) 309 2 472 128
Percentage of defined benefit obligation (%o} 29 (15 7) 184 30 08
Difference between expected and actual returns on scheme assets (£m} 758 359 416 &) (15 0) 218
Percentage of scheme assets (%) 40 49 (26 1) a0 15

The cumuiative amount of actuarial gains and losses recognised since 1 January 2004 n the Group statement of comprehensive income 15
£224 6 milien {2009 £236 5 million) The Group is unable to determine how much of the pension scheme deficit recognised on transition to
IFRS of £85 2 million and taken directly to total equity is attriputable to actuariat gains and losses since inception of the schemes Therefore
the Group 1s unable to determine the amount of actuanal gans and losses that would have been recognised in the Group statement of
comprehensive income before 1 January 2004

31 Accounting estimates and judgements
Management has discussed with the Audit Committee the development, selection and disclosure of the Group's cntical accounting pohicies and
estimates and the applicabion of these policies and estimates

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of esimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and labilittes within the next financial year, are discussed below

Construction contracts

In determining the revenue and costs to be recognised each year for work done on construction contracts estimates are made n relation to final
out-turn on each contract On major construction contracts 1t 1s assessed, based on past expenence that therr outcome cannot be estimated
reliably duning the early stages of the contract, but that costs incurred will be recoverable Once the gutcome can be estimated reliably the
estimates of final out-turn on each contract may include cost contingencies to take account of the specfic risks within each contract that have
been identified during the early stages of the contract The cost contingencies are reviewed on a regular basis throughout the contract hfe and
are adjusied where appropriate However, the nature of the risks on contracts are such that they often cannot be resclved until the end of the
project and therefore may not reverse until the end of the project Management continually reviews the estimated final out-turn on contracts and
makes adjustments where necessary

Intangible assets
In determining the fair value of identifiable assets habilities and contingent habilities of businesses acquired judgement i1s required In relation to
final out turn on construction contracts, discount rates and expected future cash flows and profitability

Determining whether intangible assets are impaired requires an estimation of the future cash flows expected (o anse from the cash-generating
unit to which the intangible assets are attached Note 11 provides details of the carrying value of intangible assets

Retirement benefits
In determining the valuation of defined benefit pension scheme assets and habilities, a number of key assumptions have been made The key
assumptions, which are given below are largely dependent on factors outside the control of the Group

» expected return on plan assets,
» Inflation rate,

> mortality,

> discount rate and

> salary and pension increases

Details of the assumptions used are included in note 30
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32 New accounting standards and interpretations

As described in note 1, IFRIC 12 clarifies the accounting for Public Private Partnership (PPP) projects which the Group participates in through
Jjointly controlled entities The overall impact of IFRIC 12 15 to change the timing of when profits are recognised in PPP projects but it does not
impact the total profit recogrised or cash flows during the lie of the PPP project This has resulted in a restatement of the Group’s share of the
results of jointly controlled entities and the non-operating profit anstng from the disposal of investments in jointly controlled entittes

The adoption of IFRIC 12 has had an impact on the Group’s share of movements in the fair value of interest rate swaps within PPP jomtly
controlled entities For a number of jontly controlted entities, the impact of tFRIC 12 on its carrying value in the Group’s balance sheet requires
the Group's share of fair value movements in interest rate swaps to be restricted to avoid the carrying value of the jointly controlled entities
concerned from becorming negative This adjustment has been reflected in the statement of comprehensive ncome

Upon the adoption of IFRIC 12 an 1 January 2010 the Group has restated pniar period information, which has had the following impact on

reported profit, earnings per share and net assets

‘Year ended
31 December
£m unless otherwise stated 2009
Income statement
Total revenue as previously reported 54265
Impact of adoption of IFRtC 12 2028
Total revenue as restated 5,629 3
Share of jointly controlled entities’ revenue as previously reported 922 3
Impact of adoption of IFRIC 12 2028
Share of jointly controlled entities’ revenue as restated 11251
Profit before tax as previously reported 1477
Impact of adoption of IFRIC 12 on share of jointly controlled entities
- operating profit (15)
- net financial expense (78)
- taxation 26
Impact of adoption of IFRIC 12 on underlying™ profit before tax 67
Impact of adoption of IFRIC 12 on non-operating items (51)
Prafit before tax as restated 1359
Earmngs per share as previously reported (pence} 334
Impact of IFRIC 12 as noted above (pence) 29
Earnings per share as restated (pence) 305
Diluted earnings per share as previously reported (pence) 332
Impact of IFRIC 12 as noted above (pence) (29)
Diluted earmings per share as restated (pence) 303
Statement of comprehensive iIncome
Share of recycled cash flow hedges within jointly controlled entrties as previously reported 99
Impact of adoptien of iFRIC 12 (16)
Share of recycled cash flow hedges within jointly controlled entities as restated 83
Share of change in fair value of effectve cash flow hedges within jointly controlled entrties as previously reported 8 3}
Impact of adoption of IFRIC 12 41
Share of change in farr value of effective cash flow hedges within jointly controlled entities as restated a2}

(1} As defined in note 8b
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32 New accounting standards and interpretations (continued)

Balance sheet

31 December 1 january

2009 2009

£m £m

Net assets as previously reported 7772 2676
Impact of adoption of IFRIC 12 on investments :n jointly controlled entities (75 42
Impact of adoption of IFRIC 12 on other investments 24 -
Net assets as restated 7721 8718

The adoption of IFRIC 12 reduced underlying® profit before tax from £182 2 milhion to £175 5 million and underlying" earnings per share from
39 0 pence to 37 3 pence at 31 December 2009

In the year ended 31 December 2010 the adoption of IFRIC 12 reduced the Group’s share of results of jointly controlled entities and therefore
underlying™ profit before tax from £192 3 million 1o £188 1 milkon and consequently underlying™ earnings per share reduced from 40 4 pence
to 39 4 pence

The adeption of IFRIC 12 also increased non-operating profit in the year ended 31 December 2010 by £6 1 million, therefore reported profit
before tax increased from £161 8 milhon to £167 9 million and consequently basic earnings per share increased from 36 4 pence to 36 9 pence
and diluted earnings per share increased from 36 2 pence to 36 7 pence In the statement of comprehensive income, IFRIC 12 reduced the loss
recognised on the Group’s share of the change In fair value of effective cash flow hedges within jointly controlled entities by £5 3 million The
adoption of IFRIC 12 increased net assets In the year ended 31 December 2010 by £7 2 million

{1) As defined in note 8b

33 Off-balance sheet arrangements
The Group I1s party to a number of contractual arrangements for the purposes of the Group's principal activities that are not required to be
included an the Group balance sheet The prinapal off-balance sheet arrangements that the Group are party to are as follows

> operating leases (see note 27)

> pledged assets securing finance lease habilities (see note 10}

> guarantees for deferred equity paymenis and performance of contracts for PPP customers (see note 25)

> capital commitments for capital expenditure and equity and subordinated debt in PPP controlled entities {see note 27)
> outsourcing contracts

In respect of outsourcing contracts, the Group has entered into vanous arrangements to outsource the provision of certain back-office functions
with a third party provider These arrangements are on commercial terms and any penalty or termination clauses associated with these
arrangements will not have matenal impact on the financial position of the Group

34 Post-balance sheet events
In February 2011, the Group extended (ts banking faclities by securing a syndicated faclity of £737 5 million which 1s repayable in March 2016
together with 2 364-day £15 0 million facihty

On 11 February 2G11, Carlhon plc reached agreement on the terms of a recommended acquisition of the entire issued, and 1o be 1ssued, share
capital of Eaga plc, a leading provider of energy efficiency solutions in the UK for a total consideration of £306 5 millon The acquisition 15
subject to approval by the shareholders of Eaga plc, change of control approval from the Financial Services Authonty and confirmation by the
Court, and 1s expected to become effective in April 2011
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35 Princaipal subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and jointly controlled operations

A list of significant investments 1n subsicharies, jointly controlled entities and jointly controlled operations including the name country of

incorporation and proportion of ownership interest 1s shown below

Except where shown, all subsidiary undertakings and jointly controlled entities are incorporated in Great Britain and operate in the UK
All holdings are of ardinary shares and except where shown, all subsidiary undertakings are 100% owned {with equivalent voting rights}
and jointly controlled entitres and jointly controlled operations are 50% owned Shares of those undertakings marked with an astensk are

directly owned by Carillion plc

Principal subsidiary undertakings
Carilion (Aspire Construction) Holdings No 2 Ltd
Canllion (Aspire Services) Holdings No 2 Ltd
Carlhon Canada Inc (Canada)

Canllion CR Lid

Canflion Construction Lid*

Canllion Fleet Management Ltd*

Canllion Highway Maintenance Ltd*
Carnllion Prwvate Finance Lid*

Canllion Services Ltg*

Monteray Lid 51%

Planned Maintenance Engineering Ltd
Postworth Ltd*

Sovereign Hospital Services Ltd

Carnlon (AMBS} Ltd

Prinaipal jointly controlled entities

Public Private Partnerships

Accommodation Services (Holdings} Ltd 20%

Arden Partnership {Derby) Holdings Ltd

Arden Partnership (Leicester} Holdings Ltd

Arden Partnership {Lincolnshire) Holdings Ltd

CSS (FSCC) Partnership (Canada)

Clinicenta (Hertfordshire) Ltd

COE (CAMH) Limited Partnership (Canada)

Eastbury Park (Ho!dings) Ltd

Education 4 Ayrshire (Holdings) Ltd 47 5%
Ellenbrook Holdings Ltd

Holdfast Traming Services Lid 26%

Inspiredspaces Durham (Holdings1) Lid 80%
Inspiredspaces 5TaG (Holdings1} Lid 40 4%
Inspiredspaces 5TaG (Holdings2) Ltd 76 4%
Inspiredspaces Nottingham (Holdings1) Lid 80%
Inspiredspaces Rochdale (Holdings1) Ltd 80%
Inspiredspaces Tameside (Holdings1) Ltd 80%
Inspiredspaces Wolverhampton {Holdings1) Ltd 80%
LCED (Sault) Limited Partnership 25% (Canada)
Road Management Services (A13) Holdings Ltd 25%
Sheppey Route (Holdings) Lid

$TaG PCT (Holdco) Ltd

The Healthcare Infrastructure Company of Canada (ROH) Inc (Canada)
The Healthcare Infrastructure Company of Canada (WOHC) Inc (Canada)
The Hospital Company (Scuthmead) Holdings Lid
UK Highways A55 (Holdings) Ltd

Yorkshire Transformations Holdings Ltd 33 3%

Others

CanlonEnterpnise Ltd 50 1%

Modern Hausing Solutions (Prnime) Ltd 67%
Al Futtaim Canllion LLC (UAE) 49%
Carillion Alaw LLC (Oman) 49%

Canlhen Richardson Partnership

Emsill Services LLC (UAEY* 33%

Servus Ltd (Tnmidad & Tobago)

Jointly controlled operations

Name, proportion of interest held and address of prinapal place of business

Canthon Telent Joint Venture 60%
Candhion-URS Joint Venture 70%

Canthon-WSP Joint Venture 60%

Nature of business

Military accommaodation at Aldershot and Salisbury Plain
Facilities management

Construction and infrastructure services

Holding company for property development
Construction and infrastructure management
Supply and maintenance of vehicles

Roads and ground mamtenance and repaw
Holding company far PPP project companies
Facilities management

Property and facilities management services
Building services and maintenance

Supply of operatives to the construction industry
Faclittes management in healthcare sector
Facilities management

Associated Project

GCHQ, Cheltenham

Mental health facities, Derbyshire

Mental health facilities Leicestershire

Mental health facilities, Lincolnshire

Forensic Services and Coroners’ Complex, Toronto
The Lister Surgicentre, Hertfordshire

Centre for Addiction & Mental Health, Toronto
Permanent Joint Headquarters, Northwood

South Ayrshire Scheols

University of Hertfordshire Student Accommodation
Royal School of Military Engineering, Chatham
Durham Schools

South Tyneside and Gateshead Schools (Jarrow)
South Tyneside and Gateshead Schaols (South Shields)
Nottingham Schools

Rochdale Schools

Tameside Schools

Waolverhampton Schools

Sault Area Hospital, Toronto

A13 Thames Gateway

A249 Kent

Cleadon Park Primary Care Centre

Royal Ottawa Hospital Ottawa

Witham Osler Hospital, Ontario

Southmead Hospital Bristol

AS5S5 North Wales

Swarchife Social Housing, Leeds

Nature of business

Ministry of Befence buldings
Ministry of Defence housing
Bunding and civil engineering
Building and civil engineering
Property Development
Facilities management
Facilities management

Hayward Road, Warwick, England

Pytchley Maintenance Compound, Pegasus Court, Kettering South
Busmess Park Kettering Northamptonshire, England

Bradford, West Yorkshire England

A complete Iist of Group subsidiary undertakings will be attached to the Company’s annual return to the Regsstrar of Companies
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Financial statements

Company balance sheet
As at 31 December 2010

2010 2009
Nate £m fm
Fixed assets
Investments in subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures 3 1,253 0 11462
Current assets
Debtors 4 6861 6027
Cash at bank and in hand e 49 2
6977 6519
Creditors amounts falling due within one year 5
Borrowing {10 8) (152 3)
Other creditors (7207 (516 9}
(731 5) (669 2}
Net current (habilities)/assets
Due within one year {33 9) (17 6}
Debtors due after more than one year 4 01 03
(33 8) (17 3)
Total assets less current habilities 1,219 2 11288
Creditors amounts falling due after more than one year
Borrowing 6 (191 0) (129 8}
Net assets 1,028 2 9991
Financed by
Capital and reserves
Issued share capital 7 1998 198 6
Share premium 8 212 168
Merger reserve 8 516 3 5163
Other reserve 8 20 52
Profit and loss account 8 288 9 2622
Equity shareholders’ funds 9 1,028 2 9991

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 2 March 2011 and were signed on 1ts behalf by

Richa dam FCA
Group Finance Director
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Notes to the Company financial statements

1 Significant accounting policies

The following accounting policies have been apphed consistently in
dealing with items which are considered matenal in relation to the
Company's financial statements

Basis of preparation

The financial statements are presented in pounds sterling They are
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for derivative financial
instruments which are stated at fair value, and 1n accordance with

apphcable UK accounting standards and law

Taxation

Deferred tax assets or labiities anse from timing differences between
the recogniticn of gains and losses in the financial statements and their
recognition In the tax computation that have ansen but not reversed
by the balance sheet date except as otherwise required by FRS 19
‘Deferred tax’ Liabilities are calculated on a non-discounted full
proviston basis Assets are calculated on the same basis, but are
recognised only to the extent that it 1s probable that they will be
recovered

Fixed asset investments

In the Company’s financial statements, investments in subsidary
undertakings and joint ventures are stated at cost, less provision
for any impairment

Leasing

The Company enters into finance lease arrangements an behalf of
subsichary companies As permitted by SSAP 21 Accounting for leases
and hire purchase contracts’, the assets relating to the finance leases
are included In the financial statements of the subsidianies concerned
The capital element of outstanding finance leases 1s induded within
borrowings The finance charge element of rentals 1s charged to the
profit and loss account at a constant penedic rate of charge on the
outstanding obligations

Own shares

Consideration paid for shares in the Company held by the Employee
Share Ownership Plan (ESOP} Trust are deducted from the profit and
loss account reserve Where such shares subsequently vest in the
employees under the terms of the Company’s share option schemes
or are sold, any consideration receved 1s included in the prefit and
loss account reserve

Foreign currencies

Transactions denommated in foreign currencies are translated into
sterkng and recorded using the exchange rate prevailling at the date of
the transaction Monetary assets and liabilittes denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into sterling at the exchange rates ruling at
the balance sheet date and the gains and losses on translation are
included in the profit and loss account

Financial instruments

The Company’s principal financial assets and habilties are cash at bank
and in hand and borrowings Cash at bank and in hand 15 carned in the
balance sheet at amortised cost Borrowings are recognised initialty

at far value less attributable transaction costs and subsequently at
amortised cost In addrion, the Company enters into forward contracts
in order to hedge against small and infrequent transactional foreign
currency exposures The forward contracts are measured initially at

far value with changes in fair value duning the year recognised in the
profit and loss account Fair values are based on quoted market prices
at the balance sheet date The Campany has taken the exemption
withun FRS 29 ‘Financal Instruments Disclosure’ and does not present
all the disclosures required by the standard Company specific
disclosures are included in the consolidated financial statements of
which the Company s the parent

Share-based payments

Members of the Group's senior management team are entitled to
participate in the Leadership Equity Award Plan (LEAP} In addiuon
UK employees are able to participate in the Sharesave scheme

The fair value of the LEAP and Sharesave schemes at the date of grant
are estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model For both schemes
the fair value determined at grant date is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the period in which any performance conditions are fulfilled,
ending on the date an which the relevant employees become fully
entitled to the award (vesting date}

Where the Company grants options aver i1ts own shares to the
employees of its subsidianies 1t recogrises, in its indwadual financial
staternents, an increase in the cost of investment in its subsicharies
equivalent to the equity-settled share-based payment charge
recognised in its consolidated financal statements with the
correspanding credit being recognised directly in equity Amounts
recharged to the subsichary are recognised as a reduction in the cost
of the investment in subsidiary If the amount recharged exceeds the
increase In the cost of investment the excess 15 recognised as a dividend
to the extent that it reflects post acquisition profits of the subsidiary

Financial guarantee contracts

Where the Company enters Into financial guarantee coniracts to
guarantee the indebtedness of subsidiary companies, the Company
considers these to be insurance arrangements and accounts for them
as such In this respect, the Company treats the guaraniee contract

as a contingent hability untl such time as 1t becomes probable that the
Company will be required to make a payment under the guarantee

Retirement benefit obhgations

Pension costs are recogrused In the financial statements in accordance
with the requirements of FRS 17 ‘Retirement benefits’ Employees of
the Company partiopate in the Canllion ‘Staff” and B’ schemes which
provide pensions on a defined benefit basis The assets and habilities of
these schemes relating to the Company cannot be readily ascertained
on a reasenable and consistent basis as the schemes are operated for
the benefit of the Carillion Group as a whole Consequently the
Company accounts for these schemes as if they were defined
contribution schemes Details of the Group's pension schemes are
disclosed In note 30 of the consolidated financial statements

Cash flow statement
A cash flow statement has not been presented as permitted by FRS 1
{revised) 'Cash flow statements’

2 Profit for the year and dividends

As permitted by the Companies Act 2006, the Company has elected
not to present its own profit and loss account for the year Canllion plc
reparted a profit for the financial year ended 31 December 2010 of
£83 6 million (2009 £167 5 million)

Fees paid to KPMG Audit Plc and its associates for non audit services
to the Company itself are not disclosed in the indwidual accounts

of Canllion plc because the Company’s consolidated accounts are
required to disclose such fees on a consolidated basis

A final dividend, declared in the previous year of 10 0 pence per
share was paid during the year, amounting to £39 9 milion
(2009 £35 2 million)

An intenm dividend of 4 8 pence per share was paid during the year,
amounting to £19 2 million (2009 £18 2 mullion)

A final dwvidend of 10 7 pence (2009 10 0 pence) per share,
amounting to £42 8 milion (2003 £39 7 million), was approved by
the Board on 2 March 2011 and, subject to approval by shareholders
at the Annual General Meeting, will be paid on 17 June 2011 to
shareholders on the register on 17 May 2011 The record date and
the payment date for the final dividend are subject to change due to
the timing of the effective completion of the proposed acquisition of
Eaga plc Any changes to the aforementioned dates will be notified to
shareholders via a regulatory announcement
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3 Investments

Subsidiary Jownt
undertakings ventures Total
£m £m £m

Cost
At 1 January 2010 1,156 6 02 1,156 8
Additions 100 - 1100
Share options 32 - (32
At 31 December 2010 1,263 4 02 1,263 6
Impairment losses
At 1 January 2010 106 - 106
Charge - - -
At 31 December 2010 106 - 106
Net book value
At 31 December 2010 1,252 8 02 1,253 0
At 31 December 2009 11460 02 1,146 2

Additions in the year of £110 0 million relates to additional shares in Canliion Construction Limited amounting to £50 O milion and additional
shares in Canilion JM Lirnited amounting to £60 0 million, both acquired at par The share option movement relates to a credi recogrised this

year for an overcharge in prior years for share options 1ssued to employees of subsidianes

The principal subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures of the Company are shown on page 99

4 Debtors
2010 2008
fm im
Amounts falling due within one year
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 6732 5976
Other debtors 03 07
Amounts owed by Joint ventures - a7
Income tax 125 24
Dervative finanoal instruments - 10
Amounts falling due within one year 686 0 602 4
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Amaounts owed by Group undertakings 01 03
Total debtors 686 1 8027
The amounts owed by Group undertakings falling due after more than one year of £0 1 million (2009 £0 3 million) relates 1o finance fease
transactians entered into with Carillion Fleet Management Limited Further details are disclosed in note &
5 Creditors amounts falling due within one year
2010 2009
£m £m
Bank overdrafts 28 1441
Bank loans 78 76
Net obligations due under finance leases 02 06
Borrowings 108 152 3
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 6991 482 4
Amounts owed 1o joint ventures 209 340
Other tax and social security costs 02 -
Derivative financial instruments 02 -
Accruals and deferred ncome 03 05
7315 669 2
6 Creditors amounts falling due after more than one year
2010 2009
fm £m
Bank loans 190 6 1295
Other loans 03 -
Net cbligations due under finance leases 01 03
1910 1298
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6 Creditors amounts falling due after more than one year {continued}

Net obfigations due under finance leases relate to financing agreements for fixed assets that are used by Canlhon Fleet Management Limited,
a wholly owned subsidiary The assets have been recognised in the accounts of the Canilion Fleet Management Limited 1n accordance with
'SSAP 21 Accounting for leases and hire purchase contracts’, together with corresponding habilities to the Company

The Company recognises these inter company debts within amounts cwed by Group undertakings in note 4 Inierest 1s charged on the above
bank loans at fleating rates inked to London Interbank Offered Rate

All bank loans and overdrafts are unsecured Net obligations due under finance leases are secured on the assets 10 which they relate

The matunity profile of all borrowtngs 1s disclosed in note 13 on page 105

7 Share capital
issued and fully paid

2010 2009
Number Number
mihon Em million £m
At 1 January 3973 198 6 3957 1978
New share capital 1ssued 24 12 16 08
At 31 December 3997 199 8 3973 1986
8 Reserves
Share Profit
premum Merger and loss Qther
account reserve account reserve Total
£m £ £m £m £m
At 1 January 2010 168 516 3 262 2 52 800 S
Profit for the year - - 886 - 886
New share capital subscribed 44 - - - 44
Acquisition of own shares - - (5 6) - (5 6)
Share options exercised by employees - - 37 - 37
Equity settled transactions {net of deferred tax) - - (09 (32) {41)
Dwvidend paid to sharehalders - - (591) - {(591)
At 31 December 2010 212 516 3 2889 20 828 4

The profit and loss account reserve includes the reserve for the Company’s own shares which comprises of the cost of the Campany’s shares held
by the Canillion Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) The shares held by the ESOP may subseguently be awarded to employees under the
Group’s share incentive schemes The movements in the reserve for own shares included within the profit and loss account reserve are as follows

2010 2009
£m Em
At 1 January (11) (13)
Share options exercised by employees (exercise price) 37 05
Proceeds from exercise of share options 23 -
Share options exercised (transfer 1o retamned earnings) 06 39
Acquisition of own shares (56) (4 2)
At 31 December (01) {11}

A1 31 December 2010, the ESCP held 38,302 (2009 362 909) of the Company’s shares and had a market value of £0 1 million (2009
£1 1 million) Dunng the year the Company acquired 2 3 mullion of its own shares for £5 6 milion to meet the plan’s future commitments
The ESOP has elected to waive all dwdends except for a total payment of 1 pence at the time each dwidend is paid

In addition to the ESOP, the Company has also established a Qualifying Employee Share Ownership Trust (QUEST?) During the year, 4,704
ordinary shares (2009 91,376) in the Company held by the QUEST were transferred to employees of the Group following the exerase of
options under the Sharesave Scheme

At 31 December 2010 the total number of shares held under the QUEST amounted to 129 979 (2009 134,683) and had a market value
of £0 5 million (2009 £0 4 millon) The QUEST has elected to waive alt dividends in excess of 0 01 pence per share
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9 Reconaliation of movement in shareholders’ funds

2010 2009

£m £m
Profit for the year 886 1675
New share capital issued 56 47
Equity settled transactions {net of deferred tax) {41) 34
Share options exercised by employees 37 05
Acquisition of own shares (56) (4 2)
Dwvidends paid to shareholders {59 1) (53 4)
Net addition to shareholders’ funds 291 1185
Shareholders' funds at 1 January 9991 8806
Shareholders’ funds at 31 December 1,028 2 9991
10 Other guarantees and contingent habilities

2010 2009

Em fm
Guarantees in respect of borrowings of subsidiaries 28 890
Guaraniees in respect of interest payments in Construction services (excluding the Middle East} jointly controlled entities 11
Guarantees in respect of letters of credit issued by banks in relation to deferred equity payments in PPP joint ventures 770 524
Guarantees in respect of letters of credit 1ssued by banks in relation 1o performance of contracts for PPP customers 66 6 300

The Company has 1ssued performance guarantees in respect of its subsidiaries, joint ventures and jont arrangements in the nermal course
of business

Guarantees and counter Indemnities have been given to finanaal iInstitutions in respect of the provision of performance and other contract
related bonds that are issued in the normal course of business

11 Pension arrangements

As the Cariltion Staff and 'B* defined benefit schemes are run for the Canilion Group asa whole the Company 1s unable to identify its share of
the schemes assets and habilities on a consistent and reasonable basis Hence, as permitted by FRS 17, the schemes are accounted for by the
Company separately as If the schemes were defined contribution schemes Details of the Group’s pension schemes are disclosed in note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements

12 Share-hased payments

The Group has established a share option programme that entitles key management personnel and senior employees to purchase shares in the
Company Details of the Group's share cption programme are disclosed in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements and in the
Remuneration report on page 49

13 Financial instruments
Detalls of the Company's principal financial instruments are discussed under accounting policies The numerical financial instrument disclosures
are set out below

Derivative financial instruments

2010 2009
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabitities
£m Em £m £m

Forward foreign currency contracts - 0 2) 10

Foreign currency exposure
The carrying amount of the Company’s borrowtng denominated in foreign currency s as follows

2010 2009

£m Em

United States of America Dollars (17 6) (15 6}
Canadian Dollars a7 (38 S}
United Arab Emirates Dirhams (79 (76}
Other (1) {0 5)
(68 3) (62 2)

Of the total foreign currency borrowing of £68 3 million (2009 £62 2 mullion) the amount of borrowing used for hedging currency net assets of
overseas operations of the Group amounts of £65 4 milhon (2009 £61 6 million} The foreign exchange loss of £3 8 million (2009 £1 0 million

gain) on translation of the borrowing into sterling has been recognised in the profit and loss account
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13 Finanaal instruments (continued)

Fair values
Where there are differences between the carrying and farr values of the Company’s prinapal financial instruments at 31 December 2010 these
are shown below

2010 3009
Carrying Carrying
value Falr value value Fair value
£m £m £m £m
Finance lease obligations (0 3) (0 3) (09 (0 8)
Maturity of financial habilities
The matunity profile of the carrying amount of the Company’s non-current borrowing 1s as follows
Bank Bank Finance Other
overdrafts loans leases loans Total
31 December 2010 £m £m tm £m £m
Between one and two years - 1921 01 a1 192 3
Between two and three years - - - 04 04
Between three and four years - - - - -
Between four and five years - - - - -
More than five years - - - _ -
More than one year - 1921 01 0s 1927
Less than one year 28 99 02 01 130
28 2020 03 06 2057
Bank Bank Fnance
overdrafts fpans leases Total
31 December 2009 £m £m £m £m
Between one and two years - 21 02 23
Between two and three years - 1307 01 1308
Between three and four years - 04 - 04
Between four and five years - - - -
More than five years - - - _
More than one year - 1332 03 1335
Less than one year 1441 99 06 154 6
1441 1431 a9 2881

Borrowsng faalities
The Company had the following undrawn commutted borrowing faciliies available at the year end in respect of which all conditions precedent
had been met

2010 2005
fm im

Expiring wathin gne year 72 74
Expinng between one and two years 449 3 -
Expiring between two and five years - 5110
456 5 5184

14 Related party transactions
In accordance with Finanaial Reporting Standard B 'Related party transactions’ the Company has taken the exemption to not disclose transactions
with other subsidiartes within the Canlhion Group

15 Post balance sheet events
In February 2011, the Group re-financed its banking faclities, which comprise a2 £737 5 million five-year facility maturing in March 2016 and a
£15 0 milhon 364-day faality

On 11 February 2011 Canllion plc reached agreement on the terms of a recommended acquisition of the entire 1ssued, and to be 1ssued share
capital of Eaga plc, a leading provider of energy efficiency solutions in the UK, for a total consideration of £306 S million The acquisition 15
subject to approval by the shareholders of Eaga plc, change of control approval from the Finanaal Services Authority and confirmation by the
Court, and 1s expected to become effective in Apnl 2011
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Shareholder information

Dividends

Diadends are normaily paid twice a year The proposed final dvidend
in respect of the year to 31 December 2010 will be payable on

17 June 2011 to those shareholders on the reqister on 17 May 2011

The record date and the payment date for the final dividend are
subject to change due to the timing of the effective completion of the
proposed acquisition of Eaga plc Any change 1o the above mentioned
dates will be notified to shareholders wia a requlatory announcement

A dividend reinvestment plan (DRIP) will also be offered

For those shareholders who prefer not to participate in the DRIP,
arrangements can be made to pay your dividends automatically into
your bank or bullding society account This service has a number

of benefits

> there 15 no chance of the dividend cheque go:ng missing In the post

> the diidend payment is received more quickly as the cash 1s pad
directly into your account on the payment date without the need
to want for the cheque 1o clear, and

> you will help Canllion to improve its efficiency by reducing printing
and cheque cleanng costs

If you wish to register for this service please cail Equiniti on the
number detailed below to request a dwidend mandate form

Results
Half year to 30 June 2011 announced August 2011
Full year to 31 December 2011 announced March 2012

Shareholder Enquines

Equiniti maintain the share register of the Company If you have
any queries concerning your shareholding or if any of your details
change, please contact Equini

Equiniti
Aspect House
Lancing

West Sussex
BN99 6DA

Telephone 0871 384 2522~
Textphone for shareholders with hearing difficulties 0871 384 2255
Non-UK callers should dial +44(0) 121 415 7047

Lines are open B 30am to 5 30pm, Monday to Friday

* Calls to ttus number cost eight pence per minute from a BT landline
other providers costs may vary
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Share Dealing Service

Carlhon offers its UK shareholders Sharewiew Dealing, a telephone
and internet share dealing service operated by Equiniti For telephone
purchases and sales call 0845 603 7037 between 8 30am and 4 30pm
Monday to Friday or log on to www shareview co uk/dealing For the
sale of shares you will need your shareholder reference number as
shown on your share certificate

Multipte Accounts on the Shareholder Register

If you have received two or more sets of the documents concerning
the Annual General Meeting this means that there 1s more than
one account in your name on the shareholder register, perhaps
because either your name or your address appear on each account
in a shightly different way For secunty reasons, Equinits will not
amalgamate the accounts without your wnitten consent, so if you
would like any multiple accounts combined into one account
please write to Equiniti at the address given on page 107

Shareview (Electronic Communications)

www shareview co uk 15 a service offered by Equimiti that enables
you to check your holdings in many UK companies and helps you 1o
arganise your invesiments electronically You can also noufy Equiniti
of a change of address or a change to dividend mandate instructions
You can register for this portfolio service which 1s easy to use secure
and free as Iong as you have access to the internet by logging on to
www shareview co uk and fellowing a simple registration process

Electronic Proxy Appeintments

For the AGM 10 be held on 4 May 2011, you may, if you wish register
the appoiniment of a proxy electronically by logging on to the website
www sharevote co uk

You will need your voting reference numbers {the three 8-digit
numbers shown on your form of proxy) Alternatively f you have
registered for a Shareview portfolio, log on to your portfolio at
www shareview co uk and click on the ink ‘vote’ under your
Canlthon plc detais, then foltow the on-screen directions

Please note that any electronic communication that 1s found to
contan a computer virus will not be accepted

ShareGift

ShareGift Is a chanty share donation scheme for shareholders
admirustered by the Orr Mackintosh Foundation It1s especially for
those who may wish te dispose of a small parcel of shares whose
value makes it uneconomic 10 sell an a commission basis Further
information can be obtained at www sharegift org or from Equiniti
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Financial statements

Five Year Review

2010 2009w 2008 2007 2006
Group Income statement fm im £m £m £m
Total revenue 51390 56293 5,457 2 4,162 9 37813
Analysed between
Support services 2,7086 23895 2,463 5 1,793 6 14587
Public Private Partnership projects 3119 418 4 4298 365 3 4169
Middle East construction services 4930 5536 464 2 3370 2687
Construction services (excluding the Middle East) 2,2255 22678 20997 1,6670 1,6370
Underlying Group and Joint Ventures operating profit before

intangible amortisation, impairment of goodwill and other

imvestments, non-recurring operating tems and jointly controlled

entities net finanoal expense and taxation 2135 2158 194 9 1208 1086
Analysed between
Support services 1104 177 1135 739 58 8
Public Private Partnership projects 234 307 306 261 377
Middle East construction services 4715 470 345 254 139
Construction services (excluding the Middle East) 412 309 287 16 ¢ 185
Group eliminations and unallocated 1items {9 0) (10 5) (12 4) (20 6) (20 3)
Share of jointly controlled entities net financial expense (139) (21 8) (147) (12 0} {157)
Share of jointly controlled entities taxation 47) 29 (119) 8 6) 91)
Underlying operating profit before intangible amortisation,

impairment of goodwill and other investments, non-recurring

operating items and non-operating items 194 9 1901 168 3 1002 838
Group net financial (expense)/income {6 B) (14 &) 77N 06 13
Underlying profit before tax 1881 1755 1606 1008 851
Intangible amertisation and impairment of goodwill and other investments {276) (30 8) (54 5) (215) 172)
Non-recurnng operating items (9 4) (15 2} (227) (14 2) (22 6)
Non-operating items 168 64 349 283 312
Profit before taxation 1679 1359 nas 934 76 5
Taxation (151 (11 5 @n @3 (72)
Profit from continuing operations 1528 124 4 114 2 851 693
Discontinued operations - - - (7 6) (0 5)
Analysed between
Trading foss from discontinued operatians - - - (14) (0 5)
Loss an disposal of discontinued operations - - - 6 2) -
Profit for the year 1528 124 4 14 2 775 688
Group financial statistics
Underlying operating profit margin
Support services Percentage 52 49 46 a1 40
Middle East construction services Percentage 96 85 74 75 52
Construction services (excluding the Middle East) Percentage 19 14 14 10 1M
Underlying operating profit margin
Total Group before share of jointly controlled entrties’

net financial (expense)/income and taxation Percentage 42 38 36 29 29
Underlying profit from operations margin
Total Group Percentage 38 34 ER| 24 22
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Five Year Review

continued

2010 2009 2008" 2007 2006
Group balance sheet £m £m £m £m £m
Property, plant and equipment 157 2 168 2 1672 1315 146 6
Intangible assets 1,2212 1,241 3 1,2769 5558 5961
Investments 1767 1720 2428 1888 182 3
1,5551 15815 16869 876 1 9250
Inventones, recewables and payables (613 8) (608 0) (490 4) (286 5) (282 0)
Net retirement benefit hability {net of deferred tax) (182 1) (211 1) (76 2) {29 4) (84 B)
Other net habihties (14 2) {15 2) (21 8) (25 1) {22 Q)
Net operating assets 7450 747 2 1,098 5 5351 536 2
Net cash/Aborrowing) 120 2 249 (226 7) (44 9) (108 0)
Net assets 865 2 7721 8718 490 2 428 2
Group cash flow statement
Underlying Group operating prafit 1489 1309 1201 64 4 497
Depreciation and other non-¢ash items 320 388 192 159 185
Working capital 12 599 340 317 15 2
Dividends received from joint ventures 481 386 250 237 157
Underlytng cash flow from operations 230 2 268 2 1983 1357 991
Deficit pension contributions (352) {29 0) {50 5) (46 3) (318
Rationalisation costs {15 6) (71) (32 4) 65) (18 2)
Interest, tax and dnidends {65 9) (63 2) (62 2) (30 4} (25 7)
Net capital expenditure (15 3) (47 3) (26 4) 44 (28 2)
Acquisitions and disposals 27 1427 (2270} 96 (150 9)
Other (including discontinued operations) {5 6) (v r) 184 (34 =31
Change in net liguidity 95 3 2516 (181 8) 631 (198 8)
Net cashAborrowing} at 1 January 249 (226 7) (44 9) (108 Q) a0 8
Net cash/{borrowing) at 31 December 1202 249 {226 7) {44 9) (108 O)
Group financial statistics
Earnings per share
Underlying earnings per share — continuing operations Pence 394 373 351 285 246
Underlying earnings per share — continuing and
discontinued operations Pence 394 373 351 258 244
Basic earnings per share - continuing and
discontinued operations Pence 369 305 280 267 247
Dividends
Proposed full year dividend per share Pence 155 146 130 no 90
Underlying proposed dividend cover - continuing
operations Times 25 26 27 26 27
Basic proposed dividend cover - continuing and
discontinued aperations Times 24 21 22 24 27

(1) Prior year information has been restated where relevant following the adoptian of International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 12 Service concession arrangements

on 1 January 2010
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